

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

Student Works

12-2017

# Role of Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) in Late Stage Atherosclerosis

Makenzie Fulmer East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Biochemistry Commons</u>, <u>Cardiovascular Diseases Commons</u>, and the <u>Molecular</u> <u>Biology Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Fulmer, Makenzie, "Role of Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) in Late Stage Atherosclerosis" (2017). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 3328. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/3328

This Dissertation - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

Role of Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) in Late Stage Atherosclerosis

A dissertation presented to the faculty of the Department of Biomedical Sciences East Tennessee State University

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedical Sciences Biochemistry & Molecular Biology Concentration

> by Makenzie Leigh Fulmer December 2017

Douglas P. Thewke, Ph.D., chair Eric Beaumont, Ph.D. Antonio Rusiñol, Ph.D. Robert Schoborg, Ph.D. Krishna Singh, Ph.D.

Keywords: atherosclerosis, cannabinoid receptor type 2, calcification, macrophage

### ABSTRACT

#### Role of Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) in Late Stage Atherosclerosis

by

### Makenzie L. Fulmer

Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory disorder of medium and large vessels. Immune signaling and dyslipidemia are two of several processes which influence lesion development in atherosclerosis. Cannabinoids, such as those found in marijuana, exert their effects through two cannabinoid receptors, CB1 and CB2. Recent studies using CB2 knockout mice and CB2selective ligands have shed light on a protective role of CB2 in early stages of atherosclerosis. However, the role of CB2 in advanced stages of atherosclerosis remains unclear. To determine if CB2 plays a role in advanced atherosclerotic lesion composition and progression, we investigated the effects of systemic CB2 gene deletion on advanced atherogenesis in Ldlr-null mice fed an atherogenic high fat diet (HFD) for 20-24 weeks. CB2 deficiency did not significantly affect aortic root lesion area, however, CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice had a significant increase (~1.9 fold) in the percentage of abdominal aorta surface occupied by lesion. CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice also displayed increased lesional macrophage content (~2.3 fold) and an unstable phenotype characterized by significantly reduced smooth muscle cell/macrophage ratio and increased matrix metalloproteinase-9 activity and mineralization. These results suggest that although CB2 does not affect the size of atherosclerotic lesions, it does modulate the cellular and extracellular matrix composition and promotes a stable phenotype. CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were also subjected to treatments with either CB2-selective agonist, JWH-015, or antagonist, SR144528, over the last four weeks of a 24 week atherogenic diet to identify the effects of CB2 stimulation on

calcification of advanced lesions. No change was observed in body weight or cholesterol in response to either treatment. SR144528 reduced triglycerides and mineralization of aortic root lesions in CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice only. Aortic Runx2 and osteopontin were increased in response to JWH-015 by a CB2-dependent mechanism. Administration of synthetic cannabinoids in an *ex vivo* organ culture of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> aortas revealed increased vascular calcification in response to CB2 blockade and decreased vascular calcification in response to CB2 activation. All together, these results support a protective role for CB2 in late stages of atherosclerosis and suggests that drugs targeting CB2 may be beneficial in the treatment of advanced atherosclerosis by affecting osteogenic mechanisms implicated in the mineralization of lesions.

### DEDICATION

This manuscript is being dedicated to the following:

My mother, Kimberly Fulmer, who has never stopped believing in me. I would not be where I am today without your love, guidance, and support, and I hope I can one day be half the person you are. Thank you for selflessly putting my wants and desires before your own as you raised me all by yourself.

My grandfather, Donald Beltz, who taught me how to fish and create things with my hands; who taught me to love people well and with purpose; who showed me the importance of putting hot sauce on every food item; and the person on this Earth whom I cherish the most.

My goldendoodle, Howard, who gave me the best pet therapy I could have asked for during graduate school. There is no love purer than the love a dog has for their owner, and the comforting simplicity of this love helped me get through the parts of graduate school that were anything but simple. The licks and snuggles were nice, too.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my Ph.D. adviser, Dr. Douglas Thewke, for his unwavering support and guidance throughout the entirety of my graduate education. The past 4 years have been the most challenging yet rewarding years of my life to date, and I would not have excelled without you. Thanks for being the best mentor that I could have ever asked for and preparing me for the future, and thanks for making me feel like I had a family away from home.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Rusiñol, Dr. Schoborg, Dr. Singh, and Dr. Beaumont for their advice and guidance along the way.

Thank you to Ms. Emilee Engelhaupt, not only for help with data collection but also love and friendship; to Mr. Ben Hilton, who set a great example for me and walked me through different parts of graduate school and life in general- I appreciate this more than you'll ever know; to Mr. Ryan Smith, who supported me and loved me relentlessly through it all; and to my family, who has always been there for me.

Thank you to the faculty, staff, and students of Quillen College of Medicine for the memories and guidance.

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health grant No. HL113878-01A1 awarded to Dr. Thewke and in part by C06RR030651-01 awarded to Dr. Gregory Ordway.

Page
ABSTRACT
DEDICATION
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
ABBREVIATIONS 10
LIST OF FIGURES
Chapter
1. INTRODUCTION
Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis
The Immune System in Atherosclerosis
Atherosclerotic Plaque Instability27
Matrix Metalloproteinases (MMPs)27
Calcification
Mouse Models of Atherosclerosis
The Endocannabinoid System
Cannabinoid receptors
Endocannabinoids
Metabolism of Endocannabinoids
CB2-deficient mouse models
ECS and Atherosclerosis
Specific Aims

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

### 2. CANNABINOID RECEPTOR TYPE 2 (CB2) DEFICIENCY ALTERS LESION

## CELLULARITY OF ADVANCED ATHEROSCLEROTIC PLAQUES IN

HYPERLIPIDEMIC LDLR-NULL MICE	53
Abstract	54
Introduction	56
Materials and Methods	60
Animals and diet-induced atherosclerosis protocol	60
Analysis of atherosclerosis	60
Physiological parameters	61
Histological and immunohistochemical staining	61
Zymography	62
LC-MS/MS measurement of aortic endocannabinoid levels	62
Statistical Analysis	63
Results	64
CB2 deficiency affects the extent of lesion formation in the distal aorta	64
CB2 deficiency slightly elevates aortic 2-AG levels with no effect on AEA	66
CB2 deficiency increases macrophage accumulation in atherosclerotic lesions	69
CB2 deficiency alters the ECM of atherosclerotic lesions	71
Discussion	73
References	79
3. CANNABINOID RECEPTOR TYPE 2 (CB2) DEFICIENCY INCREASES	
CALCIFICATION OF ATHEROSCLEROTIC LESIONS IN HYPERLIPIDEMIC LDLR-	
NULL MICE	84

Abstract	35
Introduction	37
Materials and Methods	<del>)</del> 0
Animals and diet-induced atherosclerosis protocol	<del>)</del> 0
Histological and immunofluorescent staining	<del>)</del> 0
Immunoblotting	€
Semiquantitative Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)	<del>)</del> 2
Results	<del>)</del> 5
CB2 gene deletion increases atherosclerotic plaque calcification	<del>)</del> 5
CB2 deletion reduces osteoclast activity in advanced atherosclerotic lesions	<del>)</del> 6
CB2 gene deletion alters aortic levels of key osteogenic proteins, Runx2, OPN and OCN.	<del>)</del> 9
CB2 gene deletion alters osteoblast gene expression 10	)0
Discussion	)3
References10	)7
Supplemental Figures1	11
4. EFFECTS OF EXOGENOUS CB2 LIGANDS ON CALCIFICATION OF ADVANCED	
ATHEROSCLEROTIC PLAQUES IN LDLR-NULL MICE	12
Abstract	13
Introduction11	15
Materials and Methods11	18
Animal atherosclerosis and pharmacological administration protocol1	18
Physiological Parameters11	18
Analysis of Atherosclerosis1	19

Histological Staining119
Immunoblotting119
<i>Ex vivo</i> organ culture
Statistical Analysis121
Results
SR144528 decrease plasma triglyceride levels in Ldlr-null mice 122
SR144528 treatment reduces calcium deposition in atherosclerotic plaques
Administration of exogenous ligands alters aortic Runx2 and OPN protein levels in
Ldlr-null mice
Administration of exogenous ligands alters vascular calcification in ex vivo cultured
aortas
Discussion
References134
Supplemental Figures and Tables
5. CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES
VITA

### ABBREVIATIONS

2-AG	2-arachidonoyl glycerol
AA	arachidonic acid
AEA	anandamide
АроЕ	apolipoprotein E
ALP	alkaline phosphatase
CB1	cannabinoid receptor 1
CB2	cannabinoid receptor 2
CE	cholesteryl ester
CVD	cardiovascular disease
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
ECM	extracellular matrix
ECS	endocannabinoid system
FAAH	fatty acid amide hydrolase
FBS	fetal bovine serum
HDL	high density lipoprotein
HFD	high fat diet
ICAM-1	intracellular adhesion molecule-1
IFN	interferon
IL	interleukin
LDL	low density lipoprotein
Ldlr	low density lipoprotein receptor
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
OBT	osteoblastic transdifferentiation
OCN	osteocalcin
OxLDL	oxidized low density lipoprotein
OPG	osteoprotegerin
OPN	osteopontin
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PRR	pattern recognition receptor
RANKL	receptor activator of nuclear k-B ligand
ROS	reactive oxygen species
Runx2	runt-related transcription factor 2
SMC	smooth muscle cell
THC	(-)delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol
TLR	toll-like receptor
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
VCAM-1	vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
VSMC	vascular smooth muscle cell

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1.1	Cross-sectional diagram of artery layers	14
1.2	Stages of atherosclerotic progression	17
1.3	Vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) osteoblastic transdifferentiation (OBT)	33
1.4	The Endocannabinoid System (ECS)	37
1.5	Metabolism of 2-AG and AEA	43
2.1	CB2 deficiency increases weight in Ldlr-null mice after 20 weeks of atherogenic	
	diet	65
2.2	CB2 deficiency does not affect extent of atherosclerosis development in the aortic	
	root but does affect plaque development in the abdominal aorta of Ldlr-null mice	
	after 20 weeks of HFD	66
2.3	CB2 deficiency increases aortic 2-AG levels in Ldlr-null mice	68
2.4	Cellular composition of atherosclerotic lesions in $CB2^{+/+}$ and $CB2^{-/-}$ mice fed an	
	atherogenic diet for 20 weeks	70
2.5	Collagen content and MMP9 activity in advanced atherosclerotic lesions in $CB2^{+/+}$	
	and CB2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice	72
3.1	CB2 gene deletion increases calcium deposition in atherosclerotic lesions of	
	Ldlr-null mice	96
3.2	CB2 deficiency reduces TRAP activity within atherosclerotic lesions of Ldlr-null	
	mice	98
3.3	CB2 deficiency alters protein expression of osteogenic regulatory proteins in	
	Ldlr-null mice	100

3.4	CB2 deficiency alters the relative levels of mRNA for osteogenic genes in	
	Ldlr-null mice	102
4.1	SR144528 reduces triglyceride levels in Ldlr-null mice by a CB2-dependent	
	mechanism	123
4.2	CB2 antagonism reduces atherosclerotic calcification in Ldlr-null mice	124
4.3	Administration of a CB2 agonist and antagonist does not affect TRAP activity	
	in Ldlr-null mice	125
4.4	Upregulation of Runx2 levels in calcified aortas of Ldlr-null mice treated with	
	JWH-015	127
4.5	CB2 agonist and antagonist differentially affect calcification of aortas ex vivo	129
5.1	Summary of dissertation research findings	148

# Supplemental Figures

2.6	Effects of CB2 gene deletion of aortic FAAH levels in Ldlr-null mice	83
3.5	CB2 deficiency does not affect ALP activity within atherosclerotic lesions of	
	Ldlr-null mice	111
4.6	Chemical structures of CB2 agonists and antagonist used in this study	138
4.7	Dose-dependent response of WIN55,212-2 on OPN and Runx2 in aortic arch	
	lysates	139
4.8	Upregulation of OPN levels in calcified aortas of Ldlr-null mice treated with	
	JWH-015	140

### CHAPTER 1

### INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of death in the U.S., and has accounted for more deaths than any other cause of death in the U.S. every year since 1919 (Benjamin et al. 2017). With advancements in medicine, deaths caused by CVD declined 28.8% from 2003 to 2013, but despite this, CVD still accounts for 30.8% of all reported deaths in America; over 2200 Americans die from CVD daily, averaging one death every 40 seconds (Mozaffarian et al. 2016). The most prevalent form of CVD is coronary heart disease (CHD), which alone causes 1 out of 7 deaths in the US. Approximately every 34 seconds, an American suffers from a coronary event, with a death occurring every 1 minute and 24 seconds (Mozaffarian et al. 2016). The underlying cause of CHD is atherosclerosis, a chronic inflammatory disease characterized by the formation of cholesterol-rich plaques within the vessel wall of large- and medium-sized arteries. Atherosclerosis have been identified, such as dyslipidemia, obesity, high-fat diet, diabetes, smoking, and hypertension (C.K. Glass and Witztum 2001).

The wall of arteries is comprised of three distinct layers, shown in Figure 1.1. The intima is the innermost layer and consists mostly of endothelial and smooth muscle cells (SMCs) with macrophages present in irregular intervals. At the most luminal portion of the intima is a single layer of endothelial cells, and the outermost portion consists of an elastic lamina (EL) that helps to provide a connection between the intima and the middle layer. This middle layer, called the media, consists of concentric sheets of SMCs that function in constriction and dilation of the vessel and collagen, which also serves as a means to connect with the intima. A second EL is

found at the outermost portion of the media and connects the media with the adventitia, the final outer layer of the vessel that connects the vessel to surrounding tissue. The adventitia is mostly made of connective tissue with unsystematically arranged collagen and elastin fibers.



Figure 1.1 Cross-sectional diagram of artery layers. The vessel wall is composed of three distinct layers known as the intima, media, and adventitia. Two elastic laminas serve to separate the media from the inner and outer layers. A layer of endothelial cells separates the intima from the lumen, which is where oxygenated blood flows.

Atherosclerotic plaques form in the intimal layer of arteries over several decades. These plaques are generally divided in to three successive stages based on their morphological and stabilizing characteristics: fatty streak, intermediate fibrous lesion, and advanced lesion (Figure 1.2). Fatty streaks (Figure 1.2b) are the first sign of atherogenesis that can be visualized macroscopically on the intimal surface with the unaided eye and are present in the aorta of 99% of children aged 2 to 15 years (Stary et al. 1994). This early, asymptomatic stage is characterized by an influx of monocytes and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) particles that eventually give rise to adjacent, stratified layers of macrophage-derived foam cells, creating a yellow streaking

appearance on the intimal surface. Foam cells, considered the hallmark of atherosclerosis, are retained in plaques and eventually contribute to disease progression by promoting insufficient lipid metabolism and further compromising fundamental immune functions (Hansson and Hermansson 2011). Lipids, which are mainly in the form of cholesteryl esters (CE) (Katz et al. 1976), are also contained within intimal SMCs at this stage but to a lesser degree than in macrophages. Thinly dispersed lipid droplets are also found in the extracellular space in small quantities, however most of the lipid seen during the fatty streak stage is within cells (Stary et al. 1994).

Fatty streaks can progress into intermediate fibrous lesions (Figure 1.2c) over several years, a stage that serves as a morphological and chemical bridge between fatty streaks and advanced lesions. On gross appearance, intermediate lesions resemble fatty streaks but are widely different microscopically. These fibrous lesions contain increased amounts of extracellular lipid droplets that bear more free cholesterol, fatty acid, and triglyceride components than in fatty streaks (Stary et al. 1994). At this stage, SMCs deposit collagen and other extracellular matrix (ECM) components in to the lesion to create a stabilizing fibrous cap. A large lipid core is not well defined yet but the accumulation of several separate extracellular lipid pools layered beneath the macrophages and foam cells disrupt coherent layers of intimal SMCs and intercellular matrix proteoglycans and fibers (Stary et al. 1994). Like in the case of fatty streaks, this second stage of atherosclerotic plaque development is not clinically significant. However, culmination of this process over decades leads to the formation of large, structurally unstable advanced lesions that give rise to incidences of myocardial infarction and stroke. Advanced lesions, also known as atheromas (Figure 1.2d), are characterized by the presence of a large necrotic core that is absent in preceding stages (Stary et al. 1995). Lesions contain an

abundance of extracellular lipids forming lipid cores, pro-inflammatory cytokines, increased amounts of cell death via apoptosis and necrosis, and enhanced collagen deposition (Ball et al. 1995; Kolodgie 2004). In more advanced lesions, mineralization and increased secretion of proteolytic enzymes that diminish and damage collagen and elastin fibers in the internal EL, eventually degrading the ECM, leading to lesional instability. Resulting consequences are plaque fissuring and thrombolytic rupture, a predecessor to a series of detrimental coronary events.



Figure 1.2 Stages of atherosclerotic progression. A) Non-diseased artery under normal conditions. The initial retention of modified LDL particles and circulating monocytes in the subendothelial space marks the initiation of a fatty streak (B). Culmination of this process over several years results in an abundance of immune cells and heightened secretion of proinflammatory cytokines. Smooth muscle cells begin to migrate toward the lumen in response to increased inflammatory signaling in an attempt to stabilize the intermediate fibrous lesion (C). Increased amounts of cell death results in a large, unstable necrotic core underneath the stabilizing fibrous cap. Proteolytic degradation of ECM components and mineralization of the fibrous cap occur in advanced lesions (D) and can lead to an unstable phenotype that is prone to rupture and thrombolytic occlusion.

While there is no cure for atherosclerosis, a common therapeutic strategy is to manipulate serum lipid levels by the use of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors (Buhaescu and Izzedine 2007). These drugs, commonly referred to as statins, reduce cholesterol synthesis by inhibiting the rate limiting enzyme of the cholesterol synthesis pathway. Reduction in cholesterol synthesis results in the upregulation of expression of LDL receptor by hepatic cells, allowing for enhanced clearance of cholesterol-packed LDL from the circulation. Statins also play a beneficial immunomodulatory role and have the ability to affect several processes involved in the progression of atherosclerotic plaque formation. These include enhancing endothelial cell differentiation, suppressing macrophage activation and endothelial cell adhesion molecule expression, and inhibiting the migration and proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) (Jones et al. 1998; Pitt et al. 1999; Vaughan et al. 2000; Bonetti et al. 2003; Davignon and Ganz 2004; Ray and Cannon 2005). Despite the ability of statins to reduce cardiovascular events in human and animal studies, this therapy has not been successful in drastically decreasing mortality rates as 40% of patients with normal plasma lipid levels still develop atherosclerotic plaques (Genest et al. 1991; Rubins et al. 1995; Yusuf et al. 2016). Also, some patients are intolerant to statins. New therapies for managing atherosclerosis are needed, independent of managing hypercholesterolemia.

### Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis

Under normal conditions, the monolayer of endothelial cells lining the intima comes in to contact with flowing blood with high ability to resist adhesion of leukocytes and various other immune cells. Unprovoked, spontaneous atherosclerosis is thought to occur through "response to injury," a hypothesis proposed by Rudolph Virchow in 1856 that is still widely accepted today. The basic premise of this hypothesis is that the formation of atherosclerotic lesions is a response to an initial injury to arterial endothelial cells, which can be initiated by hyperglycemia, increased levels of oxidized LDL (oxLDL) in circulation, sheer stress, and infectious pathogens. After initial injury to the endothelial layer, an inflammatory response is initiated by lipids, cellular debris, and inflammatory cells that become retained in the intima of the arterial wall.

Atherogenesis begins when various stimuli induce inflammatory cytokine release and vascular endothelial expression of adhesion molecules. Elevated levels of LDL in plasma, which can be attributed to high-fat diets (HFD) and genetic disorders, leads to retention of LDL in the intima of the arterial wall where it becomes modified by several processes. One modification in particular is the oxidation of LDL particles to become oxLDL, which stimulates the production and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNFa, IL-6, and IL-10 (Hamilton et al. 1990; Fong et al. 1991). This inflammatory response in turn initiates endothelial cell expression of luminal adhesion molecules, such as intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1, and p-selectin (Dustin et al. 1986; Cybulsky and Gimbrone 1991; Takahashi et al. 1996). Expression of these adhesion molecules allows for transmigration of leukocytes, mainly blood monocytes, into the subendothelial space, where they differentiate into macrophages and express scavenger receptors that bind and facilitate internalization of oxLDL (Dhaliwal and Steinbrecher 1999). Receptor-mediated endocytosis of oxLDL by macrophages is a continual process, and the cholesterol derived from the oxLDL particles is converted into cholesteryl esters (CEs) by acyl coenzyme A: cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT). CEs are stored in lipid droplets in the cytoplasm of macrophages which give these cells a "foamy" or "frothy" appearance, giving rise to the term "foam cell" which is the first hallmark of

atherosclerosis (Moore et al. 2013).

Fatty streaks progress to intermediate plaques and the inflammatory process continues with the recruitment of T cells (Jonasson et al. 1986) and B cells (Zhou and Hansson 1999). T lymphocytes activate and perpetuate inflammation by secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines and recruiting additional immune cells. VSMCs are normally present in the medial layer of the artery where they function as quiescent, contractile cells; however, they possess the ability to transition to a proliferative phenotype when provoked following vascular injury, playing in important role in the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis. Recruitment of immune cells secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines signals VSMCs to begin proliferating and migrating from the medial layer of the artery towards the intima (Schönbeck et al. 2000). This process marks the "fibrous plaque" stage of atherosclerotic lesion development, and the migrating VSMCs attempt to stabilize the pro-inflammatory lipid core by depositing collagen and other ECM components to create a fibrous cap. This mechanism can later be altered by the pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines secreted by macrophages and T lymphocytes, which can destabilize the ECM by impairing the synthesis of collagen by VSMCs and increasing expression of MMPs (Hansson and Libby 2006).

As atherosclerotic lesions advance, they begin to undergo calcification by an active process resembling embryonic osteogenic mechanisms and normal bone remodeling (Steitz et al. 2001; Trion and van der Laarse 2004; Bab et al. 2008). VSMCs transdifferentiate to an osteoprogenitor cell type, and the presence of several transcription factors and other regulatory proteins promote expression of osteogenic genes, allowing these cells to acquire a functional osteoblast phenotype. Vascular calcium deposition reduces vessel elasticity and vessel wall compliance (Trion and van der Laarse 2004; Sun et al. 2012) and is therefore a factor

contributing to plaque instability. In addition to this, excess buildup of oxLDL and free cholesterol in foam cells eventually initiates apoptotic cell death (Marchant et al. 1995). As the number of apoptotic cells increases, inefficient clearance of these cells (efferocytosis) can result in secondary necrosis. During secondary necrosis, lipids and other cellular debris are deposited in the extracellular space (Tabas 2007), giving rise to a necrotic core. Stabilization of this lipidrich core by the fibrous cap is lost when inflammatory cells secrete MMPs which serve to degrade ECM components, resulting in the weakening/thinning of the fibrous cap. When the stability of atherosclerotic plaques in compromised, the risk of plaque rupture is very high. The formation of a thrombus is initiated after a plaque ruptures; a result of pro-thrombotic materials from the lesion being exposed to blood. Life threatening complications can arise from this process, as thrombi can induce hypoxia by occlusion of the artery, leading to myocardial infarction and stroke.

### The Immune System in Atherosclerosis

The progression of atherosclerotic plaque development is influenced by both innate and adaptive immune responses. The innate immune system is a subset of the overall immune system that responds to pathogens in a non-specific but immediate fashion, and adaptive immunity is an antigen-specific immune response that gives rise to immunological memory. Activation of the innate immune system is important for eliciting an inflammatory response. Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) are necessary for detecting and clearing harmful materials. Cells of the innate immune system are involved in several aspects of atherogenesis and express a diverse set of PRRs that recognize both exogenous pathogenic components and endogenous products (Akira et al. 2006). These PRRs can functionally be classified into two groups: endocytic receptors, which facilitate the uptake of extracellular molecules and macromolecular complexes; and signaling

receptors, which function to activate pro-inflammatory signaling pathways through upregulation of pro-inflammatory genes. Examples of endocytic receptors are scavenger receptors, such as SR-A (Lundberg and Hansson 2010) which is expressed on the surface of retained macrophages and facilitates the clearance of oxLDL and formation of foam cells.

The major signaling PRRs are toll-like receptors (TLRs), which provide a link between activation of innate immune responses through triggering acute inflammation and induction of adaptive immune responses by activating co-stimulatory molecules necessary for cell-mediated immunity. TLRs are type I transmembrane receptors and are ubiquitously expressed throughout the body, with upregulated expression in atherosclerotic lesions on VSMCs, endothelial cells, and macrophages (Edfeldt et al. 2002; Otsui et al. 2007). Stimulation of TLRs on macrophages can result in release of proinflammatory cytokines TNFa, IL-1, and IL-6 as well as induction of MMP expression. Recruitment and activation of T cells also occurs in response to TLR stimulation, which potentiates the inflammatory process through production of more proinflammatory mediators, such as IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$ , further stimulating SMCs, endothelial cells, and macrophages within the lesion (Lundberg and Hansson 2010). Several TLRs exist and collectively they recognize a diverse set of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) that share commonality among many microorganisms (Akira et al. 2006). TLR2 and TLR4 have been implicated in atherosclerosis. TLR4 is the receptor for lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a major component in the cell wall of Gram negative bacteria, and systemic LPS administration in hypercholesterolemic rabbits and atherogenic mice demonstrated a pro-atherosclerotic role (Lehr et al. 2001; Ostos et al. 2002). TLR2 recognizes the largest variety of PAMPs on bacteria, fungal, and viral products (Schwandner et al. 1999; Vabulas et al. 2001; Takeuchi et al. 2002; Compton et al. 2003), and injection of a TLR2 ligand into hypercholesterolemic and atherogenic

mice resulted in increased lesion severity (Mullick et al. 2005). In addition to these studies showing that pathogenic products have the ability to promote atherosclerosis through TLR signaling, several reports from epidemiological studies show an increased risk of atherosclerosis associated with the following bacterial and viral pathogens: *Chlamydia pneumoniae*, *Helicobacter pylori*, *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, Cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr virus, Human Immunodeficiency virus, and certain strains of Herpes simplex virus, Influenza virus, and hepatitis viruses (Michelsen et al. 2004; Desvarieux et al. 2005; Guan et al. 2008; Harskamp and van Ginkel 2008).

Macrophages are key players in the initiation and progression of atherosclerotic plaques, through their role in both cholesterol metabolism and innate immune response regulation. Macrophages are phagocytic janitors that function to remove cellular debris and pathogenic agents and secrete cytokines in order to regulate other immune processes. Most macrophages present within atherosclerotic plaques originate from bone marrow-derived blood monocytes (Mallat 2017), although recent evidence from lineage tracing studies has shown that many macrophages transdifferentiate from SMCs within the plaque (Shankman et al. 2015). In the beginning stages of atherogenesis, macrophages play a beneficial role through their ability to ingest and clear accumulated lipoproteins from the subendothelial space. However, uptake of modified lipoproteins is not well regulated and eventually macrophages become grossly engorged with lipids, resulting in the formation of foam cells and dysregulation of lipid metabolism (Moore et al. 2013). The LDL receptor is negatively regulated at the transcriptional level by increases in cellular cholesterol. However, CD36, a type B scavenger receptor, is positively regulated by oxLDL, and is one of the main receptors responsible for macrophage uptake of modified lipoproteins (Van Berkel et al. 1998; de Winther et al. 2000; Nicholson and

Hajjar 2004). These lipid-laden foam cells have diminished capacity to migrate out and therefore accumulate, giving rise to a frothy appearance in the arterial wall characteristic of a fatty streak. Foam cells impart a negative impact on disease progression two-fold: in beginning stages, with compromised immune functions resulting in diminished capacity to migrate and resolve inflammation; and in advanced stages, where they contribute to the inflammatory response by secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and promote plaque instability by secretion of matrix-degrading proteases (Randolph 2008; Moore et al. 2013).

Macrophages exhibit incredible plasticity and are able to change their physiological function in response to their surrounding environment. The two most commonly seen and studied macrophage phenotypes are classified as "pro-inflammatory" M1 and "anti-inflammatory" M2, and switching to either phenotype occurs under the appropriate stimuli. The phenotype of a macrophage has a large effect on its overall contribution to atherosclerotic plaque development. M1 macrophage phenotype is induced by stimulation with Th1-secreted IFN $\gamma$  and LPS from Gram-negative bacteria, and promotes inflammation by producing pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-12, and TNF $\alpha$ ; and by attracting more monocytes through production of monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1 (Tabas and Bornfeldt 2016). TLR4 signaling plays a large role in the M1 response, as it can activate NF $\kappa$ B, ERK, p38 MAPK, and JNK signaling to promote transcription of pro-inflammatory genes and enhance foam cell formation (Muslin 2008).

The M2 phenotype can be acquired in the presence of IL-4 and IL-13, two cytokines that are largely produced by Th2 T cells. Ligand binding of IL-4 to the IL-4 receptor causes STAT6 activation, which can function to suppress TLR4 signaling. M2 macrophages produce antiinflammatory molecules, such as IL-10 and TGF $\beta$  (Tabas and Bornfeldt 2016), that lessen the

pro-inflammatory response of Th1 cells and control cellular functions involved in tissue remodeling and repair. M2 macrophages could be extremely beneficial in the regression of atherosclerotic plaques, as they secrete factors that can promote collagen formation and can function in the clearance of dying cells and debris within the lesion (Moore et al. 2013). However, human atherosclerotic lesions show a Th1-dominant plaque environment, bearing more IFN than IL-4 (Frostegård et al. 1999), resulting in more macrophages with the M1 phenotype. As these cells are not considered to have a pre-determined fate, it is likely they can switch between phenotypes in the presence of an always changing microenvironment. Further, the microenvironment of atherosclerotic plaques is highly variable depending on the location and stage of development, which can affect the M1/M2 macrophage balance at any given moment.

TLR signaling also plays a role in antigen presentation by professional antigen presenting cells (APCs), such as macrophages, contributing to activation and polarization of adaptive immune processes. APCs present antigenic peptides to T cells to activate several different immune functions depending on the class of T cell and type of antigen. The majority of T cells are classified as either CD4+ or CD8+ T cells. CD4+ T cells are considered "helper" cells that can illicit either a pro- or anti-inflammatory response depending on the cytokine environment. CD8+ T cells are cytotoxic T cells that function to kill cells that are infected with intracellular pathogens, such as viruses. Activated T cells are found in human and murine atherosclerotic plaques (Hansson et al. 1989) and the magnitude of the pro-inflammatory response during advanced atherosclerotic lesion development is largely regulated by T cells (Andersson et al. 2010). Although all subsets of T cells have been found in atherosclerotic plaques (Andersson et al. 2011; Lahoute et al. 2011), several studies have shown more CD4+ than CD8+ T cells (Stemme et al. 1995; de Boer et al. 1999; Andersson et al. 2010). Like

macrophages, CD4+ T cells can acquire different phenotypes depending on the signals present in the surrounding microenvironment. The most common subtypes present in atherosclerotic lesions are Th1 and Th2, with Th1 cells being the most dominant T helper subtype (Laurat et al. 2001; Mallat et al. 2009).

T cells become activated within the atherosclerotic lesion when APCs present them antigenic fragments, such as peptide fragments from modified LDL particles that mimic patterns associated with pathogens, causing them to differentiate. Differentiation into a Th1 phenotype occurs in the presence of macrophage-secreted IL-12 and IL-18 (Elhage et al. 2003), and Th1 cells are considered to be pro-atherogenic largely due to their secretion of IFN $\gamma$ . A few studies have shown that IFNy exacerbates plaque development, where injection of recombinant IFNy into ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice resulted in increased lesion size, and knockdown of IFNy in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice resulted in decreased lesion size (Whitman et al. 2000). Blockade of IL-12 and IL-18 signaling in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice also resulted in decreased plaque size (Mallat et al. 2001; Davenport and Tipping 2003) and increased collagen content (Mallat et al. 2001; Hauer et al. 2005), likely due to the lost ability for Th1 differentiation and a subsequent decrease in IFNy secretion. The Th2 subset, like the M2 macrophage phenotype, is characterized by anti-inflammatory actions; however, the role of Th2 cells in the development of atherosclerotic lesions is controversial. Th2 differentiation is stimulated in the presence of IL-4, a cytokine which opposes pro-atherogenic Th1 differentiation and IFNy secretion. Whether or not Th2 cells are anti-atherogenic or not remains to be elucidated, as IL-4 expression also stimulates some pro-atherogenic events, such as VCAM-1 and MMP expression and increased MCP-1 secretion (Barks et al. 1997; Y.W. Lee et al. 2001).

The role of CD8+ T cells in the progression of atherosclerosis is less clear than that of CD4+ T cells. Knockdown of CD8+ in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice resulted in no appreciable change in plaque

burden (Elhage et al. 2004), however, CD8+ activation in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed an increase in plaque size (Olofsson et al. 2008). This data could indicate that the role of CD8+ T cells is minor compared to the role of CD4+ cells under normal conditions, possibly bearing a more significant role in the presence of a stimulus, such as an intracellular infection.

### Atherosclerotic Plaque Instability

Atherosclerotic plaques, for the most part, remain "silent" throughout their progression, bearing no complications. However, certain factors can provoke plaque rupture and endothelial erosion, leading to ischemia and other life-threatening complications. Stable plaques contain a fibrous cap made of a collagenous matrix, which serves to stabilize and protect the contents within the lipid-rich core. It is when the surface continuity of the endothelium and fibrous cap becomes compromised that complications can arise. Plaque rupture, also called fissuring, is seen in about 75% of patients that present with acute coronary syndrome (Davies and Thomas 1984), while over 25% of coronary thrombosis cases present with plaque surface erosion (Farb et al. 1996). Research on plaque disruption has been hindered due to lack of appropriate animal models, as rodents rarely yield thrombolytic activity within plaques (Johnson and Jackson 2001; Schwartz et al. 2007). Studies have shown, so far, that the actions of MMPs within the lesions, as well as deposition of calcium, are among the processes contributing to unstable plaques and plaque rupture.

### Matrix Metalloproteinases (MMPs)

MMPs are endopeptidases that play an important role in controlling the composition of the ECM. There are several classifications of these zinc-dependent proteases based on their substrate specificity and function within the ECM: gelatinases, collagenases, matrilysins,

stromelysins, and other membrane type (MT) and unclassified MMPs (Snoek-van Beurden and den Hoff 2005; Roy et al. 2006). At least twenty-three different MMPs have been identified in humans (Raffetto and Khalil 2008), playing important roles in processes such as wound healing and tissue repair (Johnson 2017 Sep 9). Some classes of MMPs are implicated in a range of different pathologies, where they have increased expression and activity. Therapeutic targeting of MMPs has been explored in the treatment of several maladies, including arthritis, cancer, neurodegenerative diseases, and arthritis (Morgan et al. 2004; Fingleton 2007).

MMP activity is regulated at the level of gene transcription as well as by posttranslational mechanisms. These proteolytic enzymes are secreted in an inactive zymogen form that requires subsequent stepwise activation, through a process of cleavage and conformational change (Nagase et al. 2006). Multiple pathways for MMP activation exist within the atherosclerotic plaque environment. Activation of several different MMPs occurs in the presence of mast cell-secreted chymase and tryptase (Lees et al. 1994; Johnson et al. 1998), thrombin (Galis et al. 1997), cathepsin G and K (Sukhova et al. 1998; Legedz et al. 2004), and members of the plasmin system (Lijnen 2001), all of which are present in atherosclerotic plaques. Tight regulation of MMPs is further seen with endogenous inhibitors, proteolysis, and internalization and recycling (Nagase et al. 2006). The endogenous inhibitors, termed tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs), irreversibly bind to and inactive MMPs and are considered to be the key regulators of MMPs under both normal and abnormal physiological conditions. Four TIMPs have been identified, and all function to inhibit different MMP classes/molecules. A finely tuned equilibirium of MMPs and TIMPs is needed in order to maintain a balance in ECM homeostasis.

It is known that plaque vulnerability is associated with increased inflammation, proteolysis of structural ECM proteins, and reduced collagen content. High expression and

disconcerted proteolytic activity of MMPs has been implicated in early and late stages of atherogenesis. It is thought that in the early stages of plaque development, MMPs promote migration and proliferation of immune cells and SMCs; in advanced plaques, excess inflammation drives increased proteolytic activity of MMPs, leading to a weakened fibrous cap and increased vulnerability to rupture (Wågsäter et al. 2011). In addition to inflammatory cytokines functioning to provoke certain immune responses, molecules such as IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and IFN $\gamma$  also induce MMP expression by macrophages (Amento et al. 1991; Sarén et al. 1996).

The gelatinase class of MMPs, which includes MMP-2 and MMP-9, has been studied extensively in the setting of cardiovascular diseases due to their regulatory function in VSMC migration and proliferation (Johnson 2007). Clinical studies have shown that MMP-2 levels are increased in patients suffering from acute myocardial infarction compared to healthy subjects, and MMP-9 levels are increased in patients with more severe vessel disease compared to healthy subject and subjects with less developed disease (Kai et al. 1998). Other studies have shown increased MMP-9 expression in SMCs and macrophages within advanced plaques, as well as increased MMP-9 proteolytic activity, compared to non-diseased vessels (Galis, Muszynski, et al. 1994; Galis, Sukhova, et al. 1994). Although increased circulating MMP-9 levels are not a clear indication for the presence of unstable plaques, several groups have shown the association between acute coronary syndrome and heightened MMP-9 levels in circulation (Kai et al. 1998; Inokubo et al. 2001). Most studies aimed at determining MMP relation to severity of atherosclerotic disease has been conducted in later stages of atherogenesis from tissues collected from human biopsies or mice genetically altered to overexpress or lack MMPs. One study used a mouse model of atherosclerosis to determine expression and activity patterns of several MMPs throughout the course of atherogenesis, and found that increases in MMP-2 and MMP-9

expression and proteolytic activity specifically in atherosclerotic plaques are associated with the progression of disease (Wågsäter et al. 2011).

#### **Calcification**

Mineralization of hard tissue, such as teeth and bones, occurs as a regulated process under normal physiological conditions and is required in order for these tissues to properly serve their purpose. It is only under pathological conditions that soft tissues become mineralized, and these situations often give rise to consequences that are detrimental. Advanced atherosclerotic plaques are among these scenarios of soft tissue mineralization that can result in adverse clinical outcomes. Once thought to be a passive process, research has shed light on this ectopic mineralization process, recognizing it as an active process resembling embryonic osteogenic mechanisms and normal bone remodeling (Steitz et al. 2001; Trion and van der Laarse 2004; Bab et al. 2008; Moore et al. 2013). Vascular calcium deposition reduces vessel elasticity and augments plaque brittleness (Trion and van der Laarse 2004; Sun et al. 2012). Therefore, mineralization of plaques affects overall vascular compliance and is a risk factor for myocardial infarction and known to contribute substantially to the morbidity and mortality of cardiovascular diseases (Detrano et al. 2008; Polonsky et al. 2010).

Current anti-atherosclerosis therapies, such as statins and beta-blockers, are aimed at modulating the disease risk factors hypercholesterolemia and hypertension, respectively. However, these therapies have not been successful in drastically decreasing mortality rates. Therefore, development of new therapeutic approaches that are aimed at controlling or decreasing calcification of atherosclerotic lesions could be beneficial in stabilizing late stage atherosclerotic lesions and further decrease mortality rates.

Lesion development involves many different cell types, such as monocytes/macrophages and VSMC. Specifically, VSMCs are key contributors to lesion development through osteogenic differentiation (Byon et al. 2008). Studies have provided much evidence to support the hypothesis that vascular calcification mirrors regulatory processes seen in osteogenesis, involving a balance between inhibitory and stimulatory molecules. Proliferation, extracellular matrix maturation, and mineralization are the three major sequential phases of osteogenesis, involving many key components that help facilitate the phase progressions (Vimalraj et al. 2015). Osteoblasts originate from mesenchymal stem cells and are matrix-producing cells that are responsible for bone formation. Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2) is a major modulator in the process of osteogenesis and serves as a key transcription factor in the regulation of osteoblast differentiation genes (Komori 2009; Vimalraj et al. 2015). Runx2 has been shown to be essential in the early stages of osteogenic phenotype transition and phosphate-induced matrix calcification of SMCs, which serve as a primary mediator in vascular calcification (Lin et al. 2015). Downstream from Runx2 is a zinc-finger containing transcription factor, Osterix (Osx), which is necessary for osteoblast differentiation and further bone formation (K. Nakashima et al. 2002; K. Nakashima and de Crombrugghe 2003; C. Zhang 2012). Osx is needed for the commitment of pre-osteoblasts to differentiate into mature, functioning osteoblasts (C. Zhang 2012) and the specificity of Osx expression to osteoblasts is higher than that of Runx2 expression (K. Nakashima and de Crombrugghe 2003). Several noncollagenous bone proteins that are present during hard tissue calcification are also involved in the calcification process of soft tissues, such as alkaline phosphatase (ALP) (Giachelli 1999), osteocalcin (OCN) (Levy et al. 1983), and bone morphogenetic protein type 2 (BMP-2) (Boström et al. 1993). Osteopontin (OPN) is another protein that plays a role in ectopic

calcification of soft tissues. OPN is a ubiquitously expressed protein serving many different functions depending on the environment, and specifically serves as a potent inhibitor of vascular calcification (Lund et al. 2009).

While majority of cell types undergo terminal differentiation, the SMC phenotype bears much plasticity. Characteristically, VSMCs exist as a mature contractile phenotype but have the ability to differentiate into a synthetic fibroblastic phenotype in response to injury or disease (Steitz et al. 2001). Osteoblastic transdifferentiation (OBT) of plaque VSMCs is a key step in the atherosclerotic calcification process, sharing many features to the synthetic VSMC phenotype. During this transition, VSMCs dedifferentiate into a mesenchymal stem cell that serves as a precursor to osteochondrogenic cell lineages (Figure 1.3).

Under appropriate stimuli, VSMC begin acquiring an osteoblast-like phenotype, characterized by the loss of smooth muscle (SM)22 $\alpha$  and SM  $\alpha$ -actin markers and the upregulation of Runx2 (Steitz et al. 2001). Increased expression of Runx2 can directly stimulate the transcription of type I collagen (ColI) (Franceschi et al. 2003), which is necessary before osteoblasts can differentiate and express other osteogenic genes, like OCN and ALP (Franceschi 1999). While increased Runx2 is necessary during the beginning stages of OBT, its presence can serve to inhibit maturation of pre-osteoblasts in later stages (McGee-Lawrence et al. 2014). Once these cells have committed to the osteoblast lineage and adopt a pre-osteoblast phenotype, only Osx is required for maturation into a calcifying cell. Presence of Runx2 or OPN at this stage can halt the calcification process (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3 Vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) osteoblastic transdifferentiation (OBT). VSMCs dedifferentiate into a mesenchymal stem cell (MSC), a precursor to osteoblasts. Runx2 is necessary for the commitment of MSCs to the osteoblast lineage, but negatively regulates the maturation of immature osteoblasts into mineralizing cells. Osterix (OSX) is necessary for final stages of osteoblast maturation. Osteopontin (OPN) transcription is regulated by Runx2 and functions as a negative regulator of ectopic calcification.

A homeostatic balance between osteoblasts and osteoclasts is essential for normal bone remodeling. Opposite from osteoblasts, osteoclasts are large, multinucleated cells that function to absorb bone tissue during repair and remodeling. Osteoclasts can differentiate from monocytes/macrophages and share many signaling molecules and regulatory mechanisms with immune cells (Takayanagi 2007). The most important cytokine involved in osteoclast differentiation and activation is receptor activator of nuclear factor  $\kappa$ -B ligand (RANKL). RANKL is expressed by mesenchymally-derived cells, such as osteoblasts, and proteolytic cleavage of this membrane-anchored molecule allows for soluble RANKL to bind to RANK to initiate osteoclastogenesis (T. Nakashima et al. 2000). Differentiation and activation of osteoclasts can be inhibited by osteoprotegerin (OPG), a soluble decoy receptor for RANKL expressed by mesenchymal cells. The presence of OPG inhibits RANKL binding to RANK on osteoclasts, resulting in diminished NFkB activation. Evidence from several studies has demonstrated an essential role for the RANKL/RANK/OPG system in maintaining normal bone homeostasis, and mutations in these genes can result in bone disorders, such as autosomal recessive osteopetrosis in the case of mutated RANKL (T. Nakashima and Takayanagi 2009). Exact mechanisms of plaque calcification remain to be elucidated, but evidence is accumulating that shows an association between increased inflammation and uncontrolled biomineralization of plaques.

#### Mouse Models of Atherosclerosis

The most common way to study atherosclerosis *in vivo* is by use of mice that have genetic modifications resulting in hypercholesterolemia. Wild-type mice are resistant to atherosclerosis and have high levels of high-density lipoproteins (HDL) in plasma. Mice are beneficial due to their short breeding times and production of large litters, ease of achieving genetic modifications, and low cost of maintenance compared to other animal models. While almost ten murine models of atherosclerosis exist, the most widely used strains are knockouts that are deficient in either the low-density lipoprotein receptor (Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup>) or apolipoprotein-E (ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>), the first gene-knockout mice to develop advanced atherosclerosis coupled with severe hypercholesterolemia.

ApoE, a major component of very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL), is synthesized by the liver and macrophages and functions to package cholesterol for lipoprotein transport, playing an atheroprotective role. Ldlr expression is mostly on hepatocytes (Traber and Kayden 1980; Jaakkola et al. 1989) and functions to facilitate lipoprotein clearance by binding apoB100 and ApoE. Familial hypercholesterolemia is caused by mutations in the LDLR gene resulting in inefficient clearance of lipoproteins (Goldstein et al. 1983; Tolleshaug et al. 1983). The major

differences between these two mice strains are the induction of atherosclerotic disease and the pace of progression (Maganto Garcia et al. 2012). ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice are severely hypercholesterolemic from birth while Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> mice only have mildly elevated circulating cholesterol levels. Differences are also seen in the lipoprotein profiles of these mice, where ApoE-null mice have more cholesterol contained in VLDL, and Ldlr-null mice have more cholesterol contained in LDL particles which more closely resembles the lipoprotein profile of humans. On a standard chow diet, ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice can develop quantifiable lesions within six weeks, and lesion formation and progression can be exacerbated with the addition of a cholesterol-rich atherogenic diet, which is a common practice. On the other hand, Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> mice will not develop quantifiable lesions for at least six months on a standard diet, as the extent of disease is mostly correlated with the degree of hypercholesterolemia. Most studies utilizing Ldlr <sup>-</sup> mice thereby are conducted by feeding an atherogenic diet to induce hypercholesterolemia required for the formation of atherosclerotic lesions. A typical atherogenic diet used with both of these mice models is the "Western" diet. Also referred to as the "meat-sweet diet" or "standard American diet", the Western diet mimics a typical diet seen in modern Western society consisting of high amounts of saturated fat and trans-fatty acids (Odermatt 2011). A positive correlation exists between higher incidence of cardiovascular complications and obesity with a western-style dietary pattern (Kant 2004; Zarraga and Schwarz 2006), making this diet appropriate for diet-induced hypercholesterolemia and atherogenesis with murine models of atherosclerosis. The typical Western diet fed to these mice usually contains 21% butterfat and 0.2% cholesterol, although cholesterol levels may vary (Merat et al. 1999).

While these mice are cost effective and beneficial for studying atherosclerosis, there are a few drawbacks seen with use of these mouse models. For instance, atherogenic diets can cause
potential inflammatory effects that are not related to the actual progression of atherosclerosis, and mice lack late stage plaque rupture, a complication commonly seen in humans. Further, similar treatments can result in varying effects between the different mouse models used, and this must be taken into consideration when selecting a model, as further genetic manipulation or treatments can be affected by the preceding genetic and physiological background.

#### The Endocannabinoid System

The medicinal usage of *Cannabis* for the treatment of a wide variety of human ailments, from headaches to sexually transmitted diseases to cancers, have been documented as far back as the 15<sup>th</sup> century (Grotenhermen and Müller-Vahl 2012; Borgelt et al. 2013). The medicinal properties of *Cannabis* are attributable to the unique aryl-substituted meroterpenoid compounds, called cannabinoids, produced in the *Cannabis* genera of plants (Ashton 2001). Over 50 years ago researchers at the Hebrew University of Jerusalem isolated and characterized the first cannabinoid, (-)delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), the main psychoactive component of marijuana (Gaoni and Mechoulam 1964; Gaoni and Mechoulam 2002). Since then, more than 100 different cannabinoid compounds have been identified in *Cannabis*, however, only a few of these have been extensively studied (Aizpurua-Olaizola et al. 2016). For the next nearly thirty years, how THC (and other cannabinoids) produced specific biological effects was unknown, with most speculating that the hydrophobic nature of cannabinoids resulted in nonspecific interactions with cell membranes. However, in the late 1980s evidence accumulated supporting a specific signal transduction mechanism for cannabinoids and in the early 1990s two membranebound cannabinoid receptors were identified, cloned and characterized (Matsuda et al. 1990; Munro et al. 1993). These cannabinoid receptors, and their later discovered endogenous ligands (endocannabinoids) and metabolic enzymes, are collectively termed the endocannabinoid system

(ECS) (Fig. 1.4). Over the past 30 years, preclinical studies have shown that the ECS functions in a wide variety of physiological and pathological processes; with alterations in both the levels of CB1 and CB2 receptor expression and levels of their endogenous ligands being associated with several human diseases including neurological conditions, metabolic disorders, cardiovascular diseases, as well as some cancers (Pacher et al. 2006; Pacher and Kunos 2013).



Figure 1.4 The Endocannabinoid System (ECS). The ECS consists of two known receptors, CB1 and CB2, the endogenous ligands for these receptors (endocannabinoids), and the metabolic enzymes involved in the synthesis and degradation of endocannabinoids. Endocannabinoids are synthesized intracellularly and transported to the extracellular space where they bind to and mediate signaling of the cannabinoid receptors.

# Cannabinoid receptors

The first cannabinoid receptor identified, and later termed cannabinoid receptor type 1

(CB1), was independently cloned from rat and human brain cDNA libraries in 1990 (Gérard et

al. 1990; Matsuda et al. 1990). Shortly thereafter, another cannabinoid receptor, termed cannabinoid receptor type 2 (CB2), was cloned from HL60 cells, a human promyelocytic leukemia cell line (Munro et al. 1993). CB1 and CB2 are products of distinct intronless genes (*CNR1* and *CNR2*, respectively) with *CNR1* located on chromosome 6 in humans and chromosome 4 in mice, and *CNR2* located on chromosome 1 in humans and chromosome 4 in mice. Both are members of the G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) superfamily of cell membrane receptors, containing seven transmembrane spanning domains separated by three intracellular and three extracellular loops, a glycosylated extracellular N-terminus and an intracellular C-terminus. Overall, human CB1 and CB2 share 44% amino acid similarity, with 68% homology within their transmembrane domains (Munro et al. 1993). Both receptors are relatively highly conserved among mammals, for example CB2 sequence identity between humans and rodents is  $\geq$ 80%.

CB1 is abundantly expressed by neurons in the brain, most notably in the cerebral cortex, basal ganglia, cerebellum, and hippocampus (Matsuda et al. 1990) where it is responsible for the psychotropic effects of THC. CB1 is also expressed at lower levels in parts of the peripheral and autonomic nervous system, as well as several tissues, including heart, lung, thymus, spleen, and reproductive organs (Howlett et al. 2002; Bonz et al. 2003; Quarta et al. 2010). Expression of CB1 has also been noted in immune cells, but at levels up to 100 fold lower than CB2 (Galiègue, Mary, Marchand, Dussossoy, Carrière, Carayon, Bouaboula, SHIRE, et al. 1995). Although CB1 has been shown to play a role in modulating nociception, anxiety, energy metabolism and lipogenesis, the potential for undesirable psychotropic effects has greatly hindered the development of CB1-targeted pharmacologic therapies. For example, Rimonabant, a CB1-selective antagonist developed by Sanofi-Aventis was demonstrated to reduce body weight and

improve cardiovascular risk factors in humans and was given approval as an anti-obesity drug in Europe in 2006 (Ravinet Trillou et al. 2003) (Mølhøj et al. 2010) (Després et al. 2005) (Pi-Sunyer et al. 2006) (Van Gaal et al. 2005; Scheen and Van Gaal 2007). However, in 2008, despite producing beneficial metabolic and cardiovascular effects, Rimonabant was withdrawn from use in Europe due to adverse psychiatric side effects resulting from its activity in the CNS. Rimonabant never gained approval from the FDA for use in the United States.

CB2 is mainly expressed by cells of the peripheral immune system where it mediates the immunosuppressive effects of THC (Buckley et al. 2000; Eisenstein et al. 2007). Expression of CB2 by immune cells varies (B lymphocytes> natural killer cells >macrophages,  $\geq$ monocytes  $\geq$ neutrophils>T-cells) (Bouaboula et al. 1993; Munro et al. 1993; Galiègue, Mary, Marchand, Dussossoy, Carrière, Carayon, Bouaboula, Shire, et al. 1995) and can be greatly affected by the differentiation and activation state of the cell. For example, macrophages activated by thioglycollate or IFN-γ express significantly more CB2 than unstimulated macrophages (Carlisle et al. 2002). Generally, the expression of CB2 by non-immune cells is very low, but it has been observed in several other cell types including osteogenic cells (Ofek et al. 2006), cardiomyocytes (Bouchard et al. 2003), fibroblasts (Defer et al. 2009), endothelial cells (Ronco et al. 2007), and VSMCs (Rajesh et al. 2008). Expression of CB2 in the CNS is controversial, as some studies failed to detect CB2 mRNA in neurons by Northern blotting and *in situ* hybridization analysis (Munro et al. 1993), while others found very low levels using quantitative PCR analysis (Maresz et al. 2005). However, expression by hematopoietic-derived microglial cells, rather than neurons, could not be ruled out (Maresz et al. 2005). A number of immunostaining studies have reported low levels of CB2 expression in some areas of the brain (Van Sickle et al. 2005; Gong et al. 2006; Brusco et al. 2008; Callén et al. 2012; Kim and Li 2015), however, inconsistent results

obtained with CB2 antibodies from different sources, as well as similar staining patterns produced in mice genetically altered to lack CB2, makes interpretation of these immunostaining experiments tenuous (Buckley et al. 2000; Baek et al. 2013). Validation of CB2 expression in the CNS awaits more specific CB2 antibodies or implementation of other methods specific for CB2 detection.

CB1 and CB2 were initially characterized as GPCR that couple primarily to pertussis toxin sensitive G<sub>i/o</sub> signal transduction proteins and, when activated, inhibit adenylate cyclase to reduce intracellular cyclic AMP levels and modulate downstream cascades under the control of protein kinase A (PKA). In addition to affecting cAMP/PKA and Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling, emerging evidence indicates that cannabinoid receptors modulate multiple diverse signaling networks in a variety of cell types, including the mitogen-activated protein kinases/extracellular signal– regulated kinases (MAPK/ERK1/2), phosphoinositide-3-kinase–protein kinase B/Akt (PI3K-PKB/Akt), phospholipase C, Janus kinase and Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription (JAK/STAT) and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NFkB) pathways (Bouaboula et al. 1995; Bouaboula et al. 1996; Howlett 2005; Demuth and Molleman 2006).

#### Endocannabinoids

The cloning of CB1 and CB2 led to the discovery of endogenous cannabinoids, or endocannabinoids (ECs), that act as ligands of these receptors, including Narachidonoylethanolamide (anandamide, AEA) (Devane et al. 1992), 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG) (Mechoulam et al. 1995; Sugiura et al. 1995), 2-arachidonyl glyceryl ether (2-AGE, noladin ether) (Hanus et al. 2001), O-arachidonoyl-ethanolamine (OAE, virodhamine) (Porter et al. 2002), and N-arachidonoyl dopamine (NADA) (Bisogno et al. 2000). These ECs are bioactive lipid mediators that share a common backbone structure resulting from their synthesis from membrane phospholipid precursors containing arachidonic acid. Of these, AEA and 2-AG are considered to be the primary endogenous activators of CB1 and CB2 and are the best studied, while the functions and physiological roles of the others are unclear and require further investigation. AEA is a partial agonist of CB1 (Mackie et al. 1993; Atmaram D Khanolkar et al. 1996; Felder et al. 1999; M. Glass and Northup 1999) and a weak partial agonist of CB2 (Gonsiorek et al. 2000). 2-AG is a full agonist of both CB1 and CB2 (Mechoulam et al. 1995; Gonsiorek et al. 2000). Compared to most tissues, AEA and 2-AG levels are significantly higher in brain, however, detectable levels of both have been found in numerous other mammalian organ systems, including bone marrow, kidney, liver, spleen, plasma, adipose, and gut, with 2-AG being more abundant than AEA in most tissues (Mechoulam et al. 1998).

## Metabolism of Endocannabinoids

Generation of AEA and 2-AG has been shown for only a limited number of cell types, most notably in stimulated neurons, platelets and macrophages (Sugiura et al. 2002). Both AEA and 2-AG are synthesized and released only on demand after an appropriate stimulation and, in most cases, uptake and intracellular degradation rapidly terminates their activity. Synthesis of AEA occurs as a two-step process, beginning with the formation of N-arachidonoyl phosphatidylethanolamine (NAPE) from phosphatidylethanolamine (Sugiura et al. 1996) followed by the cleavage of NAPE by NAPE phospholipase D to generate AEA (Basavarajappa 2007). Like AEA, 2-AG is also synthesized in a two-step process, where diacylglycerol (DAG)

is generated by phospholipid C-regulated hydrolysis of membrane phospholipids and converted to 2-AG by DAG lipase (Basavarajappa 2007).

Two enzymes are primarily responsible for the rapid turnover of ECs; fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) which metabolizes AEA to free arachidonic acid and ethanolamine, and monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL) which metabolizes 2-AG to free arachidonic acid and glycerol (Deutsch and Chin 1993; Cravatt et al. 1996; Maccarrone et al. 1998; Dinh et al. 2002; Saario et al. 2004). FAAH has also been reported to metabolize 2-AG, at least under some conditions (Goparaju et al. 1999). AEA and 2-AG metabolism is summarized in Figure 1.5. Transport mechanisms for uptake and reuptake of AEA and 2-AG are not completely understood, but in addition to their lipophilic nature that allows them to passively diffuse across cell membranes, facilitated diffusion by protein transporter mechanisms is likely to also occur (Basavarajappa 2007).



Figure 1.5 Metabolism of 2-AG and AEA. Synthesis of both 2-AG and AEA occurs as a twostep process, and degradation of both yields arachidonic acid (AA).

# CB2-deficient mouse models

The use of mice genetically altered to lack CB2 expression has enabled investigators to examine how CB2 specifically functions in various disease states, giving rise to potential novel CB2-directed therapies aimed at reducing the burden of disease. The first CB2 knockout mouse (Cnr2<sup>tmZim</sup>) was generated in 2000 in chimeras of 129 (H-2b) and C57BL/6 (H2-b) mice by inactivation of the *CNR2* gene using homologous recombination to eliminate part of the intracellular loop 3, transmembrane domains 6 and 7, and the carboxyl extremity of the receptor (Buckley et al. 2000). In this model of CB2 inactivation, CB1 expression and function is unaltered and there are no morphological differences between these mice and their wild type counterparts. At a cellular level, one study found that CB2-null mice present with abnormal development of certain subsets of T and B cells (Ziring et al. 2006), however, spontaneous

development of any observable immune disorder has never been noted in these mice. It should be noted that strain-specific genetic effects can still be observed even after extensive backcrossing. WT mice should be obtained from the same breeder in order to identify whether an experimental outcome is CB2-dependent or a genetic effect specific to the strain.

A second CB2 knockout mouse was generated by Deltagen (Cnr2<sup>tm1Dgen</sup>) and is available from Jackson Labs (Bar Harbor, ME). Inactivation of CNR2 was achieved by homologous recombination in E14 stem cells from129P2/OlaHsd mice followed by at least 5 generations of backcrossing with a mixed C57BL/6J;C57BL/6N background. In a study comparing Cnr2<sup>tmZim</sup> and Cnr2<sup>tm1Dgen</sup>, it was found that GRP55 signaling was impaired only in Cnr2<sup>tmZim</sup> mice (Sisay et al. 2013). Cnr2<sup>tmZim</sup> mice still have the ability to generate a truncated CB2 message due to the presence of an intact CNR2 promotor and N terminus, and it is possible that GRP55 signaling is affected by a dysfunctional CB2 message or signal (Buckley et al. 2000; Sisay et al. 2013). Other differences seen between the two CB2 knockout models may reflect differences in their genetic backgrounds. Despite this, both CB2-deficient mice models are widely accepted and used; the use of CB2-null mice has proven to be an instrumental tool in cannabinoid research and defining a role for CB2 in various inflammatory disease models.

#### ECS and Atherosclerosis

Clinical and experimental data has emerged indicating that local and systemic fluctuations in expression of ECS components is strongly associated with atherosclerosis, suggesting that alterations in EC levels or CB receptor expression may represent biomarkers of ongoing vascular disease. Increased systemic ECs are present in patients with coronary artery disease (Sugamura et al. 2009), and CB2 expression is upregulated in activated macrophages

(Carlisle et al. 2002; Rajesh et al. 2008) and has been detected within atherosclerotic plaques of both human coronary arteries and aortas of mice, but is not found in non-diseased vessels (Steffens, Veillard, Arnaud, Pelli, Burger, Staub, Zimmer, Frossard, and Mach 2005a; Montecucco et al. 2012).

The first experimental evidence indicating a role for CB2 in atherosclerosis came from a study by Steffens et al. in 2005, demonstrating that ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice given a low oral dose of THC developed significantly smaller plaques with fewer macrophages than untreated control mice (Steffens, Veillard, Arnaud, Pelli, Burger, Staub, Zimmer, Frossard, and Mach 2005b). Coadministration of SR144528, a CB2-selective antagonist, reversed the effects of THC on lesion progression, providing strong evidence that the effects of THC on atherosclerosis were mediated by CB2. It should be noted that the dose of THC used in this study was below that at which psychotropic effects are produced, a major concern for the development of cannabinoid-based therapies. Similar effects were seen with WIN55,212-2, a potent synthetic CB receptor agonist that produces similar effects as those seen with THC. In one study by our laboratory, two weeks of daily intraperitoneal injections of WIN55,212-2 in early atherogenic Ldlr-'-CB2-'- mice resulted in reduced plasma triglycerides and decreased macrophage accumulation in aortic root plaques (Netherland-Van Dyke et al. 2015). These results were consistent with our previous findings that systemic CB2-deletion resulted in increased macrophage infiltration in hyperlipidemic Ldlr-null mice (Netherland et al. 2010). Administration of WIN55,212-2 in the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mouse model not only reduced atherosclerotic plaque size and macrophage content, but also decreased expression of VCAM-1 and reduced expression of pro-inflammatory mediators, including blocking NFkB activation by oxLDL (Zhao, Y. Liu, et al. 2010; Zhao, Yuan, Y. Liu, Xue, Tian, W. Liu, W. Zhang, Shen, Xu, Liang, and Chen 2010a). These effects were blunted in

the presence of a CB2-selective antagonist AM630, providing evidence of these results also being CB2-dependent. Since VCAM-1 is a necessary component of transendothelial migration of blood monocytes and other components of the immune system, a reduction in its expression on the endothelium could hinder the progression of plaque size by limiting the rate at which monocytes migrate into the subendothelial space. Several *in vitro* studies have also confirmed the role of CB2 in macrophage infiltration and expression of cell adhesion molecules.

Administration of both HU-308 and JWH-133 blunted TNFα-induced VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 expression on human coronary artery endothelial cells (HCAECs) (Rajesh et al. 2007), and this effect was also seen with WIN55,212-2 administration in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) (Zhao, Y. Liu, et al. 2010). Both studies also showed a reduction in adhesion of monocytes, and the effects on both endothelial cells and monocytes were all blunted in the presence of a CB2-selective antagonist. Steffens et. al. also provided evidence for low doses of THC inhibiting macrophage migration in response to MCP-1, which was blocked by SR144528 (Steffens, Veillard, Arnaud, Pelli, Burger, Staub, Zimmer, Frossard, and Mach 2005b). Further, the effects of THC were not seen in macrophages isolated from CB2-null mice.

In addition to affecting migration of macrophages, CB2 activation may also affect migration of other cell types in atherosclerosis. Our laboratory observed that CB2 deficiency resulted in increased SMC content within atherosclerotic plaques of Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Netherland et al. 2010). In agreement with this, activation of CB2 with JWH-133 or HU-308 blunted the TNF $\alpha$ -induced proliferation and migration of SMCs isolated from human coronary arteries (HCASMCs) *in vitro*, by diminishing the activation of the MAPK pathway involved in VSMC migration and proliferation in humans (Rajesh et al. 2008). This effect was blocked by co-

administration of CB2 antagonists AM630 and SR144528 but was unchanged by the presence of a CB1-specific antagonist.

CB2 also modulates protease-mediated vulnerability of atherosclerotic plaques. Components of the ECM, particularly collagen, play a very important role in maintaining the structural integrity of vessels and plaques. Degradation of the ECM by MMPs leads to breakdown of collagen fibers, leaving atherosclerotic plaques weakened and more prone to rupture (Pasterkamp et al. 2000). The most common MMPs implicated in rupture-prone regions of atherosclerotic plaques are MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-9 (Newby 2005; Dollery and Libby 2006) and an inverse correlation exists between the levels of CB2 and MMP9 content in atherogenic vessels from humans (Montecucco et al. 2012) and mice (Netherland et al. 2010). Further, our laboratory found that systemic CB2 deficiency resulted in decreased collagen content and increased elastin fragmentation in aortic plaques of Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> mice after 12 weeks of HFD, in addition to a 57% increase in MMP9 activity (Netherland et al. 2010). Other studies have discovered that MMP9 activity in immune cells is suppressed by pharmacological activation of CB2 and induced by CB2 antagonism (Ghosh et al. 2006; Tauber et al. 2009; Netherland et al. 2010). In vitro studies have shown that pre-incubation of human primary neutrophils with JWH-133 results in a reduction in MMP9 release stimulated by TNF- $\alpha$ , which is blunted with co-administration with AM630 (Montecucco et al. 2012). It is possible that CB2mediated increases in MMP9 are, at least in part, responsible for subsequent increases in infiltration of immune cells into the plaque area due to the breakdown of structural components within the luminal endothelium. Interestingly, CB2 deficiency had no effect on collagen content, elastin fragmentation, or MMP9 activity in plaques of Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> mice after 8 weeks of HFD feeding (Netherland et al. 2010). This suggests that CB2-dependent mechanisms involved in regulation

of ECM degradation may not come into play in initial stages of plaque development but play a protective role in more advanced lesions.

Due to their rapid catabolism, the administration of ECs in murine models to evaluate the effects of chronically elevated EC levels on atherosclerosis is not feasible. To overcome this limitation, mice lacking either FAAH or MAGL, the enzymes primarily responsible for catabolism of AEA and 2-AG, respectively, were developed. Mice lacking FAAH cannot efficiently degrade AEA and therefore accumulate substantially higher AEA levels in brain and peripheral tissues (Cravatt et al. 2001). FAAH-deficient mice have exaggerated CB1-dependent behavioral responses to AEA, including hypomotility, analgesia, catalepsy, and hypothermia, and also display an anti-inflammatory phenotype (Schlosburg et al. 2009; Zimmer 2015). Lenglet et al. created FAAH<sup>-/-</sup>ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice to evaluate atherosclerosis in the setting of enhanced AEA levels due to FAAH deficiency (Lenglet et al. 2013). Compared to ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice, FAAH<sup>-/-</sup>ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice have significantly elevated plasma AEA levels and develop smaller plaques with characteristics strongly associated with increased vulnerability to rupture, including elevated neutrophils, increased MMP-9 expression and lower SMC content. Pharmacological inhibition of FAAH activity in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice produced very similar results (Hoyer et al. 2014). The role of cannabinoid receptors in the observed plaque destabilizing effects of FAAH deficiency was not evaluated in these studies. The fact that AEA is a weak partial CB1 agonist and is nearly inactive as a CB2 agonist (Sugiura et al. 1995; Gonsiorek et al. 2000; Di Marzo and De Petrocellis 2012), makes it likely that elevated AEA levels promote formation of less stable plaque via CB1-mediated mechanisms. Conclusive evidence of the role of CB1/CB2 in promoting the vulnerable plaque phenotype resulting from impaired FAAH activity will require additional studies of the effects of either genetic ablation, or pharmacological antagonism, of

CB1 and CB2 on the plaque phenotype in FAAH<sup>-/-</sup>ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice and/or ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice treated with a FAAH inhibitor.

In 2011, Taschler et al. generated MAGL knockout mice to investigate the pathophysiological consequences of systemic elevation of 2-AG. These mice exhibit substantially less MAGL activity with concomitant increases in 2-AG levels in all tissues examined (white adipose, liver and brain) (Taschler et al. 2011). Vujic et. al. determined the effects of impaired 2-AG metabolism on atherosclerosis by creating MAGL-/- ApoE-/- mice (Vujic et al. 2016). When fed an atherogenic diet, MAGL<sup>-/-</sup>ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice develop significantly elevated 2-AG levels in plasma and in aortic tissue compared to ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice. In vitro, macrophages isolated from MAGL-/- ApoE-/- mice displayed impaired capacity to form foam cells as evidenced by significantly reduced lipid loading and expression of CD36. Somewhat surprisingly, the plaques in MAGL<sup>-/-</sup>ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice were larger than in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice, even though macrophage and lipid content were slightly reduced. This apparent discrepancy was explained by the observation that collagen and SMC content were both substantially increased in MAGL<sup>-/-</sup>ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> plaques, resulting in thicker fibrous caps and a more stable plaque phenotype. Notably, when MAGL<sup>-/-</sup> ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice were given SR144528, plaques increased in size and became less stable resembling those in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice, indicating that plaque stabilization in the setting of MAGL deficiency likely results from 2-AG activation of CB2-dependent mechanisms.

In contrast to the studies performed in the setting of reduced systemic MAGL-mediated degradation of 2-AG (Hoyer et al. 2014; Vujic et al. 2016), Jehle et. al. employed adoptive transfer of bone marrow stem cells to evaluated atherosclerosis under conditions of myeloid-specific deficiency in DAG lipase  $\alpha$  (DAGL $\alpha$ ), a key enzyme in the biosynthesis of 2-AG (Jehle et al. 2016). Macrophages isolated from ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice reconstituted with bone marrow from

mice lacking DAGLα had greatly reduced DAGLα activity and 2-AG levels compared to wild type macrophages; however, plasma levels of 2-AG were notably unchanged and only slightly reduced in aortic tissue, indicating that macrophage synthesis of 2-AG does not significantly contribute to circulating 2-AG levels in plasma or in aortic tissue. Consistent with the correlation established between decreased 2-AG degradation and enhanced plaque size in studies of MAGL deficiency, myeloid-specific deficiency in 2-AG synthesis correlated with decreased plaque size. Interestingly, systemic MAGL deficiency and myeloid-specific DAGLα deficiency, despite having opposite effects on 2-AG levels and plaque size, were both associated with substantially reduced immune cell infiltration (neutrophil granulocytes and macrophages). However, only 2-AG elevation resulting from MAGL-deficiency altered the SMC and collagen content of plaques. Together, these results indicate that macrophage 2-AG exerts a proinflammatory effect on early lesion formation by accelerating the infiltration of immune cells into the vessel wall, and suggests that as plaques progress, non-myeloid-derived cells become active to exert plaque stabilizing mechanisms in response to chronic elevation of 2-AG.

Although FAAH and MAGL have substrates in addition to AEA and 2-AG which may contribute to the observed effects on atherosclerosis, these studies provide compelling evidence that alteration of AEA and 2-AG homeostasis affects plaque phenotype. The opposite effects on plaque stability imparted by systemic MAGL deficiency and systemic FAAH deficiency strongly suggests that the primary endocannabinoid substrates of these enzymes (2-AG and AEA) are modulators of plaque phenotype, with AEA activation of CB1-dependent mechanisms decreasing plaque stability and 2-AG activation of CB2-dependent mechanisms increasing stability. Further, although there were some contradictory conclusions among the early studies of the effects of CB2 gene deletion on atherogenesis (Netherland et al. 2010; Delsing et al. 2011;

Hoyer et al. 2011; Willecke et al. 2011), most likely arising from differences in the genetic backgrounds of the CB2 knockout mice strains (Cnr2<sup>tmZim</sup> vs Cnr2<sup>tm1Dgen</sup>), the atherosclerosisprone murine models (ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> vs Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup>), and the methods of analysis used in the studies, the accumulating evidence from *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies has coalesced into a consensus interpretation that CB2 signaling modulates the formation and progression of atherosclerotic plaque. Taken together, these results support an anti-atherosclerotic role for CB2 activation, at least in part, through modulation of inflammatory processes and biochemical signaling pathways involved in atherosclerotic plaque formation and stability. Further studies could potentially result in a CB2-selective therapy that aims to reduce inflammation and related plaque vulnerability in atherosclerosis.

Our laboratory previously found that systemic CB2 gene deletion resulted in changes in plaque cellularity of Ldlr-null mice fed a HFD for up to 12 weeks, a time frame known to induce beginning stages of atherosclerotic plaque development. We hypothesized that CB2 modulates key pathways in later stages of atherogenesis, some of which affect plaque stability and predisposition to rupture. The clinical relevance of our research lies in the time of analysis, as most patients do not begin treatment until plaques have already progressed over several decades. Our lab is also the first, to my knowledge, to assess CB2-dependent effects on plaque calcification in advanced lesions. Results from this basic research provides a promising strategy to reduce the burden of atherosclerosis, especially among populations in Western countries where atherosclerosis and associated complications account for the highest cause of death.

# Specific Aims

<u>Aim 1</u>: Determine the effect of systemic CB2 deletion on plaque cellularity in advanced atherosclerotic lesions in Ldlr-null mice fed an atherogenic diet.

<u>Aim 2</u>: Determine the effect of systemic CB2 deletion on calcification of advanced plaques in Ldlr-null mice.

<u>Aim 3</u>: Identify effects of CB2 pharmacological targeting on atherosclerotic and vascular calcification.

# CHAPTER 2

# CANNABINOID RECEPTOR TYPE 2 (CB2) DEFICIENCY ALTERS LESION CELLULARITY OF ADVANCED ATHEROSCLEROTIC PLAQUES IN HYPERLIPIDEMIC LDLR-NULL MICE

Makenzie L Fulmer<sup>1</sup>, Emilee Englehaupt<sup>1</sup>, Chris Garst<sup>2</sup>, Stacy Brown<sup>2</sup> and Douglas P. Thewke<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biomedical Sciences, Center for Inflammation, Infectious Disease and Immunity, Quillen College of Medicine, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN, USA

<sup>2</sup>Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Bill Gatton College of Pharmacy, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN, USA

\* Corresponding Author. Mailing address: James H. Quillen College of Medicine, ETSU, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Box 70582, Johnson City, TN 37614 Phone: (423) 439-2131. Fax: (423) 439-2030. E-mail: thewke@etsu.edu

Keywords: Atherosclerosis, Cannabinoid receptor 2, Macrophages, Smooth Muscle Cell, Inflammation

#### <u>Abstract</u>

Objective: Cannabinoid receptor 2 (CB2) has been shown to play a role in the early stages of atherogenesis, however, the involvement of CB2 in advanced atherosclerotic lesion progression has not yet been examined. To determine if CB2 plays a role in advanced atherosclerotic lesion composition and progression, we investigated the effects of systemic CB2 gene deletion on advanced atherogenesis in Ldlr-null mice fed an atherogenic high fat diet (HFD). Methods and results: Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup>CB2<sup>+/+</sup> (CB2<sup>+/+</sup>) and Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup>CB2<sup>-/-</sup> (CB2<sup>-/-</sup>) were fed an atherogenic diet for at least 20 weeks to induce the formation of advanced lesions. Morphometric analysis revealed no significant difference between the atherosclerotic lesion area in the aortic root of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice after 20 or 24 weeks of HFD, however, there was an increase in abdominal lesions present in aortas of CB2-/- mice after 20 weeks of atherogenic diet (17.0±1.3 versus  $9.0\pm1.3\%$ , p<0.05). Immunohistochemical staining of the aortic root revealed no difference in smooth muscle cell (SMC) content between the two genotypes, but a significant increase in the presence of macrophages in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared the CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice (18.8 $\pm$ 3.5 versus 8.7±1.7%; p<0.05) after 20 weeks of HFD feeding. The ratio of atherosclerotic lesion SMCs/macrophages is used as a determinant of lesion stability and was significantly reduced in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice ( $0.94\pm0.09$  versus 1.96 $\pm0.24$ ; p=0.001). Histological staining revealed no discernible difference in collagen content in CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice after 20 weeks. Initial zvmography studies show increased matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9 activity in aortic lysates at several time points in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice, with a 5-fold increase observed after 22 weeks of atherogenic diet.

Conclusions: CB2 receptor deficiency affects late stages of atherogenesis by increasing lesional macrophage content, decreasing lesion stability through decreasing SMC/macrophage ratio and

upregulating MMP activity. This data supports a protective role for CB2 in late stages of atherosclerosis. Information obtained from this study could be used to produce a CB2-specific therapy aimed at reducing the morbidity and mortality from atherosclerosis by reducing macrophage accumulation and increasing lesional stability.

# Introduction

Heart disease, specifically coronary heart disease (CHD), is the leading cause of death in the U.S. (Hansson and Hermansson, 2011; Benjamin et al., 2017). The underlying cause of CHD is atherosclerosis, a chronic inflammatory disease of the vascular system that is characterized by the buildup of plaques, composed of lipids and other cellular debris, within arterial walls (Libby, 2012). Atherosclerosis begins when apolipoprotein B (apoB)-containing low-density lipoproteins (LDL) become sequestered in the intima of arterial walls, rendering them vulnerable to a series of chemical changes, such as oxidation to form oxLDL. These modifications allow the LDL particles to mimic molecular patterns associated with pathogens that trigger a pro-inflammatory immune response. An initial response seen to oxLDL accumulation is the activation of endothelial cells, characterized by upregulation of integrins that interact with adhesion molecules that facilitate the entry of immune cells such as monocytes and T lymphocytes (Amberger et al., 1997). Monocytes are recruited to the subendothelial regions where modified LDL is accumulated, differentiate into macrophages, and act as phagocytes to engulf the modified LDL. Expression of scavenger receptors leads to increased influx of LDL particles, leading to the conversion of macrophages to cholesterol-laden foam cells, a hallmark of atherosclerosis. Foam cells are retained in plaques and eventually contribute to disease progression by promoting insufficient lipid metabolism, further compromising fundamental immune functions. Foam cells that are accumulated in plaques become stationary and frequently die via necrosis or apoptosis, releasing their internal lipid content and immune components, which contributes to plaque instability and rupture (Hansson and Hermansson, 2011).

Retention of more lipids and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IFN $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF $\alpha$ , by immune cells aids in the multifactorial progression of atherosclerotic plaques.

Early atherosclerotic lesions are typically found in younger individuals with no clinical consequences. These lesions are classified as either "fatty streaks" or "intimal thickening". Fatty streaks are characterized by foam cell accumulation that lacks a necrotic core, while intimal thickening is SMC accumulation without the presence of foam cells or lipids (Rosenfeld et al., 2000). During intermediate stages of lesion development, partial resolution is obtained by the formation of a fibrous cap from smooth muscle cells (SMCs) and collagen. The fibrous cap acts to stabilize the contents of the plaque and serves as a barrier to separate platelets from the blood and clotting factors contained within the lesion (Tabas et al., 2015). Lesions in this stage are considered to be stable and therefore typically do not result in adverse clinical events (Virmani et al., 2002). Over time lesions can develop a vulnerable phenotype, rendering them prone to rupture and initiating acute thrombotic complications. Features of this advanced lesion include large areas of necrosis, fibrous cap thinning, and increase inflammation. Thinning of the fibrous cap is caused by increased degradation of collagen and other ECM proteins by proteolytic enzymes called matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). Several classes of MMPs exist, and the gelatinase MMP-9 has gained much interest in the role it plays in atherosclerosis. MMP-9 expression by macrophages within the plaque is positively correlated with oxLDL concentration (Suzue et al., 2007) and is associated with fibrous cap thinning and plaque rupture (Newby, 2007). Heightened inflammatory responses seen in advanced plaques leads to excess MMP secretion coupled with diminished capacity of SMCs to synthesize collagen. Weakening of the fibrous cap can allow fissures to form, exposing macrophage-derived clotting factors to the blood flowing through the lumen of the artery, leading to detrimental thrombolytic activity that can result in acute heart attack or stroke.

The endocannabinoid system consists of endocannabinoid ligands, their catabolic enzymes, and the receptors at which they function (Smith et al., 2015). Two G-protein coupled receptors, cannabinoid (CB) type 1 (CB1) and type 2 (CB2), have been characterized (Matsuda et al., 1990; Munro, 2015). The CB1 receptor is primarily located in the CNS and is responsible for the psychotropic effects of cannabinoids (Schlicker and Kathmann, 2001). CB2 is primarily expressed on peripheral immune cells, exerting an immunomodulatory role in response to cannabinoids (Galiègue et al., 1995; Buckley et al., 2000; Netherland et al., 2010) and further gaining interest as a drug target for inflammatory diseases (Mach et al., 2008; Pacher and Ungvari, 2008). Patients with coronary artery disease have elevated levels of circulating endocannabinoids (Sugamura et al., 2009), and both humans and mice express the CB2 receptor in atherosclerotic lesions but not in non-diseased vessels (Steffens et al., 2005), suggesting a functional signaling role for CB2 in atherosclerosis. Further studies have also supported this finding by showing that cannabinoid therapy reduces atherosclerotic lesion progression, an incidence that is blunted by co-administration of a CB2-selective antagonist (Steffens et al., 2005; Zhao et al., 2010b). Several in vitro studies have shown CB2-dependent effects on monocyte adhesion and infiltration (Rajesh et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2010a), and our laboratory was the first to confirm a role for CB2 in early plaque macrophage content by CB2 gene deletion in a murine model of atherosclerosis (Netherland et al., 2010).

To our knowledge, no other studies have explored the effects of genetic knockdown of CB2 on advanced atherosclerotic plaque formation in Ldlr-null mice fed an extensive high fat diet. In this study, we examined the effects of CB2 deletion on the cellularity and stability of advanced atherosclerotic lesions. Due to the fact that patients typically do not begin intervention until they are in the advanced stages of atherosclerosis, it is important to uncover treatments that

can be beneficial in later disease stages. The results from this study may hold important clinical implications for the development and of CB2-directed drug therapies that could potentially reduce the burden of unstable atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease.

# Materials and Methods

# Animals and diet-induced atherosclerosis protocol

All mice were housed in a pathogen-free, temperature- and humidity-controlled room in the Animal Research Facility at East Tennessee State University. Mice were maintained on a standard chow diet (Ralston Purina, St. Louis, MO) with water provided ad libitum. All animal procedures were approved by and conducted in accordance with the guidelines administered by the Institutional Animal Care and Usage Committee of East Tennessee State University and in conformity with the Public Health Service Policy on Humane Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the National Institutes of Health. CB2 receptor knockout (Buckley et al., 2000) in the C57BL/J6 background (a generous gift from Dr. Nancy Buckley, California State Polytechnic University, Panoma, CA) were crossed with Ldlr-null mice backcrossed to the C57BL/J6 background for ten generations (The Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, ME) to generate CB2<sup>-/-</sup>Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> (CB2<sup>-/-</sup>) and CB2<sup>+/+</sup>Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> (CB2<sup>+/+</sup>) mice as described (Netherland et al., 2010). Genotyping was performed using PCR analysis of DNA isolated from tail clips using Ldlr- and CB2-specific primers. Age-matched male and female CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were used for all experiments. At eight weeks of age, groups of male and female CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were placed on an atherogenic, high-fat diet (HFD) consisting of 21% fat and 0.15% cholesterol (Harlan Teklad, Madison, WI) for at least 20 weeks.

# Analysis of atherosclerosis

Animals were euthanized as previously described (Netherland et al., 2010). Briefly, mice were anesthetized and perfused via left ventricle with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The heart and aorta were dissected and the aortas were placed in 10% formalin at 4°C and the heart tissue

was embedded in OCT medium and snap frozen. OCT-embedded hearts were mounted in a Leica CM1850 cryostat and 8µm sections of the aortic root were collected. Tissue cryosections were stained for neutral lipids using oil-red O and counterstained with hematoxylin as described (Netherland et al., 2010; Netherland-Van Dyke et al., 2015). Digital images were captured using an EVOS FL digital imaging system (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hartfield, PA). Fixed aortas were prepared using *en face* method and lipids were stained using Sudan IV reagent. Atherosclerotic lesions present in the aortic root and throughout the aorta were measured morphometrically using the ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD). Measurements were independently performed by two observers in a blind fashion.

# Physiological parameters

Blood samples were collected and analyzed as previously described (Netherland et al., 2010). Briefly, overnight-fasted blood was collected from anesthetized mice via cardiac puncture. Plasma was separated by centrifugation and analyzed for total plasma cholesterol and triglycerides levels using commercially available kits (Pointe Scientific, Inc., Canton, MI) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

### Histological and immunohistochemical staining

Prior to histological staining, fresh frozen aortic root sections were thawed and air dried for 1 h and rehydrated. The presence of collagen was determined using Mason's Trichrome staining. For immunohistochemical staining, cryosections were thawed and air dried at room temperature for 1h and fixed in ice-cold acetone for 10min. Sections were dried and pretreated with 1% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in PBS for 0.5h before being rinsed and blocked in normal serum for 0.5h at room

temperature. Detection of VSMCs and macrophages were accomplished by using anti-smooth muscle α-actin (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA; RB-9010PO) (diluted 1:200) and MOMA2 (Chemicon International, Temecula, CA; MAB1852) (diluted 1:1000), respectively. Sections were developed using a Vector Labs Elite ABC kit (Burlingame, CA) and counterstained with methyl green at 55°C for 5 min. Quantification of staining was performed by use of computer-assisted image analysis using ImageJ, and a standard threshold for staining that discriminated between positive and negative lesion areas was applied to all specimens analyzed. All evaluations were performed by a trained observer unaware of genotype or sample type.

# Zymography

Aortic lysates were resolved on 10% SDS-PAGE gels containing gelatin (1mg/ml) and electrophoresed under nonreducing conditions. Gel proteins were renatured, washed, and activated as previously described (Netherland et al., 2010). Proteolytic activity was represented as zones of lysis that could be visualized in the background of Coomassie blue staining. Quantification was performed using ImageJ software.

# LC-MS/MS measurement of aortic endocannabinoid levels

Quantification of aortic 2-arachydonoyl glycerol (2-AG) and anandamide (AEA) levels was performed using a Shimadzu liquid chromatography system coupled to a Shimadzu IT-TOF mass spectrometer with an electrospray (Columbia, MD) as previously described (Garst et al., 2016). Briefly, analytes were extracted using a liquid-liquid extraction method using toluene, evaporated to dryness under nitrogen and reconstituted in acetonitrile. Spiked standards were prepared using octadeuterated internal standards. Injections were performed with 10µL of reconstituted sample at a flow rate of 0.200mL/min and detection was achieved utilizing a direct MS/MS method in positive electrospray. Amount of 2-AG and AEA was normalized to the weight of the tissue sample.

# Statistical Analysis

Data is presented as mean± SEM. Data were analyzed by Student's t-test or one-way ANOVA

using SigmaPlot Software. p<0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

# **Results**

# CB2 deficiency affects the extent of lesion formation in the distal aorta

Throughout the study, no significant effect on plasma lipid levels was observed between the two genotypes (Figure 2.1c-d). Increases in mean body mass were observed in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice after HFD feeding for 20 weeks (males: 42.1±1.9 versus 34.1±2.2 grams, respectively; p=0.01, females: 27.4±1.7 versus 22.8±0.6 grams, respectively; p=0.003) and 24 weeks (males: 42.1±2.1 versus 33.2±2.1 grams, respectively; p=0.01, females: 32.6±1.7 versus 22.3±1.0 grams, respectively; p=0.0001) (Figure 2.1a-b). Atherosclerotic lesion development was quantified in the aortic root and throughout the thoracic and abdominal aorta (Figure 2.2). No difference in mean percent of aortic root occupied by lesion was observed between CB2<sup>+/+</sup> or CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice after 20 weeks ( $55.7\pm3.8$  versus  $52.2\pm3.7\%$ , respectively; p=0.527) or 24 weeks (53.2±1.3 versus 52.3±2.6%, respectively; p=0.734) of HFD feeding. Examination of the extent of atherosclerosis in en face prepared aortas was performed in designated aortic segments: aortic arch, thoracic aorta, abdominal aorta. Quantification revealed a significant increase ( $\sim$ 1.9 fold) in the percentage of abdominal aorta surface occupied by lesions in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice after 24 weeks of HFD (17.0±1.3 versus  $9.0\pm1.3\%$ , respectively; p=0.002). However, no difference in percentage of area occupied by lesion was observed between  $CB2^{+/+}$  and  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice in the aortic arch (57.1±1.8 versus  $54.9\pm2.0\%$ , respectively; p=0.4) or thoracic aorta (17.4 $\pm2.6$  versus 12.9 $\pm2.1\%$ , respectively; p=0.2).



Figure 2.1 CB2 deficiency increases weight in Ldlr-null mice after 20 weeks of atherogenic diet. Weights of female (A) and male (B)  $CB2^{+/+}$  and  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice after 20 and 24 weeks of atherogenic diet. Serum levels of cholesterol (C) and triglycerides (D) from  $CB2^{+/+}$  and  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice after 20 and 24 weeks of atherogenic diet. Data represents means (n≥8)±SEM. \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.001.



Figure 2.2 CB2 deficiency does not affect extent of atherosclerosis development in the aortic root but does affect plaque development in the abdominal aorta of Ldlr-null mice after 20 weeks of HFD. (A) Representative photomicrographs of oil red O-stained aortic root cross sections from CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice after 20 weeks of HFD. B) Representative photographs of *en faced* aortas from CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice stained with Sudan IV after 24 weeks of HFD. Quantification of the percent lesion area in the aortic root (C) and aortic lumen (D) of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Data represents means (n=6-8)±SEM. \*p<0.05 compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup>

# CB2 deficiency slightly elevates aortic 2-AG levels with no effect on AEA

Aortas were analyzed to determine levels of two endocannabinoids, 2-arachydonoyl

glycerol (2-AG) and anandamide (AEA) (Figure 2.3). LC-MS/MS analysis of aortic tissue

revealed no difference in either 2-AG or AEA between either genotype or chow-fed controls after 8 weeks of HFD. After 12 weeks of HFD, aortic levels of 2-AG and AEA were increased significantly in both CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to chow-fed controls (CB2<sup>+/+</sup> versus chow 2-AG, p=0.004; CB2<sup>+/+</sup> versus chow AEA, p=0.003; CB2<sup>-/-</sup> versus chow 2-AG, p=0.0001; CB2<sup>-/-</sup> versus chow AEA, p=0.0006). 2-AG levels were significantly higher in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice (0.6±0.05 versus 0.4±0.04 nM/mg, respectively; p=0.03). Although aortas from CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice had slightly more AEA than CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice, the levels were not statistically significant between genotypes (155.2±11.3 versus 146.3±11.8 nM/mg, respectively; p=0.6). After 24 weeks of HFD, the aortic levels of 2-AG were further increased significantly compared to the levels after 12 weeks of HFD for both genotypes, with aortas of CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice having significantly more 2-AG than CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice ( $1.7\pm0.30$  versus  $0.7\pm0.05$  nM/mg, respectively; p=0.0004). Interestingly, after 24 weeks the aortic levels of AEA decreased dramatically to levels below that of chow controls for both CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (0.6±0.06 versus 80.4±13.6 nM/mg; p<0.001) and CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice (0.7±0.1 versus 80.4±13.6 nM/mg; p<0.001). The AEA levels between both genotypes at this time point were comparable (p=0.2). Elevations of endocannabinoids in relation to obesity have been accompanied with subsequent decreases in fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) in humans (Engeli et al., 2005). To parallel the increased body mass and 2-AG levels we observed in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, we also observed a reduction in protein expression of FAAH in CB2-deficient aortas; however, these levels never reached significance (Supplemental Figure 2.6).



Figure 2.3 CB2 deficiency increases aortic 2-AG levels in Ldlr-null mice. Concentrations of 2-AG (panel A) and AEA (panel B) in aortas from  $CB2^{+/+}$  and  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice after HFD feeding for 0, 8, 12, and 24 weeks. Data represents means (n≥8)±SEM. #p<0.001 compared to chow; \$p<0.05 compared to chow; \*p<0.05 between age-matched genotypes.

# CB2 deficiency increases macrophage accumulation in atherosclerotic lesions

Macrophage accumulation in the intima of atherosclerotic lesions was readily detected after 20 weeks of atherogenic diet in both CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice as determined by immunostaining with a MOMA2 antibody (Figure 2.4b). Quantification of the areas staining positive for MOMA2 revealed a significant (~2.2 fold) increase in the macrophage content of aortic root lesions in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice (18.8±3.5 versus 8.7±1.7%, respectively; p=0.03). Immunostaining with a smooth muscle  $\alpha$ -actin antibody revealed migration of SMC from the intima towards the lumen in lesions of wildtype and CB2-deficient mice (Figure 2.4a). Quantification showed equivalent SMC immunoreactivity in both CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> lesions (14.0 $\pm$ 1.1 versus 15.2 $\pm$ 0.6%, respectively; p=0.4). Unstable atherosclerotic lesions contain a reduced ratio of lesional VSMCs relative to macrophages (Tabas et al., 2015). We observed a significant decrease in the ratio of VSMCs relative to macrophages in lesions of CB2<sup>-</sup> <sup>-</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice (0.94±0.09 versus 1.96±0.24, respectively; p=0.001) (Figure 2.4e). Fibrous caps were also significantly thinner in  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice compared to  $CB2^{+/+}$  mice  $(52.8\pm3.8 \text{ versus } 75.7\pm5.9 \text{ } \mu\text{m}, \text{ respectively; } p=0.002)$  (Figure 2.4f). These results indicate that although CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice exhibit equally large lesions, their cellular composition is characterized by a more stable phenotype.



Figure 2.4 Cellular composition of atherosclerotic lesions in CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed an atherogenic diet for 20 weeks. Representative photomicrographs of aortic root cross sections from CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed an atherogenic diet for 20 weeks and immunohistochemically stained for SMCs (A) and macrophages (B) using SM  $\alpha$ -actin and MOMA2 antibodies, respectively. Quantification of SMC (C) and macrophage (D) content of aortic root lesions from

CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Positive immunostaining was quantified and represented as the percentage of the total lesional area. E) Ratio of VSMCs relative to macrophages within atherosclerotic lesions in CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Ratios were calculated from percentage of positive SM  $\alpha$ -actin signal relative to positive MOMA2 signal for all samples. F) Quantification of fibrous cap thickness. Each data point represents an average of 8-10 measurements from each mouse. Data represents means (n=6-8)±SEM.\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.001

#### CB2 deficiency alters the ECM of atherosclerotic lesions

Collagen content of aortic root lesions was assessed by use of Mason's trichrome staining (Figure 2.5a), which revealed no statistical difference between  $CB2^{+/+}$  and  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice after 22 weeks of atherogenic diet (45.2±3.7 versus 50.8±4.6%, respectively; p=0.4). Our laboratory previously detected increased MMP9 activity in atherosclerotic lesions in the aortic root, as well as isolated peritoneal macrophages, of  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice in early lesions (Netherland et al., 2010). We analyzed lysates prepared from the aortic arches of  $CB2^{+/+}$  and  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice to determine MMP9 activity, as this portion of the aorta displays extensive atherosclerosis. Zymography of aortic arch lysates from  $CB2^{+/+}$  and  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice showed a band of gelatinase activity at 92kDa, corresponding with the approximate weight of MMP9 (Figure 2.5b). Quantification of the zymograms confirmed larger zones of lysis corresponding to MMP9 activity in lysates from  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice compared to those from  $CB2^{+/+}$  after 22 weeks of atherogenic diet (4728.9±1306.1 versus 900.6±276.4, respectively; p=0.04).


Figure 2.5 Collagen content and MMP9 activity in advanced atherosclerotic lesions in CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. A) Representative photomicrographs of atherosclerotic lesions in aortic root cross sections stained for collagen after 22 weeks of atherogenic diet (pink). B) Zymogram of MMP9 activity from aortas of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice after 22 weeks of atherogenic diet. C) Quantification of the collagen content of aortic root lesions from CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (n=6). The amount of collagen is represented as a percentage of total lesional area. D) Digital quantification of the MMP9 zones of lysis in the zymogram (n=3). Graphical representation is shown as the band density for 15  $\mu$ m of protein. Data represented as mean±SEM. \*p<0.05.

#### **Discussion**

Several in vivo and in vitro studies suggest a role for CB2 in atherosclerosis (Steffens et al., 2005; Mach et al., 2008; Rajesh et al., 2008; Netherland et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2010c; Netherland-Van Dyke et al., 2015), however, these studies have not been carried out to mimic advanced lesion progression. In the current study, we directly examined the role of CB2 in more advanced atherosclerosis by investigating the effects of systemic CB2 gene deletion on atherosclerosis in Ldlr-null mice fed an atherogenic diet for an extended period of up to 24 weeks. Our study showed that deletion of CB2 did not affect the lesion area in the aortic root of Ldlr-null mice despite the fact that CB2 activation has been shown to decrease lesion size previously. Pharmacological studies have shown that administration of exogenous CB ligands reduced aortic root atherosclerotic lesion size in ApoE-null mice in a CB2-dependent manner (Steffens et al., 2005; Zhao et al., 2010c). Alternatively, our laboratory failed to detect a difference in aortic root lesion size after administration of WIN55,212-2, a CB1/CB2 mixed agonist, in Ldlr-null mice (Netherland-Van Dyke et al., 2015). Contradiction in these results could be attributed to differences between the two murine models of atherosclerosis, as it is well documented that Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> and ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice show variation in lipoprotein profiles and onset of atherogenesis (Daugherty and Rateri). Our study did, however, show an increase in the amount of lesion that occupied the abdominal aorta in CB2-deficient mice. No study until now has shown how CB2 deletion in Ldlr-null mice differentially affects lesion development in specific regions of the aorta.

Our laboratory and others have previously shown a CB2-dependent role in macrophage accumulation in early aortic root lesions (Steffens et al., 2005; Netherland et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2010c). The current study confirms that CB2 deficiency also increases macrophage

accumulation in more advanced atherosclerotic lesions, suggesting that CB2 signaling plays a role in monocyte/macrophage accumulation with effects lasting into later stages of atherogenesis. The result is consistent with studies showing that blocking CB2 signaling results in increased transendothelial migration of monocytes into the vessel wall due to upregulation of adhesion molecules (VCAM-1, ICAM-1, p-selectin) on the surface of endothelial cells (Rajesh et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2010b). However, our study did not measure expression of endothelial cell adhesion molecules, and to our knowledge, tissue macrophage proliferation has never been assessed in a CB2-dependent way. Therefore, it is possible that in advanced lesions the increased macrophage content of CB2<sup>-/-</sup> lesions is due to increased proliferation of lesional macrophages and not to increased transendothelial migration of blood monocytes. We plan to address this issue in future studies.

Proliferation and migration of VSMCs is an important mechanism for stabilizing atherogenic plaques. Our laboratory previously showed that CB2 deficiency increases SMC migration to the fibrous cap regions in early lesions (Netherland et al., 2010) and *in vitro* studies have shown attenuation of TNF $\alpha$ -induced SMC proliferation and migration in a CB2-dependent manner (Rajesh et al., 2008). However, our current study failed to show CB2-dependent loss of SMC staining in late atherosclerotic lesions. There are a few possible explanations for these somewhat contradictory results. First, there are many biochemical cell signaling pathways that can affect SMC migration and proliferation, and it is possible that CB2 modulation of these processes is overshadowed by compensatory pathways that become more involved as the disease progresses. Secondly, recent studies involving lineage tracing of cells in atherosclerotic plaques has provided evidence of phenotype-switching of certain cell types throughout atherogenesis (Lineage tracing of cells involved in atherosclerosis., 2016). Notably, this study found that

almost 20% of CD68-positive macrophage-like cells did not originate from the myeloid lineage, but instead, were derived from mature SM cells. It is possible that CB2 signaling affects SMC phenotype switching. CB2 activation results in an anti-inflammatory response, and its plausible that CB2 deletion increases the transition of SMCs to a macrophage-like phenotype, resulting in increased expression of inflammatory genes. Experiments utilizing a combination of genetic fate mapping and single cell expression analysis in the setting of CB2 gene deletion would have to be employed in a murine model of atherosclerosis to provide insight into the role of CB2, if any, in this process.

Although we previously showed that CB2 deletion resulted in decreased collagen content in early atherosclerotic lesions, the current study did not find an appreciable difference in collagen content between the two genotypes in late lesions. As our results were calculated as a percentage of total lesion area, an increase in acellular regions of lesions from CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice affecting the total lesion area could be responsible for this result. Another explanation for this could be the fact that SMC content was similar between both groups, and SMCs are the primary producer of collagen. Our data suggests that CB2 modulation of SMC proliferation is only observed early in disease development, and becomes less prevalent in advanced stages.

Expression of MMP9 by immune cells is suppressed in the presence of cannabinoid agonists (Ghosh et al., 2006; Tauber et al., 2009), while a dose-dependent increase in MMP9 expression has been observed in macrophages exposed to a CB2-specific antagonist (Netherland et al., 2010). Consistent with this, we found an increase in MMP9 activity in aortic arch lysates of CB2-deficient mice. Increased serum MMP9 levels have been associated with increased risk of acute coronary events in patients with atherosclerosis (Kai et al., 1998; Inokubo et al., 2001) and increased MMP9 expression in atherosclerotic plaques is associated with disease progression

(Wågsäter et al., 2011). Another factor contributing to plaque instability beyond ECM degradation is a reduced ratio of VSMCs to macrophages within the lesion (Tabas et al., 2015), and our data showed a significant reduction in this ratio associated with CB2 gene deletion. However, as mentioned before, lineage tracing has provided evidence for switching of VSMCs to a macrophage-like phenotype, which potentially could affect this result if the phenotype switching is affected by CB2 signaling. Due to the lack of a definitive lineage tracing study in the setting of CB2 gene deletion, a considerable ambiguity exists regarding which cells are in fact derived from SMC mesenchymal lineage versus macrophage myeloid lineage.

The role of the ECS and CB1 specifically in the control of food intake, energy balance and body mass has been well-documented (Kirkham et al., 2002; Cota et al., 2003; Matias et al., 2006; Dodd et al., 2009). CB1 activation results in increased adipocyte differentiation and lipogenesis (Cota et al., 2003; Gasperi et al., 2007), and, accordingly, CB1 inhibition has been shown to protect against HFD-induced weight gain and also reduces body weight in obese animals and humans (Després et al., 2005; Pi-Sunyer et al., 2006; Scheen and Van Gaal, 2007; Dol-Gleizes et al., 2009; Engeli, 2012). The observed increases in body weight and aortic 2-AG levels in CB2-deficient mice are likely associated with each other, and could be explained by increased CB1 expression/signaling, as it is possible that CB1 is upregulated as a compensatory mechanism due to the absence of CB2. It has also been observed that CB1 expression in adipose tissue is increased in the presence of HFD-induced obesity in mice (Osei-Hyiaman et al., 2005), and 2-AG levels are increased in epididymal fat pads of obese animals in comparison to lean mice (Matias et al., 2006). Further, 2-AG administration in the limbic forebrain of animals increases food intake in a CB1-mediated, dose-dependent manner (Kirkham et al., 2002). It appears that CB1 and 2-AG both exhibit a "cause-and-effect" phenomenon, where both are

upregulated as a result of obesity, but also promote obesity through their biological functions. It is also likely that upregulation of CB1 affects 2-AG production, as biosynthesis of 2-AG in pathological conditions appears to occur selectively, requiring retrograde regulation mediated by CB1 (Di Marzo and De Petrocellis, 2012).

Alterations in the concentrations of 2-AG and AEA occur in many pathological conditions, and it is not uncommon to see opposite regulation of the two (Ligresti et al., 2009). The observed decrease in aortic AEA levels in both genotypes after 24 weeks of HFD is likely due to increased leptin production occurring in response to enhanced fat storage. Leptin is a hormone secreted by adipocytes that modulates food intake and energy balance by upregulating anorexigenic factors (Di Marzo et al., 2001; Brennan and Mantzoros, 2006). Several studies have shown an inverse correlation between AEA and leptin levels, and leptin inhibits endogenous AEA levels in the brain and uterus of rodents as well as in human blood (Maccarrone et al., 2003; Di Marzo et al., 2004; Maccarrone et al., 2005).

Collectively, these results provide additional evidence that supports a protective role of CB2 signaling in the progression of atherosclerosis. Previous studies reported an anti-atherogenic role for CB2 in early atherosclerotic lesion formation and progression, and our present study provides the first direct evidence of CB2 gene expression playing a role in modulating the cellular composition and stability of advanced lesions. These results support a potential use for pharmacological compounds with selective activity at CB2 in the treatment of atherosclerotic lesions which have progressed to an advanced stage. Uncovering a treatment regimen which could provide beneficial modifications of lesion compositions in later stages of disease development. This would be extremely clinically relevant, as most affected patients do not begin

receiving pharmacological intervention until after suffering from an initial acute episode resulting from rupture of an advanced lesion.

# Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest to disclose.

## Acknowledgements

Funding: This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health grants HL113878-01A1 and C06RR030651-01.

### References

- Amberger, A.; Maczek, C.; Jürgens, G.; Michaelis, D.; Schett, G.; Trieb, K.; Eberl, T.; Jindal, S.; Xu, Q.; Wick, G. Co-Expression of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, ELAM-1 and Hsp60 in Human Arterial and Venous Endothelial Cells in Response to Cytokines and Oxidized Low-Density Lipoproteins. *Cell Stress Chaperones* **1997**, *2* (2), 94–103.
- Benjamin, E. J.; Blaha, M. J.; Chiuve, S. E.; Cushman, M.; Das, S. R.; Deo, R.; de Ferranti, S. D.; Floyd, J.; Fornage, M.; Gillespie, C.; et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2017 Update: a Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2017, *135* (10), e146–e603.
- Brennan, A. M.; Mantzoros, C. S. Drug Insight: the Role of Leptin in Human Physiology and Pathophysiology--Emerging Clinical Applications. *Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab* 2006, 2 (6), 318–327.
- Buckley, N. E.; McCoy, K. L.; Mezey, E.; Bonner, T.; Felder, C. C.; Glass, M.; Zimmer, A. Immunomodulation by Cannabinoids Is Absent in Mice Deficient for the Cannabinoid CB(2) Receptor. *European Journal of Pharmacology* **2000**, *396* (2-3), 141–149.
- Cota, D.; Marsicano, G.; Tschöp, M.; Grübler, Y.; Flachskamm, C.; Schubert, M.; Auer, D.;
   Yassouridis, A.; Thöne-Reineke, C.; Ortmann, S.; et al. The Endogenous Cannabinoid
   System Affects Energy Balance via Central Orexigenic Drive and Peripheral Lipogenesis.
   J. Clin. Invest. 2003, 112 (3), 423–431.
- Daugherty, A.; Rateri, D. L. Development of Experimental Designs for Atherosclerosis Studies in Mice - ScienceDirect. *sciencedirect.com*. Lexington pp 129–138.
- Després, J.-P.; Golay, A.; Sjöström, L. Effects of Rimonabant on Metabolic Risk Factors in Overweight Patients with Dyslipidemia. *New England Journal of Medicine* **2005**, *353* (20), 2121–2134.
- Di Marzo, V.; Bifulco, M.; De Petrocellis, L. The Endocannabinoid System and Its Therapeutic Exploitation. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* **2004**, *3* (9), 771–784.
- Di Marzo, V.; De Petrocellis, L. Why Do Cannabinoid Receptors Have More Than One Endogenous Ligand? *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B* **2012**, *367* (1607), 3216–3228.
- Di Marzo, V.; Goparaju, S. K.; Wang, L.; Liu, J.; Bátkai, S.; Járai, Z.; Fezza, F.; Miura, G. I.; Palmiter, R. D.; Sugiura, T.; et al. Leptin-Regulated Endocannabinoids Are Involved in Maintaining Food Intake. *Nature* 2001, 410 (6830), 822–825.
- Dodd, G. T.; Stark, J. A.; McKie, S.; Williams, S. R.; Luckman, S. M. Central Cannabinoid Signaling Mediating Food Intake: a Pharmacological-Challenge Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Functional Histology Study in Rat. *Neuroscience* 2009, *163* (4), 1192–1200.
- Dol-Gleizes, F.; Paumelle, R.; Visentin, V.; Marés, A.-M.; Desitter, P.; Hennuyer, N.; Gilde, A.; Staels, B.; Schaeffer, P.; Bono, F. Rimonabant, a Selective Cannabinoid CB1 Receptor Antagonist, Inhibits Atherosclerosis in LDL Receptor–Deficient Mice. *Arterioscler*. *Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2009, 29 (1), 12–18.
- Engeli, S. Central and Peripheral Cannabinoid Receptors as Therapeutic Targets in the Control of Food Intake and Body Weight. *Handb Exp Pharmacol* **2012**, *209* (209), 357–381.
- Engeli, S.; Böhnke, J.; Feldpausch, M.; Gorzelniak, K.; Janke, J.; Bátkai, S.; Pacher, P.; Harvey-White, J.; Luft, F. C.; Sharma, A. M.; et al. Activation of the Peripheral Endocannabinoid System in Human Obesity. *Diabetes* 2005, 54 (10), 2838–2843.
- Galiègue, S.; Mary, S.; Marchand, J.; Dussossoy, D.; Carrière, D.; Carayon, P.; Bouaboula, M.;

Shire, D.; Le Fur, G.; Casellas, P. Expression of Central and Peripheral Cannabinoid Receptors in Human Immune Tissues and Leukocyte Subpopulations. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1995**, *232* (1), 54–61.

- Garst, C.; Fulmer, M.; Thewke, D.; Brown, S. Optimized Extraction of 2-Arachidonyl Glycerol and Anandamide From Aortic Tissue and Plasma for Quantification by LC-MS/MS. *Eur J Lipid Sci Technol* **2016**, *118* (5), 814–820.
- Gasperi, V.; Fezza, F.; Pasquariello, N.; Bari, M.; Oddi, S.; Agrò, A. F.; Maccarrone, M. Endocannabinoids in Adipocytes During Differentiation and Their Role in Glucose Uptake. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 2007, 64 (2), 219–229.
- Ghosh, S.; Preet, A.; Groopman, J.; Ganju, R. Cannabinoid Receptor CB2 Modulates the CXCL12/CXCR4-Mediated Chemotaxis of T Lymphocytes. *Molecular Immunology* 2006, 43 (14), 2169–2179.
- Hansson, G. K.; Hermansson, A. The Immune System in Atherosclerosis. *Nature Immunology* **2011**, *12* (3), 204–212.
- Inokubo, Y.; Hanada, H.; Ishizaka, H.; Fukushi, T.; Kamada, T.; Okumura, K. Plasma Levels of Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 and Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase-1 Are Increased in the Coronary Circulation in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome. *American Heart Journal* 2001, 141 (2), 211–217.
- Kai, H.; Ikeda, H.; Yasukawa, H.; Kai, M.; Seki, Y.; Kuwahara, F.; Ueno, T.; Sugi, K.;
  Imaizumi, T. Peripheral Blood Levels of Matrix Metalloproteases-2 and -9 Are Elevated in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndromes. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1998, *32* (2), 368–372.
- Kirkham, T. C.; Williams, C. M.; Fezza, F.; Di Marzo, V. Endocannabinoid Levels in Rat Limbic Forebrain and Hypothalamus in Relation to Fasting, Feeding and Satiation: Stimulation of Eating by 2-Arachidonoyl Glycerol. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 2002, *136* (4), 550– 557.
- Libby, P. Inflammation in Atherosclerosis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 2012, 32 (9), 2045–2051.
- Ligresti, A.; Petrosino, S.; Di Marzo, V. From Endocannabinoid Profiling to 'Endocannabinoid Therapeutics'. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* **2009**, *13* (3), 321–331.
- Maccarrone, M.; Di Rienzo, M.; Finazzi-Agrò, A.; Rossi, A. Leptin Activates the Anandamide Hydrolase Promoter in Human T Lymphocytes Through STAT3. J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278 (15), 13318–13324.
- Maccarrone, M.; Fride, E.; Bisogno, T.; Bari, M.; Cascio, M. G.; Battista, N.; Finazzi Agrò, A.; Suris, R.; Mechoulam, R.; Di Marzo, V. Up-Regulation of the Endocannabinoid System in the Uterus of Leptin Knockout (Ob/Ob) Mice and Implications for Fertility. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 2005, *11* (1), 21–28.
- Mach, F.; Montecucco, F.; Steffens, S. Cannabinoid Receptors in Acute and Chronic Complications of Atherosclerosis. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2008**, *153* (2), 290–298.
- Matias, I.; Gonthier, M.-P.; Orlando, P.; Martiadis, V.; De Petrocellis, L.; Cervino, C.; Petrosino, S.; Hoareau, L.; Festy, F.; Pasquali, R.; et al. Regulation, Function, and Dysregulation of Endocannabinoids in Models of Adipose and Beta-Pancreatic Cells and in Obesity and Hyperglycemia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2006, 91 (8), 3171–3180.
- Matsuda, L. A.; Lolait, S. J.; Brownstein, M. J.; Young, A. C.; Bonner, T. I. Structure of a Cannabinoid Receptor and Functional Expression of the Cloned cDNA. *Nature* 1990, 346 (6284), 561–564.
- Munro, S. Molecular Characterization of Peripheral Receptor for Cannabinoids. Nature

Publishing Group 2015, 1–5.

- Netherland, C. D.; Pickle, T. G.; Bales, A.; Thewke, D. P. Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) Deficiency Alters Atherosclerotic Lesion Formation in Hyperlipidemic Ldlr-Null Mice. *Atherosclerosis* **2010**, *213* (1), 102–108.
- Netherland-Van Dyke, C.; Rodgers, W.; Fulmer, M.; Lahr, Z.; Thewke, D. Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) Dependent and Independent Effects of WIN55,212-2 on Atherosclerosis in Ldlr-Null Mice. *J. Cardiol. Therap* **2015**, *3* (2), 53–63.
- Newby, A. C. Metalloproteinases and Vulnerable Atherosclerotic Plaques. *Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine* **2007**, *17* (8), 253–258.
- Osei-Hyiaman, D.; DePetrillo, M.; Pacher, P.; Liu, J.; Radaeva, S.; Bátkai, S.; Harvey-White, J.; Mackie, K.; Offertáler, L.; Wang, L.; et al. Endocannabinoid Activation at Hepatic CB1 Receptors Stimulates Fatty Acid Synthesis and Contributes to Diet-Induced Obesity. J. *Clin. Invest.* 2005, *115* (5), 1298–1305.
- Pacher, P.; Ungvari, Z. Pleiotropic Effects of the CB2 Cannabinoid Receptor Activation on Human Monocyte Migration: Implications for Atherosclerosis and Inflammatory Diseases. *AJP: Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 2008, 294 (3), H1133–H1134.
- Pi-Sunyer, F. X.; Aronne, L. J.; Heshmati, H. M.; Devin, J.; Rosenstock, J.; RIO-North America Study Group, F. T. Effect of Rimonabant, a Cannabinoid-1 Receptor Blocker, on Weight and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Overweight or Obese Patients. JAMA 2006, 295 (7), 761–775.
- Rajesh, M.; Mukhopadhyay, P.; Bátkai, S.; Haskó, G.; Liaudet, L.; Huffman, J. W.; Csiszar, A.; Ungvari, Z.; Mackie, K.; Chatterjee, S.; et al. CB2-Receptor Stimulation Attenuates TNF-A-Induced Human Endothelial Cell Activation, Transendothelial Migration of Monocytes, and Monocyte-Endothelial Adhesion. *AJP: Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 2007, 293 (4), H2210–H2218.
- Rajesh, M.; Mukhopadhyay, P.; Hasko, G.; Huffman, J. W.; Mackie, K.; Pacher, P. CB2 Cannabinoid Receptor Agonists Attenuate TNF-A-Induced Human Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation and Migration. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 2008, *153* (2), 347–357.
- Rosenfeld, M. E.; Polinsky, P.; Virmani, R.; Kauser, K.; Rubanyi, G.; Schwartz, S. M. Advanced Atherosclerotic Lesions in the Innominate Artery of the ApoE Knockout Mouse. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2000, 20 (12), 2587–2592.
- Scheen, A. J.; Van Gaal, L. F. Rimonabant as an Adjunct Therapy in Overweight/Obese Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. *European Heart Journal* **2007**, *28* (11), 1401–1402.
- Schlicker, E.; Kathmann, M. Modulation of Transmitter Release via Presynaptic Cannabinoid Receptors. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* **2001**, *22* (11), 565–572.
- Smith, M.; Wilson, R.; O'Brien, S.; Tufarelli, C.; Anderson, S. I.; O'Sullivan, S. E. The Effects of the Endocannabinoids Anandamide and 2-Arachidonoylglycerol on Human Osteoblast Proliferation and Differentiation. *PLoS ONE* 2015, *10* (9), e0136546.
- Steffens, S.; Veillard, N. R.; Arnaud, C.; Pelli, G.; Burger, F.; Staub, C.; Zimmer, A.; Frossard, J.-L.; Mach, F. Low Dose Oral Cannabinoid Therapy Reduces Progression of Atherosclerosis in Mice. *Nature* 2005, *434* (7034), 782–786.
- Sugamura, K.; Sugiyama, S.; Nozaki, T.; Matsuzawa, Y.; Izumiya, Y.; Miyata, K.; Nakayama, M.; Kaikita, K.; Obata, T.; Takeya, M.; et al. Activated Endocannabinoid System in Coronary Artery Disease and Antiinflammatory Effects of Cannabinoid 1 Receptor Blockade on Macrophages. *Circulation* **2009**, *119* (1), 28–36.
- Suzue, A.; Uno, M.; Kitazato, K. T.; Nishi, K.; Yagi, K.; Liu, H.; Tamura, T.; Nagahiro, S.

Comparison Between Early and Late Carotid Endarterectomy for Symptomatic Carotid Stenosis in Relation to Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein and Plaque Vulnerability. *Journal of Vascular Surgery* **2007**, *46* (5), 870–875.

- Tabas, I.; García-Cardeña, G.; Owens, G. K. Recent Insights Into the Cellular Biology of Atherosclerosis. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **2015**, *209* (1), 13–22.
- Tauber, S.; Scheider-Stock, R.; Ullrich, O. Investigating Immunmodulatory Mechanisms of Cannabinoids: the Role of MMP-9. *Cell Communication and Signaling 2009 7:1* 2009, 7 (1), A89.
- Virmani, R.; Burke, A. P.; Kolodgie, F. D.; Farb, A. Vulnerable Plaque: the Pathology of Unstable Coronary Lesions. *J Interv Cardiol* **2002**, *15* (6), 439–446.
- Wågsäter, D.; Zhu, C.; Björkegren, J.; Skogsberg, J.; Eriksson, P. MMP-2 and MMP-9 Are Prominent Matrix Metalloproteinases During Atherosclerosis Development in the Ldlr(-/-)Apob(100/100) Mouse. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 2011, 28 (2), 247–253.
- Zhao, Y.; Liu, Y.; Zhang, W.; Xue, J.; Wu, Y. Z.; Xu, W.; Liang, X.; Chen, T.; Kishimoto, C.; Yuan, Z. WIN55212-2 Ameliorates Atherosclerosis Associated with Suppression of Pro-Inflammatory Responses in ApoE-Knockout Mice. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 2010a, 649 (1-3), 285–292.
- Zhao, Y.; Yuan, Z.; Liu, Y.; Xue, J.; Tian, Y.; Liu, W.; Zhang, W.; Shen, Y.; Xu, W.; Liang, X.; et al. Activation of Cannabinoid CB2 Receptor Ameliorates Atherosclerosis Associated with Suppression of Adhesion Molecules. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 2010b, 55 (3), 292– 298.
- Zhao, Y.; Yuan, Z.; Liu, Y.; Xue, J.; Tian, Y.; Liu, W.; Zhang, W.; Shen, Y.; Xu, W.; Liang, X.; et al. Activation of Cannabinoid CB2 Receptor Ameliorates Atherosclerosis Associated with Suppression of Adhesion Molecules. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 2010c, 55 (3), 292– 298.

Lineage Tracing of Cells Involved in Atherosclerosis. 2016, 251, 445–453.

## Supplemental Figures



Supplemental Figure 2.6 Effects of CB2 gene deletion of aortic FAAH levels in Ldlr-null mice. A) Immunoblot showing levels of FAAH in aortic arch lysates from CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice after 14 and 24 weeks of HFD. B) Quantification of FAAH levels relative to the housekeeping protein, HSC70. Data are means±S.D. (n=2) for each genotype.

## CHAPTER 3

# CANNABINOID RECEPTOR TYPE 2 (CB2) DEFICIENCY INCREASES CALCIFICATION OF ATHEROSCLEROTIC LESIONS IN HYPERLIPIDEMIC LDLR-NULL MICE

Makenzie L Fulmer, Emilee Engelhaupt, and Douglas P. Thewke\*

Department of Biomedical Sciences, Center for Inflammation, Infectious Disease and Immunity, Quillen College of Medicine, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN, USA

\* Corresponding Author. Mailing address: James H. Quillen College of Medicine, ETSU, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Box 70582, Johnson City, TN 37614 Phone: (423) 439-2131. Fax: (423) 439-2030. E-mail: thewke@etsu.edu

Keywords: Atherosclerosis, Cannabinoid receptor 2, Calcification, Smooth Muscle Cell, Osteoblast, Osteoclast, Runt-related transcription factor 2

#### Abstract

Objective: Calcification of atherosclerotic lesions is a risk factor for future adverse cardiovascular events. Cannabinoid receptor type 2 (CB2) signaling modulates bone remodeling processes and affects development of atherosclerotic lesions. To determine if CB2 signaling impacts lesion calcification, we investigated the effects of systemic CB2 gene deletion on the development of calcified lesions in Ldlr-null mice fed an atherogenic diet.

Methods and results: At 8 weeks of age, Ldlr-/-CB2+/+ (CB2+/+) and Ldlr-/-CB2-/- (CB2-/-) mice were placed on an atherogenic diet for 20-24 weeks. Morphometric analysis of von Kossastained aortic root cross sections revealed a significant increase in calcium deposition in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice (13.0 $\pm$ 1.1 versus 5.6 $\pm$ 1.2%; p<0.05) after 20 weeks of atherogenic diet. Biochemical analysis of the activity of the osteoclast marker enzyme, tartrateresistant acid phosphatase (TRAP), revealed significantly less osteoclast activity in aortic root lesions of CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice ( $9.7\pm0.05$  versus  $4.9\pm0.16\%$ ; p<0.05). Immunofluorescent staining of aortic root cross sections with an antibody against soluble receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand (RANKL) similarly showed reduced RANKL expression in lesions from CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice ( $0.2\pm0.0004$  versus 0.04±0.0040; p<0.001). Immunoblotting detected significantly decreased expression of osteogenic regulatory proteins runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2) (p<0.05) and osteopontin (OPN) (p<0.05). Semiquantitative RT-PCR analysis of RNA extracted from aortic arch tissue revealed elevated mRNA levels of osteogenic genes, alkaline phosphatase (ALP), type I collagen (Coll), and osteoprotegerin (OPG) in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (P<0.05 for all genes). Conclusions: CB2 receptor deficiency increases calcification of atherosclerotic lesions in Ldlrnull mice, at least in part, by enhancing osteoblast activity and decreasing osteoclast activity

within lesions. Our data indicates a novel therapeutic potential for CB2 agonists to reduce lesion calcification, and therefore the risk for myocardial infarction and stroke.

#### Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) claims more lives every single year than all forms of cancer combined. The most prevalent form of CVD is coronary artery disease (CAD), a disease that is responsible for over 360,000 deaths every year in the U.S. (Benjamin et al., 2017). Atherosclerosis is the underlying cause of CAD and other CVDs, resulting in myocardial infarction, stroke, and peripheral vascular disease. Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory disorder that progresses over the course of decades and is characterized by the buildup of atherosclerotic lesions (or plaque) containing lipids and immune cells within the walls of arteries. The disease is multifaceted, initially elicited by the subendothelial retention of lipoproteins and gradually evolving with the infiltration of inflammatory cells, the proliferation and migration of smooth muscle cells (SMCs), cellular apoptosis and necrosis, arterial remodeling and calcification, all of which may lead to plaque rupture and thrombosis (Bui et al., 2009; Bentzon et al., 2014). The majority of plaques are subclinical; however, a percentage of individuals develop unstable lesions which puts them at risk for adverse clinical outcomes.

Several factors are attributed to the formation of unstable plaques, such as increased proteolytic activity of extracellular matrix (ECM) components, necrotic core formation, and calcification. In particular, calcification of atherosclerotic plaques has gained increasing recognition over the past 15 years due to consistent findings of a correlation with increased risk of cardiovascular mortality (Sage et al., 2010). Vascular SMCs (VSMC) are key contributors to plaque calcification as a result of their phenotypic plasticity (Byon et al., 2008). VSMCs typically exhibit a contractile phenotype and are present in the medial layer of arteries to function in maintaining vascular tone. In response to injury or disease, VSMCs can be induced to switch to a synthetic phenotype in order to proliferate and migrate to sites in need of repair

(Shanahan et al., 1993; Shanahan and Weissberg, 1998). This is seen in the context of atherosclerosis, when VSMCs migrate into the intima and create a protective fibrous cap at site of injury. In normal instances, VSMCs are highly regulated and return to their contractile, nonproliferating phenotype. However, regulatory signals become compromised in the setting of atherogenesis, causing dysregulation in VSMC differentiation (Iyemere et al., 2006). Under these conditions, VSMCs transdifferentiate to a synthetic phenotype characterized by features of other mesenchymal lineages, such as osteoblasts (Tintut et al., 2003).

Osteoblasts are cells that synthesize a matrix that then becomes mineralized, and are important in the formation and remodeling of bones. Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2) is a complex transcription factor necessary for the differentiation of osteoblasts (Ducy and Karsenty, 1995; Komori et al., 1997; Otto et al., 1997), and is considered to be the master regulator of osteoblastogenesis. Regulation of osteoblast differentiation by Runx2 is dynamic, and a shift from positive to negative regulation is seen from initial stages to final stages of osteoblast maturation. Runx2 also regulates the expression of several osteoblast marker genes, such as osteocalcin (Ducy and Karsenty, 1995), collagen I (ColI), osteopontin (OPN) (Ducy et al., 1997; Sato et al., 1998), osteoprotegerin (OPG) (Thirunavukkarasu et al., 2000), and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) (Bruderer et al., 2014). These proteins provide a variety of functions in the regulation of calcification, both negative and positive. For example, increased ALP is needed for progression of osteoblast maturation (Takeuchi et al., 1996) while OPN is a potent negative regulator of calcification and binds to apatite crystals to inhibit their growth (Wada et al., 1999).

The endocannabinoid system consists of two known G-protein coupled receptors, termed cannabinoid receptor 1 (CB1) and 2 (CB2), endogenous ligands (called endocannabinoids) for these receptors, and their metabolic enzymes. CB1 is largely expressed in the central nervous

system where it mediates the psychotropic effects associated with cannabinoids. CB2 is primarily expressed in peripheral immune cells, such as macrophages and T cells (Munro et al., 1993; Galiègue et al., 1995; Buckley et al., 2000), subsequently producing immunosuppressive effects. Emerging evidence indicates a role for the endocannabinoid system and CB2 specifically in atherosclerosis. Circulating endocannabinoid levels are increased in patients with coronary artery disease (Sugamura et al., 2009) and CB2 expression is present in atherosclerotic plaques but not in healthy vessels (Steffens et al., 2005a). Specifically, CB2 expression is upregulated in plaque macrophages (Carlisle et al., 2002) and has been implicated in pathways involved with ongoing atherogenesis (Steffens et al., 2005a; Montecucco et al., 2008; Netherland et al., 2010).

Interestingly, CB2 deficient mice display an age-related decrease in bone mass resembling osteoporosis, and polymorphisms in *CNR2*, the gene encoding CB2, are strongly associated with osteoporosis in postmenopausal women (Bab et al., 2009). Further, a negative correlation exists between osteoporosis and atherosclerotic calcification in humans (Hamerman, 2005; Farhat and Cauley, 2008; Stojanovic et al., 2011). Therefore, we hypothesized that CB2 plays a protective role in calcification of atherosclerotic plaques. In this study, we have provided the first evidence to our knowledge that CB2 inhibits lesional osteogenic processes and calcification in a mouse model of atherosclerosis. Furthermore, we identify key osteogenic regulatory mechanisms altered by CB2 deficiency within lesions and aorta. These finding provide molecular insights into the regulation of atherosclerotic calcification by CB2, and uncover potentially novel therapeutic uses for CB2 agonists to reduce adverse complications of atherosclerotic calcification.

#### Materials and Methods

#### Animals and diet-induced atherosclerosis protocol

All mice were housed in a pathogen-free, temperature- and humidity-controlled room in the Animal Research Facility at East Tennessee State University. Mice were maintained on a standard chow diet (Ralston Purina, St. Louis, MO) with water provided *ad libitum*. All animal procedures were approved by and conducted in accordance with the guidelines administered by the Institutional Animal Care and Usage Committee of East Tennessee State University and in conformity with the Public Health Service Policy on Humane Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the National Institutes of Health. CB2 receptor knockout mice in the C57BL/J6 background (a generous gift from Dr. Nancy Buckley, California State Polytechnic University, Panoma, CA) were crossed with Ldlr-null mice as previously described (Netherland et al., 2010). Age-matched CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were used for all experiments. At eight weeks of age, groups of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were placed on an atherogenic, high-fat diet (HFD) consisting of 21% fat and 0.15% cholesterol (Harlan Teklad, Madison, WI) for 20-24 weeks to induce the formation of advanced atherosclerotic lesions.

#### Histological and immunofluorescent staining

Animals were euthanized as previously described (Netherland et al., 2010). Briefly, mice were anesthetized and euthanized by cardiac perfusion with 10 ml ice-cold phosphate buffered saline. The heart and aorta were dissected and snap frozen at -80°C, with heart tissue embedded in OCT medium. OCT-embedded hearts were mounted in a Leica CM1850 cryostat and 8µm sections of the aortic root were collected. Tissue cryosections were stained for calcium deposition using von Kossa method. *In situ* osteoclast activity was measured biochemically using

a tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP) leukocyte kit (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) according to the manufacturer's protocol. For immunofluorescent staining, tissue cryosections were thoroughly rinsed with tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% tween 20 (TBS-T) and blocked in 5% serum in PBS-T for 1h at RT. Sections were then probed with an antibody against sRANKL (ProSci Inc, Poway, CA; #3963) (1:200 in blocking buffer) overnight at 4°C, rinsed with PBS-T, and incubated with a FITC-conjugated secondary antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnologies, Dallas, TX) (1:1000 in blocking buffer) for 1h at RT in the dark. Sections were rinsed three times with PBS-T, once with PBS, and mounted with Pro-Long mounting medium with DAPI (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA). Digital images were captured using an EVOS FL digital imaging system (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hartfield, PA). Computer-assisted morphometric analysis was performed using ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD). A threshold for positive staining was measured and applied uniformly to all images. For each sample, a minimum of four slides containing four cross sections were evaluated and averaged. All measurements were performed by a trained observer in blinded fashion.

#### **Immunoblotting**

Aortic arch tissue was lysed in buffer containing 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton-X100, 1% DOC, 1 mM EDTA, 0.05% SDS and freshly supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) by use of a handheld homogenizer. Lysates were centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 15 min at 4°C and the supernatant was collected and the protein content determined using a microBCA kit (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA). Samples containing 20µg of protein were denatured at 95°C in the presence of DTT for 5 min and subjected to electrophoresis using 4-12% Bis-Tris gels (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Proteins were

transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane, blocked in TBS-T containing 5% non-fat milk and probed with specific antibodies to Runx2 (Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX; sc-10758) (1:2000), OCN (MyBioSource, San Diego, CA; MBS2003553) (1:1000), and OPN (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN; AF808) (1:3000) overnight at 4°C. After incubation with proper horse radish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated secondary antibody (Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX) (1:2000), membranes were developed using Amersham ECL Prime Western Blotting Detection Reagent (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences, Pittsburgh, PA) and a Fujifilm Fla-4000 imager. Membranes were stripped and probed with an HSC70 antibody (Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom; ab19136) (1:10,000) to serve as a loading control. Quantitation of band densities was performed using ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD).

#### Semiquantitative Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)

Total RNA was isolated from aortas using Direct-zol RNA MiniPrep (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA). The concentration and purity (A<sub>260/280</sub>) of RNA samples was determined using a Nanodrop ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (Nanodrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE). RT-PCR was carried out using a Verso HotStart 1-Step kit (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) according the manufacturer's instructions in an Eppendorf Mastercycler (Hamburg, Germany). Typical cycling reactions were a first cycle of 15 minutes at 50°C, 2 minutes at 95°C followed by 30-35 cycles of 95°C for 20 seconds, 50-60°C for 30 seconds and 1 minute at 72°C. Conditions were optimized so that none of the PCR products analyzed reached a plateau by the end of the amplification protocol, i.e. they were in the exponential phase of amplification. The reactions were run along with a no-RNA sample negative control and the absence of genomic DNA contamination was verified by performing control reactions in which the reverse transcriptase

was inactivated by heating at 95°C for 5 minutes prior to performing the standard RT-PCR protocol.

All primers were synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA). The primer sequences were determined using Primer 3 software (developed by Steve Rozen, Helen J. Skaletsky, 1996, 1997) available at http://www-genome.wi.mit.edu. All primers were selected with the following parameters: length 20-22 bases; Tm 57 and 65°C, optimal Tm 60-62°C; amplification product length 200-500 bp. When possible, the primers were selected to span different exons, so that the amplification product obtained from cDNA would be of different length from that obtained from any contaminant genomic DNA. Sequence specificity was confirmed using Genbank Blast at the National Center for Biotechnology Information website (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov). The following primers were used: Runx2 forward 5'-

CCAAATTTGCCTAACCAGAATG-3'; Runx2 reverse 5'-GAGGCTGTGGTTTCAAAGCA-3'; CollagenI forward 5'-GAGCTGGTGTAATGGGTCCT-3'; Collagen 1 reverse 5'-GAGACCCAGGAAGACCTCTG-3; ALP forward 5'-GCCCTCTCCAAGACATATA-3'; ALP reverse 5'-CCATGATCACGTCGATATCC-3'; OPG forward 5'-

ATCAGAGCCTCATCACCTT-3'; OPG reverse 5'-CTTAGGTCCAACTACAGAGGAAC-3'. Results were expressed as the ratio of the target gene transcript to the reference gene transcript (GAPDH; forward 5'-CTCACTGGCATGGCCTTCCG-3'; reverse 5'-

#### ACCACCCTGTTGCTGTAGCC-3').

PCR products were resolved on 1.5 % agarose gels in 1X TBE impregnated with ethidium bromide. A 1 kb DNA ladder (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA) was run on each gel to confirm the expected length of amplification products. Digital images of the ethidium bromidestained agarose gels were acquired using a Fujifilm Fla-4000 imager and the band intensities were determined using ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD and expressed as relative absorbance units. Each primer product was normalized to the intensity of bands produced with GAPDH primers for each RNA sample.

#### Results

#### CB2 gene deletion increases atherosclerotic plaque calcification

The presence of calcium deposits in atherosclerotic lesions is a well-known risk factor for adverse cardiovascular events. We assessed the degree of calcium deposition in lesions of  $CB2^{+/+}$  and  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice after 20 weeks of atherogenic diet by staining aortic root cross sections using the von Kossa method (Figure 3.1). We observed that calcium deposits were mainly present on the lumenal side of the intima, as expected, coincident with increased presence of VSMCs in this area (data not shown). Digital quantification of the area staining positive for calcium revealed ~2.3 fold more calcification present in lesions of  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice compared to  $CB2^{+/+}$  mice (13.0±1.1 versus 5.6±1.2%, respectively; p=0.002). Similar results were obtained when we stained aortic root cross sections for calcium deposition using another calcium stain, Alizarin red S (data not shown).



Figure 3.1 CB2 gene deletion increases calcium deposition in atherosclerotic lesions of Ldlr-null mice. A) Representative photomicrographs of von Kossa stained aortic root cross sections from  $CB2^{+/+}$  and  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice fed an atherogenic diet for 20 weeks. B) Quantification of calcium deposition within aortic root lesions of  $CB2^{+/+}$  and  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice. Data is represented as the percent of positive stain area per total lesion area. \*p<0.05. Data is the mean (n=8) ±S.D.

#### CB2 deletion reduces osteoclast activity in advanced atherosclerotic lesions

Mineralization can occur as a result of an imbalance between osteoblasts, bone-forming cells, and osteoclasts, bone-resorbing cells. Active osteoblasts demonstrate alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activity. We stained aortic root cross sections for ALP activity using BCIP/NBT substrate and found no significant difference in ALP activity in lesions of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed an atherogenic diet for 20 weeks (Supplemental Figure 3.5). We next evaluated osteoclast activity in the aortic root lesions by staining for tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP) activity

(Figure 3.2a). TRAP-positive staining was mostly present in the shoulder regions of the aortic root lesions and was significantly increased (~2.2 fold) in CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice  $(9.7\pm0.05 \text{ versus } 4.9\pm0.16\%, \text{ respectively; p=0.02})$ . Since osteoclast formation is centrally regulated by RANKL, and osteoblast production of RANKL induces osteoclastic differentiation and maturation of osteoclast precursors (Walsh and Choi, 2003), the levels of RANKL present in aortic root lesions was evaluated by immunofluorescence using an antibody to soluble RANKL. The majority of RANKL immunofluorescence was observed in the shoulder regions of the lesions (Figure 3.2c), in the same regions showing TRAP activity. Digital quantitation of the fluorescent intensity found significantly more RANKL staining in aortic root lesions of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice  $(0.2\pm0.0004 \text{ versus } 0.04\pm0.0040, \text{ respectively; p<0.001})$ .



Figure 3.2 CB2 deficiency reduces TRAP activity within atherosclerotic lesions of Ldlr-null mice. A) Representative photomicrographs showing TRAP activity (pink) in aortic root lesions of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed an atherogenic diet for 20 weeks. B) Representative fluorescent micrographs of sRANKL immunoreactivity in aortic root lesions in CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. C) Quantification of TRAP activity within aortic root lesions. Data is represented as percentage of positive stain per total lesion area. D) Quantification of sRANKL immunoreactivity within the aortic root lesions. Data is represented as the mean  $\pm$ S.D. of the ratio of FITC signal intensity relative to DAPI signal intensity. n=6. \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.001.

#### CB2 gene deletion alters aortic levels of key osteogenic proteins, Runx2, OPN and OCN

We next used immunoblotting to examine aortic levels of three factors (Runx2, OPN, and OCN) known to be important for vascular calcification (Figure 3.3). Runx2 is a master transcriptional regulator of osteoblastogenesis, and its expression functions in both a positive and negative fashion during the maturation of osteoblast precursors into calcifying cells (Bruderer et al., 2014). SMC-specific deletion of Runx2 greatly reduces medial and HFD-induced vascular calcification in mice (Sun et al., 2012; Lin et al., 2015). OPN is biologically diverse but in the setting of biomineralization it specifically functions as a potent inhibitor of ectopic vascular calcification (Lund et al., 2009). OCN, on the other hand, is secreted by mature osteoblasts and is a positive regulator in calcification (Sila-Asna et al., 2007). Aortas of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice contained dramatically greater amounts of Runx2 (~2.5 fold, p=0.03) and OPN (~3.7 fold, p=0.02) compared to aortas of CB2<sup>-/-</sup> after 20 weeks of HFD. In contrast, the level of OCN in aortas of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice was reduced compared that of aortas from CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, although the difference did not reach statistical significance.



Figure 3.3 CB2 deficiency alters protein expression of osteogenic regulatory proteins in Ldlr-null mice. Immunoblot showing levels of Runx2 (A), OCN and OPN (B) in aorta from three  $CB2^{+/+}$  and three  $CB2^{-/-}$  mice after 20 weeks of HFD. C) Quantification of Runx2, OCN, and OPN levels relative to the housekeeping protein, HSC70. Data are means±S.D. (n=3) for each genotype. \*p<0.05. n.s. = not significant

#### CB2 gene deletion alters osteoblast gene expression

In addition to Runx2, OPN, and OCN, which have been demonstrated to play a role in vascular calcification in animal models, other osteoblast-specific genes implicated in soft tissue mineralization, as well as normal bone formation, may also be modulated by CB2 in vascular

tissue (Sage et al., 2010). Total aortic mRNA for Runx2, Collagen 1 (Col1), ALP, and osteoprotegerin (OPG) was analyzed by semiquantitative RT-PCR to further assess differences in relative mRNA expression of osteogenic genes between CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 3.4). After normalizing to GAPDH expression levels, we found that after 20 weeks of atherogenic diet, CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice had significantly (p<0.05) greater relative mRNA expression of Runx2 (~1.6 fold), ALP (~4.8 fold), ColI (~1.7 fold) and OPG (~1.3 fold) compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice.



A\_

Β.

Figure 3.4 CB2 deficiency alters the relative levels of mRNA for osteogenic genes in Ldlr-null mice. A) Semiquantitative RT-PCR of Runx2, ColI, ALP, and OPG expression in aortas from CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (n=3 for each genotype) fed an atherogenic diet for 20 weeks. RT-PCR of mRNA levels in aortas of chow fed CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice is shown for comparison. B) Quantification of Runx2, ColI, ALP, OPG gene expression in CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Bar graphs represent the mean  $\pm$  S.D. relative levels for each target mRNA:GAPDH mRNA ratio for the data shown in panel A. Results shown are from one analysis performed in triplicate and representative of two independent experiments. \*p<0.05.

#### **Discussion**

Many *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies have provided evidence of a role for CB2 signaling in regulating immune processes involved in atherogenesis (Steffens et al., 2005b; Rajesh et al., 2008; Netherland et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2010). However, no studies have yet explored the role of CB2 in atherosclerotic lesion calcification. Mineralization of arterial plaques is a pathological condition that results in reduced vessel elasticity and increased susceptibility to plaque rupture, and is associated with increased risk of heart attack (Beadenkopf et al., 1964). In the current study, we explored the role of CB2 in atherosclerotic mineralization by determining the effects of systemic CB2 gene deficiency on calcification of advanced lesions in Ldlr-null mice fed an atherogenic diet. The results of our study show that the absence of CB2 exerts a pro-calcific effect that enhances mineralization of atherosclerotic lesions.

Calcification of vessels occurs in two distinct locations: the media and the intima. Ectopic calcification of atherosclerotic plaques in the intimal layer of the vessel is a cell-mediated process that is modulated by a delicate balance of positive and negative regulators, much like osteogenic pathways controlling normal bone formation. A regulated balance between osteoblast and osteoclast is crucial for maintaining bone homeostasis. We found that CB2 deletion resulted in decreased osteoclast activity, as determined by analysis of TRAP activity, in aortic root lesions of Ldlr-null mice. RANK/RANKL signaling is necessary for osteoclast maturation and function. Consistent with decreased osteoclast activity in lesions of CB2-null mice, they also displayed decreased expression of soluble RANKL. In addition, osteoclastogenesis is restrained in tissues expressing OPG, a soluble decoy receptor for RANKL, and mRNA levels of OPG were found to be significantly elevated in atherosclerotic aortas of CB2-null mice. Together,

these observations suggest that CB2 deficiency enhances lesion calcification, in part, by reducing osteoclast-like activity in lesions.

VSMCs play an important role in plaque calcification, as they adopt an osteoblast-like phenotype through a process of osteoblastic transdifferentiation that is regulated by a network of transcription factors and bone matrix proteins (Shanahan et al., 1993; 1999; Tyson et al., 2003). Runx2 is a master transcriptional regulator of osteoblast gene expression and osteoblastogenesis, exhibiting a stage-dependent positive and negative role in osteoblast maturation. Inactivation of the Runx2 gene results in unmineralized skeletons in mice (Ducy et al., 1997) and SMC-specific deletion of Runx2 in ApoE-null mice reduces formation of osteoblast-like cells and calcium deposition in atherosclerotic lesions (Sun et al., 2012; Lin et al., 2015). Although the commitment of precursor cells to the osteoblast lineage is dependent upon Runx2 expression, expression of Runx2 beyond early commitment is detrimental and diminishes the capability of pre-osteoblasts to mature into functional osteoblasts (Bruderer et al., 2014). Here we observed that enhanced lesion calcification in the setting of CB2 deficiency was associated with decreased Runx2 protein levels and slightly increased Runx2 mRNA levels in atherosclerotic aortas. Several studies have reported a similar discordance between Runx2 mRNA and protein levels, concluding that Runx2 expression is regulated at the post-translational level (Prince et al., 2001; Sudhakar et al., 2001). Osteoblast differentiation is also negatively regulated by ubiquitinmediated degradation of Runx2 (Shen et al., 2006; Jonason et al., 2009). Together, our results are consistent with CB2 exerting anti-calcifying effects in lesions, in part, by inhibiting Runx2 degradation and restraining the maturation of pre-osteoblasts. Recent studies indicate that phosphorylation, acetylation, SUMOylation and ubiquitination regulate Runx2 functions differently (Wee et al., 2002; Qiao et al., 2006; Shen et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2012) and the

effects of CB2 signaling on post-translational regulation of Runx2 functions are currently unknown and merit further investigation.

An ECM containing an abundance of type I collagen is necessary for osteoblast differentiation and expression of osteoblast-related genes (Franceschi, 1999). These genes, which encode for proteins such as OCN and ALP, are necessary for mineralization (Murshed et al., 2005). We found a significant increase of ALP and Coll mRNA in atherosclerotic aortas of CB2null mice, accompanied with an increase in OCN protein expression. While ALP mRNA levels are upregulated in CB2-deficient mice, biochemical staining failed to detect enhanced ALP activity in CB2-deficient lesions. Future studies utilizing immunoblotting and immunohistochemical analysis are needed to clarify the effect of CB2 deficiency on ALP expression in lesions.

In addition to regulating the expression of several osteoblast marker genes, Runx2 also regulates the expression of OPN in non-osteoblastic cells (Ducy et al., 1997), such as macrophages. OPN regulates mineralization by acting as a potent inhibitor of vascular calcification (Wada et al., 1999; Lund et al., 2009) and is also crucial for normal bone resorption through its role in osteoclast migration and differentiation (Chellaiah et al., 2003). Here we found a significant decrease in OPN protein expression in lysates of atherosclerotic aortas from CB2-deficient mice. This observation suggests that CB2 may exert anti-calcifying effects by elevating OPN levels in lesions.

In summary, the current study provides the first evidence for a role of CB2 in calcification of atherosclerotic lesions in a murine model of atherosclerosis. While more studies need to be done in order to further delineate the mechanisms by which CB2 signaling alters plaque calcification, our data indicates that CB2 reduces calcification, at least partially, through

down-regulation of osteoblastic gene expression and upregulation of osteoclast activity. These results provide a foundation for potential CB2-directed drug development that can help to reduce or slow calcification of plaques, thereby reducing the morbidity and mortality associated with advanced disease progression.

# Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest to disclose.

## <u>Acknowledgements</u>

Funding: This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health grants HL113878-01A1 and C06RR030651-01.

#### References

- Bab, I.; Zimmer, A.; Melamed, E. Cannabinoids and the Skeleton: From Marijuana to Reversal of Bone Loss. *Ann. Med.* **2009**, *41* (8), 560–567.
- Beadenkopf, W. G.; Daoud, A. S.; Love, B. M. Calcification in the Coronary Arteries and Its Relationship to Arteriosclerosis and Myocardial Infarction. Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nucl Med 1964, 92, 865–871.
- Benjamin, E. J.; Blaha, M. J.; Chiuve, S. E.; Cushman, M.; Das, S. R.; Deo, R.; de Ferranti, S. D.; Floyd, J.; Fornage, M.; Gillespie, C.; et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2017 Update: a Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2017, *135* (10), e146–e603.
- Bentzon, J. F.; Otsuka, F.; Virmani, R.; Falk, E. Mechanisms of Plaque Formation and Rupture. *Circ. Res.* **2014**, *114* (12), 1852–1866.
- Bruderer, M.; Richards, R. G.; Alini, M.; Stoddart, M. J. Role and Regulation of RUNX2 in Osteogenesis. *Eur Cell Mater* **2014**.
- Buckley, N. E.; McCoy, K. L.; Mezey, E.; Bonner, T.; Felder, C. C.; Glass, M.; Zimmer, A. Immunomodulation by Cannabinoids Is Absent in Mice Deficient for the Cannabinoid CB(2) Receptor. *European Journal of Pharmacology* **2000**, *396* (2-3), 141–149.
- Bui, Q. T.; Prempeh, M.; Wilensky, R. L. Atherosclerotic Plaque Development. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* **2009**, *41* (11), 2109–2113.
- Byon, C. H.; Javed, A.; Dai, Q.; Kappes, J. C.; Clemens, T. L.; Darley-Usmar, V. M.; McDonald, J. M.; Chen, Y. Oxidative Stress Induces Vascular Calcification Through Modulation of the Osteogenic Transcription Factor Runx2 by AKT Signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2008, 283 (22), 15319–15327.
- Carlisle, S. J.; Marciano-Cabral, F.; Staab, A.; Ludwick, C.; Cabral, G. A. Differential Expression of the CB2 Cannabinoid Receptor by Rodent Macrophages and Macrophage-Like Cells in Relation to Cell Activation. *International Immunopharmacology* 2002, 2 (1), 69–82.
- Chellaiah, M. A.; Kizer, N.; Biswas, R.; Alvarez, U.; Strauss-Schoenberger, J.; Rifas, L.; Rittling, S. R.; Denhardt, D. T.; Hruska, K. A. Osteopontin Deficiency Produces Osteoclast Dysfunction Due to Reduced CD44 Surface Expression. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 2003, 14 (1), 173– 189.
- Ducy, P.; Karsenty, G. Two Distinct Osteoblast-Specific Cis-Acting Elements Control Expression of a Mouse Osteocalcin Gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **1995**, *15* (4), 1858–1869.
- Ducy, P.; Zhang, R.; Geoffroy, V.; Ridall, A. L.; Karsenty, G. Osf2/Cbfa1: a Transcriptional Activator of Osteoblast Differentiation. *Cell* **1997**, *89* (5), 747–754.
- Farhat, G. N.; Cauley, J. A. The Link Between Osteoporosis and Cardiovascular Disease. *Clin Cases Miner Bone Metab* 2008, 5 (1), 19–34.
- Franceschi, R. T. The Developmental Control of Osteoblast-Specific Gene Expression: Role of Specific Transcription Factors and the Extracellular Matrix Environment. *Crit. Rev. Oral Biol. Med.* 1999, 10 (1), 40–57.
- Galiègue, S.; Mary, S.; Marchand, J.; Dussossoy, D.; Carrière, D.; Carayon, P.; Bouaboula, M.;
  Shire, D.; Le Fur, G.; Casellas, P. Expression of Central and Peripheral Cannabinoid
  Receptors in Human Immune Tissues and Leukocyte Subpopulations. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1995**, 232 (1), 54–61.
- Hamerman, D. Osteoporosis and Atherosclerosis: Biological Linkages and the Emergence of
Dual-Purpose Therapies. QJM 2005, 98 (7), 467-484.

- Huang, Y.-F.; Lin, J.-J.; Lin, C.-H.; Su, Y.; Hung, S.-C. C-Jun N-Terminal Kinase 1 Negatively Regulates Osteoblastic Differentiation Induced by BMP2 via Phosphorylation of Runx2 at Ser104. J. Bone Miner. Res. 2012, 27 (5), 1093–1105.
- Iyemere, V. P.; Proudfoot, D.; Weissberg, P. L.; Shanahan, C. M. Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotypic Plasticity and the Regulation of Vascular Calcification. J. Intern. Med. 2006, 260 (3), 192–210.
- Jonason, J. H.; Xiao, G.; Zhang, M.; Xing, L.; Chen, D. Post-Translational Regulation of Runx2 in Bone and Cartilage. *J. Dent. Res.* **2009**, *88* (8), 693–703.
- Komori, T.; Yagi, H.; Nomura, S.; Yamaguchi, A.; Sasaki, K.; Deguchi, K.; Shimizu, Y.;
  Bronson, R. T.; Gao, Y. H.; Inada, M.; et al. Targeted Disruption of Cbfa1 Results in a Complete Lack of Bone Formation Owing to Maturational Arrest of Osteoblasts. *Cell* 1997, 89 (5), 755–764.
- Lin, M.-E.; Chen, T.; Leaf, E. M.; Speer, M. Y.; Giachelli, C. M. Runx2 Expression in Smooth Muscle Cells Is Required for Arterial Medial Calcification in Mice. Am. J. Pathol. 2015, 185 (7), 1958–1969.
- Lund, S. A.; Giachelli, C. M.; Scatena, M. The Role of Osteopontin in Inflammatory Processes. *J. Cell Commun. Signal.* **2009**, *3* (3-4), 311–322.
- Montecucco, F.; Burger, F.; Mach, F.; Steffens, S. CB2 Cannabinoid Receptor Agonist JWH-015 Modulates Human Monocyte Migration Through Defined Intracellular Signaling Pathways. AJP: Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2008, 294 (3), H1145–H1155.
- Munro, S.; Thomas, K. L.; Abu-Shaar, M. Molecular Characterization of a Peripheral Receptor for Cannabinoids. ProQuest. *Nature* **1993**.
- Murshed, M.; Harmey, D.; Millán, J. L.; McKee, M. D.; Karsenty, G. Unique Coexpression in Osteoblasts of Broadly Expressed Genes Accounts for the Spatial Restriction of ECM Mineralization to Bone. *Genes Dev.* 2005, 19 (9), 1093–1104.
- Netherland, C. D.; Pickle, T. G.; Bales, A.; Thewke, D. P. Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) Deficiency Alters Atherosclerotic Lesion Formation in Hyperlipidemic Ldlr-Null Mice. *Atherosclerosis* **2010**, *213* (1), 102–108.
- Otto, F.; Thornell, A. P.; Crompton, T.; Denzel, A.; Gilmour, K. C.; Rosewell, I. R.; Stamp, G. W.; Beddington, R. S.; Mundlos, S.; Olsen, B. R.; et al. Cbfa1, a Candidate Gene for Cleidocranial Dysplasia Syndrome, Is Essential for Osteoblast Differentiation and Bone Development. *Cell* 1997, *89* (5), 765–771.
- Prince, M.; Banerjee, C.; Javed, A.; Green, J.; Lian, J. B.; Stein, G. S.; Bodine, P. V.; Komm, B. S. Expression and Regulation of Runx2/Cbfa1 and Osteoblast Phenotypic Markers During the Growth and Differentiation of Human Osteoblasts. J. Cell. Biochem. 2001, 80 (3), 424–440.
- Qiao, M.; Shapiro, P.; Fosbrink, M.; Rus, H.; Kumar, R.; Passaniti, A. Cell Cycle-Dependent Phosphorylation of the RUNX2 Transcription Factor by Cdc2 Regulates Endothelial Cell Proliferation. J. Biol. Chem. 2006, 281 (11), 7118–7128.
- Rajesh, M.; Mukhopadhyay, P.; Hasko, G.; Huffman, J. W.; Mackie, K.; Pacher, P. CB2
  Cannabinoid Receptor Agonists Attenuate TNF-A-Induced Human Vascular Smooth
  Muscle Cell Proliferation and Migration. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 2008, *153* (2), 347–357.
- Sage, A. P.; Tintut, Y.; Demer, L. L. Regulatory Mechanisms in Vascular Calcification. *Nat Rev Cardiol* **2010**, *7* (9), 528–536.
- Sato, M.; Morii, E.; Komori, T.; Kawahata, H.; Sugimoto, M.; Terai, K.; Shimizu, H.; Yasui, T.;

Ogihara, H.; Yasui, N.; et al. Transcriptional Regulation of Osteopontin Gene in Vivo by PEBP2alphaA/CBFA1 and ETS1 in the Skeletal Tissues. *Oncogene* **1998**, *17* (12), 1517–1525.

- Shanahan, C. M.; Cary, N. R.; Salisbury, J. R.; Proudfoot, D.; Weissberg, P. L.; Edmonds, M. E. Medial Localization of Mineralization-Regulating Proteins in Association with Mönckeberg's Sclerosis: Evidence for Smooth Muscle Cell-Mediated Vascular Calcification. *Circulation* **1999**, *100* (21), 2168–2176.
- Shanahan, C. M.; Weissberg, P. L. Smooth Muscle Cell Heterogeneity: Patterns of Gene Expression in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells in Vitro and in Vivo. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 1998, 18 (3), 333–338.
- Shanahan, C. M.; Weissberg, P. L.; Metcalfe, J. C. Isolation of Gene Markers of Differentiated and Proliferating Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. *Circ. Res.* **1993**, *73* (1), 193–204.
- Shen, R.; Wang, X.; Drissi, H.; Liu, F.; O'Keefe, R. J.; Chen, D. Cyclin D1-Cdk4 Induce Runx2 Ubiquitination and Degradation. J. Biol. Chem. 2006, 281 (24), 16347–16353.
- Sila-Asna, M.; Bunyaratvej, A.; Maeda, S.; Kitaguchi, H.; Bunyaratavej, N. Osteoblast Differentiation and Bone Formation Gene Expression in Strontium-Inducing Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell. *Kobe J Med Sci* 2007, *53* (1-2), 25–35.
- Steffens, S.; Veillard, N. R.; Arnaud, C.; Pelli, G.; Burger, F.; Staub, C.; Zimmer, A.; Frossard, J.-L.; Mach, F. Low Dose Oral Cannabinoid Therapy Reduces Progression of Atherosclerosis in Mice. *Nature* 2005a, 434 (7034), 782–786.
- Steffens, S.; Veillard, N. R.; Arnaud, C.; Pelli, G.; Burger, F.; Staub, C.; Zimmer, A.; Frossard, J.-L.; Mach, F. Low Dose Oral Cannabinoid Therapy Reduces Progression of Atherosclerosis in Mice. *Nature* 2005b, 434 (7034), 782–786.
- Stojanovic, O. I.; Lazovic, M.; Lazovic, M.; Vuceljic, M. Association Between Atherosclerosis and Osteoporosis, the Role of Vitamin D. *Arch Med Sci* **2011**, *7* (2), 179–188.
- Sudhakar, S.; Li, Y.; Katz, M. S.; Elango, N. Translational Regulation Is a Control Point in RUNX2/Cbfa1 Gene Expression. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2001, 289 (2), 616– 622.
- Sugamura, K.; Sugiyama, S.; Nozaki, T.; Matsuzawa, Y.; Izumiya, Y.; Miyata, K.; Nakayama, M.; Kaikita, K.; Obata, T.; Takeya, M.; et al. Activated Endocannabinoid System in Coronary Artery Disease and Antiinflammatory Effects of Cannabinoid 1 Receptor Blockade on Macrophages. *Circulation* **2009**, *119* (1), 28–36.
- Sun, Y.; Byon, C. H.; Yuan, K.; Chen, J.; Mao, X.; Heath, J. M.; Javed, A.; Zhang, K.; Anderson, P. G.; Chen, Y. Smooth Muscle Cell-Specific Runx2 Deficiency Inhibits Vascular Calcification. *Circ. Res.* 2012, *111* (5), 543–552.
- Takeuchi, Y.; Nakayama, K.; Matsumoto, T. Differentiation and Cell Surface Expression of Transforming Growth Factor-Beta Receptors Are Regulated by Interaction with Matrix Collagen in Murine Osteoblastic Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 1996, 271 (7), 3938–3944.
- Thirunavukkarasu, K.; Halladay, D. L.; Miles, R. R.; Yang, X.; Galvin, R. J.; Chandrasekhar, S.; Martin, T. J.; Onyia, J. E. The Osteoblast-Specific Transcription Factor Cbfa1 Contributes to the Expression of Osteoprotegerin, a Potent Inhibitor of Osteoclast Differentiation and Function. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275 (33), 25163–25172.
- Tintut, Y.; Alfonso, Z.; Saini, T.; Radcliff, K.; Watson, K.; Boström, K.; Demer, L. L. Multilineage Potential of Cells From the Artery Wall. *Circulation* 2003, 108 (20), 2505– 2510.
- Tyson, K. L.; Reynolds, J. L.; McNair, R.; Zhang, Q.; Weissberg, P. L.; Shanahan, C. M.

Osteo/Chondrocytic Transcription Factors and Their Target Genes Exhibit Distinct Patterns of Expression in Human Arterial Calcification. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* **2003**, *23* (3), 489–494.

- Wada, T.; McKee, M. D.; Steitz, S.; Giachelli, C. M. Calcification of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Cultures: Inhibition by Osteopontin. *Circ. Res.* 1999, 84 (2), 166–178.
- Walsh, M. C.; Choi, Y. Biology of the TRANCE Axis. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* **2003**, *14* (3-4), 251–263.
- Wee, H.-J.; Huang, G.; Shigesada, K.; Ito, Y. Serine Phosphorylation of RUNX2 with Novel Potential Functions as Negative Regulatory Mechanisms. *EMBO Rep.* 2002, 3 (10), 967– 974.
- Zhao, Y.; Yuan, Z.; Liu, Y.; Xue, J.; Tian, Y.; Liu, W.; Zhang, W.; Shen, Y.; Xu, W.; Liang, X.; et al. Activation of Cannabinoid CB2 Receptor Ameliorates Atherosclerosis Associated with Suppression of Adhesion Molecules. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 2010, 55 (3), 292– 298.

# Supplemental Figures



Supplemental Figure 3.5 CB2 deficiency does not affect ALP activity within atherosclerotic lesions of Ldlr-null mice. A) Representative photomicrographs showing ALP activity (pink) in aortic root lesions of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed an atherogenic diet for 20 weeks. B) Quantification of ALP activity within aortic root lesions. Data is represented as percentage of positive stain per total lesion area and mean±S.D. n=6 for each group.

### CHAPTER 4

# EFFECTS OF EXOGENOUS CB2 LIGANDS ON CALCIFICATION OF ADVANCED ATHEROSCLEROTIC PLAQUES IN LDLR-NULL MICE

Makenzie L Fulmer, Emilee Englehaupt and Douglas P. Thewke\*

Department of Biomedical Sciences, James H. Quillen College of Medicine, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN 37614

\* Corresponding Author. Mailing address: James H. Quillen College of Medicine, ETSU, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Box 70582, Johnson City, TN 37614 Phone: (423) 439-2131. Fax: (423) 439-2030. E-mail: <u>thewke@mail.etsu.edu</u>

Keywords: Atherosclerosis, Cannabinoid receptor 2, Calcification, Smooth Muscle Cell, JWH015, SR144528

#### Abstract

<u>Objective</u>: Atherosclerotic calcification is a risk factor for future adverse cardiovascular events. Cannabinoid receptor type 2 (CB2) activation reduces plaque burden in murine models of atherosclerosis. CB2 is well known to modulate bone remodeling processes and we recently observed that CB2 deficiency in Ldlr-null mice enhances lesion calcification. However, the ability to affect atherosclerotic calcification by pharmacologically targeting CB2 is unknown. Therefore, we investigated the effects of JWH-015 (CB2-selective agonist) and SR144528 (CB2seelctive inverse agonist/antagonist) on calcification of atherosclerotic lesions in hyperlipidemic low-density lipoprotein receptor (Ldlr) null mice.

<u>Methods and results</u>: At 8 weeks of age, Ldlr-null mice were placed on a high fat diet (HFD) for 24 weeks with administration of either JWH-015 (1mg/kg) or SR144528 (1mg/kg) three times a week for the final four weeks. No change was observed in mean body mass or total plasma cholesterol in response to either treatment; however, total plasma triglycerides were significantly decreased in CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice in response to SR144528 administration (116.7±13.3 versus 292.1±37.1 mg/dL; p=0.0009). Aortic root lesion area was not discernably affected by treatment with either JWH-015 or SR144528. Von kossa staining of aortic root lesions revealed Ldlr-null mice treated with SR144528 had significantly less calcium deposition compared to controls (12.7±0.9 versus 15.8±0.7%; p=0.03). Treatment with JWH-015 also reduced calcium deposition in Ldlr-null mice, but the decrease was not significant. Immunoblot analysis revealed increased Runx2 and osteopontin (OPN) expression in aortic arch lysates of Ldlr-null mice treated with JWH-015. Analysis of aortas cultured *ex vivo* in an osteogenic media revealed that supplementation of the media with a CB2 agonist decreased aortic calcification while supplementation with a CB2 antagonist increased aortic calcium deposition.

<u>Conclusion</u>: Pharmacological targeting of CB2 does not alter lesion size in more advanced atherosclerotic lesions of Ldlr-null mice, but does affect circulating triglycerides levels and osteogenic processes in vascular and lesional calcification. This data provides the proof of principle that CB2-specific therapies might be developed to exert beneficial effects on vascular and atherosclerotic calcification.

#### Introduction

Myocardial infarction and stroke, acute clinical consequences of atherosclerosis, remains to be the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in the developed world (Benjamin et al., 2017). Decades of research has provided insight into the mechanisms involved in atherogenesis, a disease that was once thought to be simply caused by a dysregulation of lipid metabolism. Atherosclerosis is now recognized as a progressive inflammatory condition of medium- and large-sized arteries (Libby et al., 2002) involving a complex network of immune cells, lipids, and other cellular debris over the course of several decades. Currently, the most wildly used therapies for patients with atherosclerosis are drugs that target hypercholesterolemia (statins) and hypertension (beta-blockers), two cardiovascular disease risk factors. While these therapies have been successful in reducing the severity of risk factors in affected patients, they have only slightly decreased mortality rates associated with heart disease. It is therefore extremely important for new treatment regimens to be uncovered, and much interest has been gained in targeting the immune system as a therapeutic approach in an attempt to further decrease mortality rates associated with atherosclerosis.

Endocannabinoids and other cannabinoids exert the majority of their effects through binding two G-protein coupled receptors, cannabinoid receptor type 1 (CB1) and cannabinoid receptor type 2 (CB2). Exogenous cannabinoids such as delta9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) are well-known for their psychotropic effects, and increasing knowledge is being obtained regarding their anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects. Expression of CB1 is primarily seen in the central nervous system where its activation results in psychotropic effects, but is also found in the heart (Bátkai et al., 2004), liver (Osei-Hyiaman et al., 2005), adipocytes (Cota et al., 2003), and vasculature (Liu et al., 2000). Immunosuppressive effects of cannabinoids are

mediated through CB2, which is prominently expressed by cells of the peripheral immune system, but also found on adipocytes (Roche et al., 2006), endothelial cells (Blázquez et al., 2003; Rajesh et al., 2007), and in the pancreas (Juan-Picó et al., 2006).

Research over the past 15 years has provided evidence for a beneficial role of cannabinoids in the treatment of inflammatory disorders (Di Marzo et al., 2004; Klein, 2005; Steffens et al., 2005a; Pacher et al., 2006; Mach and Steffens, 2008; Netherland et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2010a; 2010b; Hoyer et al., 2011). Use of cannabinoid agonists have shown beneficial CB2-dependent effects in animal models of gastrointestinal diseases (Wright et al., 2008; Storr et al., 2009), cardiac and hepatic ischemia-reperfusion (Bátkai et al., 2007; Defer et al., 2009), and various neurological disorders (Malan et al., 2001; Klegeris et al., 2003). In the setting of atherosclerosis, the role of CB2 is not completely understood, although there is strong evidence for an atheroprotective function. Reduction of atherosclerosis has been shown in ApoEnull mice after administration of plant-derived (THC) (Steffens et al., 2005a) and synthetic (Win55,212-2) (Zhao et al., 2010b) cannabinoids. These effects were attributed to decreased adhesion molecule activation and monocyte recruitment, and were abolished in the presence of CB2, but not CB1, antagonists. A study from our laboratory using WIN55,212-2 in Ldlr-null mice did not find CB2-dependent effects on lesional macrophage infiltration, but did find reductions in lesional smooth muscle cell (SMC) content and apoptosis (Netherland-Van Dyke et al., 2015a). In another study, we observed increased lesional macrophage infiltration in Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> mice lacking CB2 (Netherland et al., 2010). Other independent investigators have also reported systemic and hematopoietic-specific CB2 gene deletion increases macrophage content in atherosclerotic lesions from Ldlr-null (Delsing et al., 2011; Willecke et al., 2011) and ApoE-null mice (Hoyer et al., 2011). Yet, other investigators have reported seemingly conflicting results of the effects of the synthetic CB2 agonist JWH-133, with lesion progression being either unaffected in Ldlr-null mice (Willecke et al., 2011) or reduced in ApoE-null mice (Hoyer et al., 2011). The variability in these results, possibly due to strain-specific differences in the atherosclerosis mouse models (Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> vs ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>) and differences in the chemical composition of synthetic drugs, has made it difficult to uncover a consensus view of the therapeutic potential for CB2 in the progression of atherosclerosis.

Calcification of advanced atherosclerotic plaques is a risk factor for adverse cardiovascular events, independent of traditional risk factors such as smoking, diabetes, obesity, and physical inactivity. Recently, we found that CB2 gene deficiency increases plaque calcification in Ldlr-null mice fed an atherogenic diet for 20 weeks (manuscript in preparation). In this study, we investigated the effects of pharmacologically targeting CB2 with an agonist and an antagonist on atherosclerotic calcification in Ldlr-null mice *in vivo* and in aortas cultured in an *ex vivo* model of vascular calcification.

#### Materials and Methods

#### Animal atherosclerosis and pharmacological administration protocol

Ldlr-null mice (CB2<sup>+/+</sup>) and Ldlr-null mice lacking CB2 (CB2<sup>-/-</sup>) were as previously described (Netherland et al., 2010). At 8 weeks of age, groups (n=8) of male mice were placed on an high fat diet (HFD) consisting of 21% fat and 0.15% cholesterol (Harlan Teklad, Madison, WI) for a total of 24 weeks. During the final 4 weeks of HFD feeding, groups of mice received intraperitoneal (i.p.) injections of either 1mg/kg JWH-015 (Tocris, Bristol, United Kingdom) or 1mg/kg SR144528 (Tocris, Bristol, United Kingdom) diluted in 50% DMSO/50% saline three times per week (Monday, Wednesday, Friday). Control mice received i.p. injections of an equivalent volume of vehicle (100 μL).

All mice were housed in a pathogen-free, temperature- and humidity-controlled room in the Animal Research Facility at East Tennessee State University. Mice were maintained on a standard chow diet (Ralston Purina, St. Louis, MO) with water provided *ad libitum*. All animal procedures were approved by and conducted in accordance with the guidelines administered by the Institutional Animal Care and Usage Committee of East Tennessee State University and in conformity with the Public Health Service Policy on Humane Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the National Institutes of Health.

#### Physiological Parameters

Following an overnight fast, blood samples were collected under anesthesia by cardiac puncture. Blood was separated by centrifugation and plasma was assayed for total cholesterol and triglyceride levels using commercially available kits (Pointe Scientific, Inc., Canton, MI) according to manufacturer's protocol.

#### Analysis of Atherosclerosis

Anesthetized mice were euthanized as previously described (Netherland et al., 2010) and hearts containing proximal aortic arch and brachiocephalic arteries were dissected and snap frozen in OCT embedding medium. Serial 8µm cross-sections of the aortic root were collected as previously described (Liu et al., 2005; Netherland et al., 2010). The extent of atherosclerosis was determined by computer-assisted morphometric analysis using ImageJ (NIH, Bethesda, MD) following oil-red O staining for neutral lipid content as previously described.

#### Histological Staining

Calcium deposition was determined using the von Kossa method. Positive staining areas were quantified using NIH ImageJ software and represented as the percentage of total atherosclerotic plaque area relative to control. For each sample, a minimum of four slides containing four cross sections were evaluated and averaged.

#### Immunoblotting

Atherosclerotic aortas (aortic arch and thoracic aorta) were homogenized in 1X cell lysis buffer (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA) supplemented with 1X protease inhibitor mix (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Protein content was determined using a microBCA kit (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). Lysates containing 20µg of protein were separated on 4-12% Bis/Tris gels (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane. Membranes were blocked for 1h at room temperature in tris-buffered saline 0.1% tween 20 (TBS-T) containing 5% non-fat dry milk and probed with antibodies to Runx2 (Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX; sc-10758) (1:2000 dilution) and OPN (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN; AF808) (1:3000) overnight at 4°C. Membranes were washed with TBS-T and incubated with either goat anti-rabbit (1:2000 dilution, for Runx2) or rabbit anti-goat (1:2000, for OPN) horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX) and developed using Amersham ECL Prime Western Blotting Detection Reagent (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences, Pittsburgh, PA) and a Fujifilm Fla-4000 imager. Membranes were stripped and probed with a βactin antibody (Neomarkers, Portsmouth, NH; RB-9421-PO) (1:3000) to serve as a loading control.

#### Ex vivo organ culture

Thoracic aortas were dissected from CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice maintained on a standard chow diet and cultured in DMEM supplemented with 15% fetal bovine serum, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 mg/mL streptomycin at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Induction of calcification was achieved by addition of 2.6 mmol/L Pi (Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>/NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.4) to the culture medium (osteogenic media). Aortas were treated with either CB2 agonist HU-308 (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI) or CB2 antagonist SR144528 (Tocris, Bristol, United Kingdom) in osteogenic media at a final concentration of 2 µM. Segments of the same aorta were placed in separate culture wells, with one segment incubated with osteogenic media alone (control) and the other segments cultured in osteogenic media supplemented with either HU-308 or SR144528. At the end of 4 days, the segments were washed with phosphate buffered saline and snap frozen in OCT medium and cryosectioned at 8 µm. Calcium deposition was visualized by staining of thawed cryosections with 2% Alizarin red (pH 4.2) for 5 min followed by rinsing with dH<sub>2</sub>O three times. Digital images were acquired and the extent of calcium deposition was determined by quantifying the Alizarin red stained area by computer assisted morphometric analysis with ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD).

## Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as means±S.D. Student's t-test or ANOVA methods were employed using SigmaPlot (StyStat Software, Chicago, IL) to assess differences between groups, with probability values of less than 0.05 considered statistically significant.

Properties of all synthetic cannabinoids used in this study are listed in the supplemental (SF 4.6).

#### <u>Results</u>

#### SR144528 decrease plasma triglyceride levels in Ldlr-null mice

Ldlr-null mice with and without CB2 (CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup>, respectively) were fed an atherogenic diet for 24 weeks to induce the formation advanced atherosclerosis. During the last 4 weeks, groups of mice we given i.p. injections of either JWH-015 or SR144528 at a final concentration of 1mg/kg three times per week. Control mice were given the same volume of vehicle. After treatment with exogenous CB2 ligands, no significant differences in mean body mass (Figure 4.1a) or plasma cholesterol (Figure 4.1b) were observed for either genotype. Although plasma triglyceride levels tended to be lower in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice, the difference did not reach statistical significance (Figure 4.1c). Treatment of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice with SR144528 resulted in a ~60% decrease in plasma triglyceride levels compared to controls (116.7±13.3 versus 292.1±37.1 mg/dL, respectively; p=0.0009), an effect which was absent in CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (264.4±31.8 versus 191.7±33.1 mg/dL, respectively; p=0.1). Treatment with either JWH-015 or SR144528 did not affect the size of established aortic root lesions in either genotype (Figure 4.1d).



Figure 4.1 SR144528 reduces triglyceride levels in Ldlr-null mice by a CB2-dependent mechanism. Body weights (A) serum cholesterol (B) triglyceride (C) and aortic root lesion size (D) of CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice after 24 weeks of HFD in which the mice were given i.p. injections of JWH-015 or SR144528 (1mg/kg, 3x per week) for the final 4 weeks. The results are the mean $\pm$ S.D. (n=6-8). \*p<0.001

#### SR144528 treatment reduces calcium deposition in atherosclerotic plaques

We next compared the extent of atherosclerotic calcification in Ldlr-null (CB2<sup>+/+</sup>) mice treated with JWH-015 or SR144528 by von Kossa staining aortic root cross sections (Figure 4.2). Quantification of the lesion area staining positive for calcium revealed that treatment with the CB2 agonist, JWH-015, reduced the calcium deposition compared to controls, but the decrease did not reach statistical significance. Surprisingly, treatment with the CB2 antagonist, SR1144528, also resulted in less calcium deposition ( $12.7\pm0.9$  versus  $15.8\pm0.7\%$  for controls; p=0.03). Treatment with either compound did not significantly affect the extent of calcium deposition in aortic root lesions of CB2<sup>-/-</sup> Ldlr-null mice (see supplemental Table 4.1).



Figure 4.2 CB2 antagonism reduces atherosclerotic calcification in Ldlr-null mice. A) Representative photomicrographs of von Kossa stained aortic root cross sections from Ldlr-null mice following treatment with JWH-015 or SR144528. B) Quantification of total aortic root lesion area occupied by calcium as indicated by positive von Kossa-staining. Data represented as relative staining compared to control (vehicle). The results are the mean±S.D. (n=8) \*p<0.05.

We previously observed CB2-dependent effects on lesional osteoclast activity (Figure 3.2).

Biochemical staining of tartrate-resistant phosphatase (TRAP) activity in aortic root lesions of

JWH-015 or SR144528 treated Ldlr-null mice revealed no differences in osteoclast activity from that in vehicle treated controls (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3 Administration of a CB2 agonist and antagonist does not affect TRAP activity in Ldlrnull mice. A) Representative photomicrographs of aortic root cross sections stained for TRAP activity from CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice after 24 weeks of HFD with i.p. injections of either JWH-015 or SR144528 over the final 4 weeks. B) Quantification of percent of total lesion area staining positive for TRAP activity. Data is presented as the mean±S.D. (n=8)

# Administration of exogenous ligands alters aortic Runx2 and OPN protein levels in Ldlr-null mice

Runx2 is a master transcription factor controlling osteoblastogenesis in a stage-dependent manner (Bruderer et al., 2014). At early stages of development, Runx2 functions in the commitment of precursor cells to the osteoblast lineage; however, Runx2 inhibits the maturation of pre-osteoblasts in later stages. We previously found that Runx2 was decreased in calcified aortic lesions of CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice (Figure 3.3). Further, in early atherosclerotic lesions of Ldlr-null mice fed HFD for 12 weeks, treatment with WIN55,212-2, a mixed CB1/CB2 agonist, increased aortic expression of Runx2 in a dose-dependent manner (Supplemental Fig. 4.7). Therefore, we determined if the treatment of Ldlr-null mice with JWH-015 and SR144528 also affected the level of Runx2 detected in calcified aortic tissues (Figure 4.4a,b). Immunoblot analysis using showed no discernable differences between the amount of Runx2 in aortas from SR144528-treated mice and vehicle control mice. However, Runx2 levels were significantly elevated in calcified aortas from JWH-015-treated mice compared to the vehicle control.

Osteopontin (OPN) is an important regulator of osteogenesis, as it serves as a potent negative regulator of ectopic mineralization in vascular tissue (Scatena et al., 2007). In early atherosclerotic lesions of Ldlr-null mice fed HFD for 12 weeks, administration of WIN55,212-2 dose-dependently increases in aortic OPN expression (Supplemental Fig. 4.7). Immunoblot analysis showed greater OPN levels in aortas of JWH-015-treated Ldlr-null mice and decreased levels in aortas of SR144528-treated mice compared to control mice (Supplemental Figure 4.8).



Figure 4.4 Upregulation of Runx2 levels in calcified aortas of Ldlr-null mice treated with JWH-015. Immunoblot analysis of aortic arch lysates from Ldlr-null mice after 24 weeks of HFD and 4 weeks of i.p. administration of JWH-015 or SR144528. A) Representative immunoblot of aortic tissue probed with Runx2 antibody. B) Quantification of Runx2 protein levels detected by immunoblotting of aortic arch lysate. Data is presented as the mean±SD ratio of the intensity of the target protein relative to a loading control protein (HSC70). (n=3) \*p<0.05.

#### Administration of exogenous ligands alters vascular calcification in ex vivo cultured aortas

To more rapidly screen exogenous CB2 ligands for effects on vascular calcification we utilized a recently developed culture method of inducing calcification of aortas *ex vivo* (Akiyoshi et al., 2016). This method uses an osteogenic media containing 2.6 mM Pi to induce aortic calcification in 3-5 days of culture (Akiyoshi et al., 2016). Each aorta dissected from an Ldlr-

null mouse fed a normal chow diet was cut in half, with one half cultured in osteogenic media (OG) and the other half cultured in OG media supplemented with a CB2 agonist (HU-308) or OG media supplemented with a CB2 antagonist (SR144528) (Figure 4.5a). After 4 days in culture, the aortas were removed and adjacent 8 µm cryosections were prepared for analysis of calcium deposition by staining with alizarin red (Figure 4.5b). Calcium deposition in aorta segments cultured in the presence of HU-308 was reduced compared to that seen in the corresponding segments cultured in OG media alone, while aorta segments cultured in the presence of SR144528 had increased calcium deposition relative to their corresponding control aorta segments (Figure 4.5c). Aorta segments cultured in standard media (0.9 mM Pi) did not show positive staining with alizarin red (data not shown).



Figure 4.5 CB2 agonist and antagonist differentially affect calcification of aortas *ex vivo*. A) Schematic of culture method. B) Representative photomicrographs of alizarin red stained cross sections of aorta segments after culture in osteogenic medium (control), and osteogenic medium containing either  $2\mu$ M HU-308 or  $2\mu$ M SR144528 for 4 days. B) Quantification of the effect of HU308 and SR144528 on calcium deposition in aorta segments from 6 different Ldlr-null mice. Data is presented and the mean±S.D. of the ratio of the % area staining positive for the treatment and the % area staining positive in the corresponding control aorta segment from the same mouse. A total of four sections were stained for each segment and averaged. \*p<0.05

#### Discussion

Previous studies have provided evidence supporting a CB2-dependent reduction in early atherosclerosis progression in atherogenic ApoE-null mice treated with synthetic cannabinoids WIN55,212-2 (Zhao et al., 2010a; 2010b) and JWH-133 (Hoyer et al., 2011). Further, CB2dependent and -independent roles were observed in Ldlr-null mice treated with WIN55,212-2 after initiation of early atherosclerotic lesions (Netherland-Van Dyke et al., 2015a). These studies assessed CB2-dependent characteristics such as lesion size and monocyte entry/macrophage content, but with some contradicting results. For instance, administration of natural or synthetic CB1/CB2 agonists in ApoE-null mice demonstrates atherosclerotic lesion size regression in a CB2-dependent manner (Steffens et al., 2005b; Zhao et al., 2010a; 2010b; Hoyer et al., 2011); however, this drug-induced effect on lesion burden has not been observed in Ldlr-null mice (Delsing et al., 2011; Willecke et al., 2011; Netherland-Van Dyke et al., 2015b). These apparently contradictory results could be explained, at least in part, by the strain-specific differences between ApoE- and Ldlr-null mice. In support of this, it is well-known that these two murine models of atherosclerosis differ in a number of parameters which can affect the pathophysiological characteristics of atherosclerosis (Daugherty and Rateri).

While increasing evidence has accumulated supporting a role for CB2 in modulation of early atherogenesis, to date, the effects of synthetic cannabinoids on processes in advanced atherosclerosis has not yet been explored. Most atherosclerotic plaques remain clinically insignificant, remaining stable enough to never initiate adverse cardiovascular events. However, among a significant population of people, unstable plaques become prone to rupture and subsequent thrombolytic activity creates the potential for myocardial infarction or stroke to occur. Beyond traditional risk factors, calcification of atherosclerotic plaques is a major risk factor for lesion instability and is highly correlated with mortality associated with atherosclerosis. In the present study, we provide the first evidence of the effects of synthetic cannabinoid administration on calcification of advanced atherosclerotic plaques in a murine model of atherosclerosis.

Consistent with our previous studies of CB2 deficiency in Ldlr-null mice, we found no effect on plaque burden or mean body mass of targeting CB2 in Ldlr-null mice with JWH-015 or SR144528. We did however, note SR144528 significantly reduced plasma triglyceride levels. Previously, our laboratory showed a reduction of plasma triglyceride levels associated with WIN55,212-2 administration in early atherogenesis (Netherland-Van Dyke et al., 2015a), but this effect was not CB2-dependent and was likely mediated through CB1 which is known to modulate plasma triglyceride levels in humans (Després et al., 2005; Van Gaal et al., 2005; Pi-Sunyer et al., 2006; Scheen and Van Gaal, 2007) and in mice (Dol-Gleizes et al., 2009). In another study from our laboratory, we found SR144528 blocked acyl-coenzyme A: cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT) activity and lipid accumulation in macrophages (Thewke et al., 2009), providing evidence for a role of CB2 blockade in lipoprotein metabolism while another group demonstrated AM1241 resulted in CB2-dependent intracellular lipid accumulation in hepatocytes in vitro (De Gottardi et al., 2010). These studies provide evidence that CB2dependent mechanisms also affecting lipid metabolism independently from CB1. However, it has been shown that SR144528 shares structural similarity to CB1 antagonist SR141716A, and it could be that in the absence of CB2 signaling, CB1 expression in the liver becomes downregulated in the presence of SR144528.

Our observation that blockade of CB2 by SR144528 reduced atherosclerotic lesion calcification in Ldlr-null mice, was somewhat surprising, as we observed lesion calcification to

increase in the setting of systemic CB2 deficiency in Ldlr-null mice. We speculate that this seemingly CB2-dependent effect might be related to the drastic decrease in plasma triglycerides elicited by SR144528, and not directly involve modulation of CB2 signaling in osteogenic processes. Evidence for this is two-fold: first, there is an invariable association between lipids and deposition of calcium crystals in atherosclerotic plaques (Hirsch et al., 1993; Parhami et al., 2002; Iyemere et al., 2006; Laird et al., 2006), and second, the expression of Runx2 and OPN in aorta was not consistent with that expected in an environment of reduced calcium deposition. We found that activation of CB2 with both WIN55,212-2 and JWH-015 increased Runx2 and OPN levels in early and late atherogenesis, respectively, which we and others have found to inhibit maturation of osteoblasts and inhibit calcification (Wada et al., 1999; Prince et al., 2001; Bruderer et al., 2014; McGee-Lawrence et al., 2014) (unpublished observation, Fulmer ML and Thewke DP).

To address the effects of pharmacological manipulation of CB2 on vascular calcification independently of extravascular parameters, such as hepatic triglyceride synthesis, we used an *ex vivo* aorta organ culture model. Our preliminary data shows that *ex vivo* aortas cultured in a high Pi osteogenic media rapidly induce calcium deposition by mechanism(s) which are inhibited by CB2 activation and provoked by CB2 antagonism. These results provide additional evidence of a protective role for CB2 signaling in atherosclerotic calcification and suggest that reduced atherosclerotic calcification seen in mice treated with SR144528 may be related to off-target or extravascular effects of SR144528. Further studies are required to determine the mechanism by which SR144528 reduces lesion calcification.

In conclusion, although administration of CB2-specific ligands does not induce lesion regression, SR144528 does reduce plasma triglycerides and plaque calcification. CB2 activation

with JWH-015 alters expression of Runx2 and OPN, key osteogenic regulatory proteins, in Ldlrnull mice. These results demonstrate that CB2 signaling might be a novel target to affect calcifying mechanisms in later stages of atherosclerotic lesion development, which may influence lesion stability. Understanding the exact mechanisms by which CB2 signaling directly and indirectly affects all aspects of lesion development need to be further explored. Many variable parameters are present in the current study, such as type of synthetic cannabinoid used as well as initiation, frequency, and duration of dosing. Further studies will need to be done that addresses these variables in order to provide better insight on how to best target CB2 to achieve beneficial results.

#### Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest to disclose.

#### Acknowledgements

Funding: This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health grants HL113878-01A1 and C06RR030651-01.

#### References

- Akiyoshi, T.; Ota, H.; Iijima, K.; Son, B.-K.; Kahyo, T.; Setou, M.; Ogawa, S.; Ouchi, Y.; Akishita, M. A Novel Organ Culture Model of Aorta for Vascular Calcification. *Atherosclerosis* 2016, 244, 51–58.
- Bátkai, S.; Osei-Hyiaman, D.; Pan, H.; El-Assal, O.; Rajesh, M.; Mukhopadhyay, P.; Hong, F.;
  Harvey-White, J.; Jafri, A.; Haskó, G.; et al. Cannabinoid-2 Receptor Mediates Protection
  Against Hepatic Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury. *FASEB J.* 2007, 21 (8), 1788–1800.
- Bátkai, S.; Pacher, P.; Osei-Hyiaman, D.; Radaeva, S.; Liu, J.; Harvey-White, J.; Offertáler, L.;
  Mackie, K.; Rudd, M. A.; Bukoski, R. D.; et al. Endocannabinoids Acting at Cannabinoid-1 Receptors Regulate Cardiovascular Function in Hypertension. *Circulation* 2004, *110* (14), 1996–2002.
- Benjamin, E. J.; Blaha, M. J.; Chiuve, S. E.; Cushman, M.; Das, S. R.; Deo, R.; de Ferranti, S. D.; Floyd, J.; Fornage, M.; Gillespie, C.; et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2017 Update: a Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2017, *135* (10), e146–e603.
- Blázquez, C.; Casanova, M. L.; Planas, A.; Gómez Del Pulgar, T.; Villanueva, C.; Fernández-Aceñero, M. J.; Aragonés, J.; Huffman, J. W.; Jorcano, J. L.; Guzmán, M. Inhibition of Tumor Angiogenesis by Cannabinoids. *FASEB J.* 2003, *17* (3), 529–531.
- Bruderer, M.; Richards, R. G.; Alini, M.; Stoddart, M. J. Role and Regulation of RUNX2 in Osteogenesis. *Eur Cell Mater* **2014**.
- Cota, D.; Marsicano, G.; Tschöp, M.; Grübler, Y.; Flachskamm, C.; Schubert, M.; Auer, D.;
  Yassouridis, A.; Thöne-Reineke, C.; Ortmann, S.; et al. The Endogenous Cannabinoid
  System Affects Energy Balance via Central Orexigenic Drive and Peripheral Lipogenesis.
  J. Clin. Invest. 2003, 112 (3), 423–431.
- Daugherty, A.; Rateri, D. L. Development of Experimental Designs for Atherosclerosis Studies in Mice - ScienceDirect. *sciencedirect.com*. Lexington pp 129–138.
- De Gottardi, A.; Spahr, L.; Ravier-Dall'Antonia, F.; Hadengue, A. Cannabinoid Receptor 1 and 2 Agonists Increase Lipid Accumulation in Hepatocytes. *Liver Int.* **2010**, *30* (10), 1482– 1489.
- Defer, N.; Wan, J.; Souktani, R.; Escoubet, B.; Perier, M.; Caramelle, P.; Manin, S.; Deveaux, V.; Bourin, M. C.; Zimmer, A.; et al. The Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 Promotes Cardiac Myocyte and Fibroblast Survival and Protects Against Ischemia/Reperfusion-Induced Cardiomyopathy. *The FASEB Journal* 2009, 23 (7), 2120–2130.
- Delsing, D. J. M.; Leijten, F. P.; Arts, K.; van Eenennaam, H.; Garritsen, A.; Gijbels, M. J. J.; de Winther, M. P. J.; van Elsas, A. Cannabinoid Receptor 2 Deficiency in Haematopoietic Cells Aggravates Early Atherosclerosis in LDL Receptor Deficient Mice. *Open Cardiovasc Med J* 2011, 5 (1), 15–21.
- Després, J.-P.; Golay, A.; Sjöström, L. Effects of Rimonabant on Metabolic Risk Factors in Overweight Patients with Dyslipidemia. *New England Journal of Medicine* **2005**, *353* (20), 2121–2134.
- Di Marzo, V.; Bifulco, M.; De Petrocellis, L. The Endocannabinoid System and Its Therapeutic Exploitation. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* **2004**, *3* (9), 771–784.
- Dol-Gleizes, F.; Paumelle, R.; Visentin, V.; Marés, A.-M.; Desitter, P.; Hennuyer, N.; Gilde, A.; Staels, B.; Schaeffer, P.; Bono, F. Rimonabant, a Selective Cannabinoid CB1 Receptor

Antagonist, Inhibits Atherosclerosis in LDL Receptor–Deficient Mice. Arterioscler. *Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* **2009**, *29* (1), 12–18.

- Hirsch, D.; Azoury, R.; Sarig, S.; Kruth, H. S. Colocalization of Cholesterol and Hydroxyapatite in Human Atherosclerotic Lesions. *Calcif. Tissue Int.* **1993**, *52* (2), 94–98.
- Hoyer, F. F.; Steinmetz, M.; Zimmer, S.; Becker, A.; Lütjohann, D.; Buchalla, R.; Zimmer, A.; Nickenig, G. Atheroprotection via Cannabinoid Receptor-2 Is Mediated by Circulating and Vascular Cells in Vivo. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 2011, *51* (6), 1007– 1014.
- Iyemere, V. P.; Proudfoot, D.; Weissberg, P. L.; Shanahan, C. M. Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotypic Plasticity and the Regulation of Vascular Calcification. J. Intern. Med. 2006, 260 (3), 192–210.
- Juan-Picó, P.; Fuentes, E.; Bermúdez-Silva, F. J.; Javier Díaz-Molina, F.; Ripoll, C.; Rodríguez de Fonseca, F.; Nadal, A. Cannabinoid Receptors Regulate Ca(2+) Signals and Insulin Secretion in Pancreatic Beta-Cell. *Cell Calcium* 2006, 39 (2), 155–162.
- Klegeris, A.; Bissonnette, C. J.; McGeer, P. L. Reduction of Human Monocytic Cell Neurotoxicity and Cytokine Secretion by Ligands of the Cannabinoid-Type CB2 Receptor. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 2003, 139 (4), 775–786.
- Klein, T. W. Cannabinoid-Based Drugs as Anti-Inflammatory Therapeutics. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **2005**, *5* (5), 400–411.
- Laird, D. F.; Mucalo, M. R.; Yokogawa, Y. Growth of Calcium Hydroxyapatite (Ca-HAp) on Cholesterol and Cholestanol Crystals From a Simulated Body Fluid: a Possible Insight Into the Pathological Calcifications Associated with Atherosclerosis. *J Colloid Interface Sci* 2006, 295 (2), 348–363.
- Libby, P.; Ridker, P. M.; Maseri, A. Inflammation and Atherosclerosis. *Circulation* **2002**, *105* (9), 1135–1143.
- Liu, J.; Gao, B.; Mirshahi, F.; Sanyal, A. J.; Khanolkar, A. D.; Makriyannis, A.; Kunos, G. Functional CB1 Cannabinoid Receptors in Human Vascular Endothelial Cells. *Biochemical Journal* 2000, 346 Pt 3 (Pt 3), 835–840.
- Liu, J.; Thewke, D. P.; Su, Y. R.; Linton, M. F.; Fazio, S.; Sinensky, M. S. Reduced Macrophage Apoptosis Is Associated with Accelerated Atherosclerosis in Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Null Mice. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2005, 25 (1), 174–179.
- Mach, F.; Steffens, S. The Role of the Endocannabinoid System in Atherosclerosis. J. Neuroendocrinol. 2008, 20 Suppl 1 (s1), 53–57.
- Malan, P. T., Jr.; Ibrahim, M. M.; Deng, H.; Liu, Q.; Mata, H. P.; Vanderah, T.; Porreca, F.; Makriyannis, A. CB2 Cannabinoid Receptor-Mediated Peripheral Antinociception. *Pain* 2001, 93 (3), 239–245.
- McGee-Lawrence, M. E.; Carpio, L. R.; Bradley, E. W.; Dudakovic, A.; Lian, J. B.; van Wijnen, A. J.; Kakar, S.; Hsu, W.; Westendorf, J. J. Runx2 Is Required for Early Stages of Endochondral Bone Formation but Delays Final Stages of Bone Repair in Axin2-Deficient Mice. *Bone* 2014, 66, 277–286.
- Netherland, C. D.; Pickle, T. G.; Bales, A.; Thewke, D. P. Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) Deficiency Alters Atherosclerotic Lesion Formation in Hyperlipidemic Ldlr-Null Mice. *Atherosclerosis* **2010**, *213* (1), 102–108.
- Netherland-Van Dyke, C.; Rodgers, W.; Fulmer, M.; Lahr, Z.; Thewke, D. Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) Dependent and Independent Effects of WIN55,212-2 on Atherosclerosis in Ldlr-Null Mice. J. Cardiol. Therap 2015a, 3 (2), 53–63.

- Netherland-Van Dyke, C.; Rodgers, W.; Fulmer, M.; Lahr, Z.; Thewke, D. Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) Dependent and Independent Effects of WIN55,212-2 on Atherosclerosis in Ldlr-Null Mice. J. Cardiol. Therap 2015b, 3 (2), 53–63.
- Osei-Hyiaman, D.; DePetrillo, M.; Pacher, P.; Liu, J.; Radaeva, S.; Bátkai, S.; Harvey-White, J.; Mackie, K.; Offertáler, L.; Wang, L.; et al. Endocannabinoid Activation at Hepatic CB1 Receptors Stimulates Fatty Acid Synthesis and Contributes to Diet-Induced Obesity. J. *Clin. Invest.* 2005, 115 (5), 1298–1305.
- Pacher, P.; Bátkai, S.; Kunos, G. The Endocannabinoid System as an Emerging Target of Pharmacotherapy. *Pharmacol Rev* 2006, *58* (3), 389–462.
- Parhami, F.; Basseri, B.; Hwang, J.; Tintut, Y.; Demer, L. L. High-Density Lipoprotein Regulates Calcification of Vascular Cells. *Circ. Res.* **2002**, *91* (7), 570–576.
- Pi-Sunyer, F. X.; Aronne, L. J.; Heshmati, H. M.; Devin, J.; Rosenstock, J.; RIO-North America Study Group, F. T. Effect of Rimonabant, a Cannabinoid-1 Receptor Blocker, on Weight and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Overweight or Obese Patients. JAMA 2006, 295 (7), 761–775.
- Prince, M.; Banerjee, C.; Javed, A.; Green, J.; Lian, J. B.; Stein, G. S.; Bodine, P. V.; Komm, B. S. Expression and Regulation of Runx2/Cbfa1 and Osteoblast Phenotypic Markers During the Growth and Differentiation of Human Osteoblasts. J. Cell. Biochem. 2001, 80 (3), 424–440.
- Rajesh, M.; Mukhopadhyay, P.; Bátkai, S.; Haskó, G.; Liaudet, L.; Huffman, J. W.; Csiszar, A.; Ungvari, Z.; Mackie, K.; Chatterjee, S.; et al. CB2-Receptor Stimulation Attenuates TNF-A-Induced Human Endothelial Cell Activation, Transendothelial Migration of Monocytes, and Monocyte-Endothelial Adhesion. *AJP: Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 2007, 293 (4), H2210–H2218.
- Roche, R.; Hoareau, L.; Bes-Houtmann, S.; Gonthier, M.-P.; Laborde, C.; Baron, J.-F.; Haffaf, Y.; Cesari, M.; Festy, F. Presence of the Cannabinoid Receptors, CB1 and CB2, in Human Omental and Subcutaneous Adipocytes. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 2006, *126* (2), 177–187.
- Scatena, M.; Liaw, L.; Giachelli, C. M. Osteopontin. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 2007, 27 (11), 2302–2309.
- Scheen, A. J.; Van Gaal, L. F. Rimonabant as an Adjunct Therapy in Overweight/Obese Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. *European Heart Journal* **2007**, *28* (11), 1401–1402.
- Steffens, S.; Veillard, N. R.; Arnaud, C.; Pelli, G.; Burger, F.; Staub, C.; Zimmer, A.; Frossard, J.-L.; Mach, F. Low Dose Oral Cannabinoid Therapy Reduces Progression of Atherosclerosis in Mice. *Nature* 2005a, 434 (7034), 782–786.
- Steffens, S.; Veillard, N. R.; Arnaud, C.; Pelli, G.; Burger, F.; Staub, C.; Zimmer, A.; Frossard, J.-L.; Mach, F. Low Dose Oral Cannabinoid Therapy Reduces Progression of Atherosclerosis in Mice. *Nature* **2005b**, *434* (7034), 782–786.
- Storr, M. A.; Keenan, C. M.; Zhang, H.; Patel, K. D.; Makriyannis, A.; Sharkey, K. A. Activation of the Cannabinoid 2 Receptor (CB2) Protects Against Experimental Colitis. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2009, 15 (11), 1678–1685.
- Thewke, D.; Freeman-Anderson, N.; Pickle, T.; Netherland, C.; Chilton, C. AM-251 and SR144528 Are Acyl CoA:Cholesterol Acyltransferase Inhibitors. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2009, 381 (2), 181–186.
- Van Gaal, L. F.; Rissanen, A. M.; Scheen, A. J.; Ziegler, O.; Rossner, S. Effects of the Cannabinoid-1 Receptor Blocker Rimonabant on Weight Reduction and Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Overweight Patients: 1-Year Experience From the RIO-Europe Study.

ACC Current Journal Review 2005, 14 (7), 10.

- Wada, T.; McKee, M. D.; Steitz, S.; Giachelli, C. M. Calcification of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Cultures: Inhibition by Osteopontin. *Circ. Res.* **1999**, *84* (2), 166–178.
- Willecke, F.; Zeschky, K.; Rodriguez, A. O.; Colberg, C.; Auwärter, V.; Kneisel, S.; Hutter, M.; Lozhkin, A.; Hoppe, N.; Wolf, D.; et al. Cannabinoid Receptor 2 Signaling Does Not Modulate Atherogenesis in Mice. *PLoS ONE* **2011**, 6 (4), e19405.
- Wright, K. L.; Duncan, M.; Sharkey, K. A. Cannabinoid CB2 Receptors in the Gastrointestinal Tract: a Regulatory System in States of Inflammation. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 2008, 153 (2), 263–270.
- Zhao, Y.; Liu, Y.; Zhang, W.; Xue, J.; Wu, Y. Z.; Xu, W.; Liang, X.; Chen, T.; Kishimoto, C.; Yuan, Z. WIN55212-2 Ameliorates Atherosclerosis Associated with Suppression of Pro-Inflammatory Responses in ApoE-Knockout Mice. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 2010a, 649 (1-3), 285–292.
- Zhao, Y.; Yuan, Z.; Liu, Y.; Xue, J.; Tian, Y.; Liu, W.; Zhang, W.; Shen, Y.; Xu, W.; Liang, X.; et al. Activation of Cannabinoid CB2 Receptor Ameliorates Atherosclerosis Associated with Suppression of Adhesion Molecules. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 2010b, 55 (3), 292– 298.

Supplemental Figures and Tables



Supplemental Figure 4.6 Chemical structures of CB2 agonists and antagonist used in this study.



Supplemental Figure 4.7 Dose-dependent response of WIN55,212-2 on OPN and Runx2 in aortic arch lysates. CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice were fed a HFD for 8 weeks, receiving daily i.p. injections of CB1/CB2 mixed agonist WIN55,212-2 at either 1mg/kg or 3mg/kg in 50%DMSO/50%PBS. A) Western blot analysis of aortic arch lysates from CB2<sup>+/+</sup> mice after 8 weeks of HFD and 2 weeks of daily i.p. administration of WIN55,212-2. B) Quantification of OPN and Runx2 protein, expressed as a fold difference over control (50%DMSO/50%PBS).



Supplemental Figure 4.8 Upregulation of OPN levels in calcified aortas of Ldlr-null mice treated with JWH-015. Immunoblot analysis of aortic arch lysates CB2<sup>+/+</sup> and CB2<sup>-/-</sup> mice after 24 weeks of HFD and 4 weeks of i.p. administration of JWH-015 or SR144528. A) Representative immunoblot of aortic tissue probed with OPN antibody. B) Quantification of OPN protein levels detected by immunoblotting of aortic arch lysate. Data is presented as the ratio of the intensity of the target protein relative to a loading control protein (Beta actin). n=1.

Analy	sis of von	Kossa staining	g in aortic root o	of CB2 <sup>-/-</sup>	mice after	JWH-015	or SR144528	administration
-------	------------	----------------	--------------------	-----------------------	------------	---------	-------------	----------------

Treatment	mean±SEM	Probability value versus control
Control (vehicle)	15.8±0.9%	-
JWH-015	13.4±1.1%	p=0.119
SR144528	17.4±0.9%	p=0.247

Supplemental Table 4.1 Quantification of von Kossa stained aortic root cross sections from CB2<sup>-</sup> mice after 24 weeks of HFD and 4 weeks of i.p. JWH-015 or SR144528 injections. Data represented as percent of positive stain per total lesion area.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

#### CONCLUSIONS

Over the last 15 years, studies involving cannabinoid receptor manipulation has greatly improved our knowledge surrounding the impact of cannabinoid signaling on atherosclerotic lesion formation and progression to an advanced disease state. The initial focus of research in regards to cannabinoid-based therapies for atherosclerosis were centered on actions at CB1, when the CB1-inverse agonist Rimonabant (SR141716A) was used clinically in Europe as an anti-obesity therapy and further showed improvements of cardiovascular risk factors which could not be fully attributed to CB1-mediated weight loss (Després et al. 2005; Poirier et al. 2005; Pi-Sunyer et al. 2006; Scheen and Van Gaal 2007). Beyond its therapeutic potential as a treatment in the setting of obesity and atherosclerosis, Rimonanbant also produces detrimental psychological effects through its actions in the CNS. Consequently, Rimonabant was withdrawn from the European market and never gained approval for use in the U.S. Interest in CB2mediated effects on atherosclerosis came to light in 2005 when Steffens et. al. discovered that CB2 was expressed in atherogenic vessels, but not in non-diseased areas of vasculature, and that low-doses of THC could induce plaque regression in a manner that was sensitive to CB2 blockade by SR144528 (Steffens, Veillard, Arnaud, Pelli, Burger, Staub, Zimmer, Frossard, and Mach 2005b). These initial studies involving CB1 and CB2 provided insight into the opposing effects of cannabinoid receptor signaling in the face of atherogenesis, and much interest has been gained in the realm of CB2 due to the lack of psychotropic effects involved in CB2-specific signaling.

Information gained from the studies described in this dissertation aid in our comprehension of the role of CB2 in the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis. Specifically, a role

for CB2 in the modulation of the cellular and extracellular composition of advanced lesions, a novel avenue explored in the setting of CB2 and atherogenesis. Data uncovered from these studies indicates a need for future research focused on the identification and development of CB2-specific ligands and CB2-directed therapies as an interventional approach for atherosclerosis.

It is well-recognized that cardiovascular disease claims more lives in the developed world than any other disease, and majority of those affected experience adverse cardiovascular events that result from complications arising from advanced atherosclerosis (Benjamin et al. 2017). Atherosclerosis is a decades-long progression of plaque buildup in vessel walls, fueled by disconcerted inflammatory processes and dysfunctions in lipid homeostasis. Atherosclerotic lesions can remain virtually asymptomatic for several decades, and in fact, only an estimated 3% of lesions actually result in acute clinical events (Virmani et al. 2002). Despite this, the need for intervention of the progression of this disease is not overshadowed by this relatively low statistic, as complications from this disease still kills thousands of people each year.

In the last 10 years, most initial research on the role of CB2 in atherosclerosis was focused on the potential for regression of lesion size in the response to CB2 activation. However, increasing knowledge has emerged indicating a weak correlation between lesion size and progression to a rupture-prone phenotype. It is now more accepted that alteration in lesion composition accompanied with disease progression is more prognostic of the transition from a stable to unstable phenotype. Majority of these alterations in lesion composition are a result of increased pro-inflammatory signaling, resulting in increased influx of immune cells, defects in cellular clearance, alterations in extracellular matrix (ECM) composition, and phenotypic

switching of cell types that bare a high degree of plasticity such as smooth muscle cells (SMCs) (Finn et al. 2010; Moore and Tabas 2011).

Atherogenesis begins decades before intervention is initiated, often times as early as childhood. The first histological change in this process that both chemically and microscopically detectable is the presence of small, isolated groups of macrophages and lipid-laden macrophages, called "foam cells", within the human intima. Also termed an "initial lesion" or "fatty streak," this initial cellular change is mostly present in children and been found in the coronary arteries of 45% of infants within their first 8 months of life (Stary 1987; Stary 1989). Macrophages develop from circulating monocytes which migrate to tissues in response to chemoattractant signals and mature into tissue macrophages where they perform their functions. These cells are versatile immune cells that serve to phagocytose antigens and other cellular debris and initiate immune responses by secretion of effector cytokines and presentation of antigens to T lymphocytes, and are also the predominant cell type found in all stages of atherosclerotic lesion development (Stary 1992).

Macrophages contribute to the progression of atherosclerosis through propagation of inflammation and further recruitment of immune cells, making them a potential target for an anti-inflammatory approach in treatment of atherosclerosis. Administration of natural and synthetic cannabinoids, THC and WIN55,212-2, has been shown to decrease lesional macrophage content in ApoE-null mice and inhibit migration and proliferation of macrophages *in vivo* and *in vitro*, by mechanisms sensitive to CB2 blockade (Steffens, Veillard, Arnaud, Pelli, Burger, Staub, Zimmer, Frossard, and Mach 2005b; Zhao, Y. Liu, et al. 2010; Zhao, Yuan, Y. Liu, Xue, Tian, W. Liu, W. Zhang, Shen, Xu, Liang, and Chen 2010b). The effects of WIN55,212-2 administration on macrophage content were two-fold: by limiting monocyte entry
into the intima through downregulating endothelial adhesion molecule expression (ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and p-selectin), and by reducing the inflammatory response through downregulation of proinflammatory cytokines (Zhao, Y. Liu, et al. 2010; Zhao, Yuan, Y. Liu, Xue, Tian, W. Liu, W. Zhang, Shen, Xu, Liang, and Chen 2010a). However, definitive conclusions were difficult to come to in these early pharmacological studies due to the effects of these compounds acting independently of cannabinoid receptors. THC and WIN55,212-2 both activate PPAR receptors (O'Sullivan and Kendall 2010) and WIN55,212-2 has been shown to negate IL-1-induced expression of adhesion molecules independent of cannabinoid receptor signaling (Curran et al. 2005). A role for CB2 in lesional macrophage accumulation was supported in studies utilizing systemic and bone marrow-derived leukocyte CB2 deficiency in ApoE- and Ldlr-null mice (Netherland et al. 2010; Delsing et al. 2011; Willecke et al. 2011). However, CB2-dependent effects of pharmacological manipulation could not be fully appreciated when assessed in a model containing a functional CB2 receptor. It wasn't until 2015 that our lab provided the first evidence of WIN55,212-2 administration reducing lesional macrophage accumulation by a true CB2dependent mechanism (Netherland-Van Dyke et al. 2015). This study also provided evidence of CB2-independent effects of WIN55,212-2 administration, which is something that should be considered in pharmacological studies. All of these studies have been performed in models of atherosclerosis which mimic the initial stages, when pharmacological intervention would not yet be initiated in human subjects. Here we provide the first evidence of increased macrophage content in advanced atherosclerotic lesions of Ldlr-null mice lacking CB2 function, suggesting a role for CB2 throughout many stages of atherogenesis.

As atherosclerotic plaques advance, vascular SMCs (VSMCs) play an important role in attempting to stabilize the lesion. In response to increased inflammation and a growing necrotic

core, VSMCs migrate from the media to the luminal side of the intima where they secrete collagen and other ECM components to form a stabilizing fibrous cap to protect the necrotic core and prevent prothrombotic components from interacting with the bloodstream (Rudijanto 2007). The collagen, which makes up over half of the protein content present in atherosclerotic plaques (Smith 1965), provides strength and stability and is another feature which protects the necrotic core in lesions which have become moderately advanced (Burleigh et al. 1992; R.T. Lee and Libby 1997). Thinning of the fibrous cap and proteolytic degradation of collagen and other ECM components by macrophage-secreted matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are processes which can initiate instability of advanced atherosclerotic lesions (Galis, Muszynski, et al. 1994). Several MMPs exist, but MMP-9 has been implicated in atherosclerosis and expression of constitutively active MMP-9 was found to increase plaque fissuring and rupture of lesions in ApoE-null mice (Gough et al. 2006). Here we provide evidence for a positive role for CB2 in modulating MMP9 expression in advanced plaques, consistent with our previous study performed in early lesions (Netherland et al. 2010). We also found that fibrous cap thickness was significantly reduced in the setting of CB2 gene deletion. This suggests that CB2-mediated therapies may be beneficial in advanced stages for reducing the expression or activity of MMP-9, thereby reducing degradation of stabilizing ECM components.

Beyond the formation of a fibrous cap, the plasticity of VSMCs contributes to other processes in advanced lesions which promote an unstable phenotype. VSMCs transdifferentiate into a synthetic osteoprogenitor cell type where they commit to an osteoblast lineage in the presence of certain transcription factors and osteogenic regulatory proteins (Steitz et al. 2001). This process results in ectopic calcification of lesions which augments plaque brittleness and reduces vessel elasticity (Trion and van der Laarse 2004; Sun et al. 2012) and is a well-known

145

major risk factor for adverse cardiovascular events (Detrano et al. 2008; Polonsky et al. 2010). Here we provide the first evidence for a role of CB2 in calcification of advanced plaques and the osteogenic processes involved.

Once thought of as a passive process, plaque calcification is now accepted as an active cellular process similar to normal bone remodeling. Runx2 is a master transcription factor controlling osteoblastogenesis, bearing both positive and negative regulatory functions. Runx2 is necessary for commitment of osteochondrocytic precursors to the osteoblast lineage, however, its expression in subsequent steps of osteoblast maturation are detrimental and blocks the ability of pre-osteoblasts to become functional, bone-forming cells (Prince et al. 2001; Komori 2009; Bruderer et al. 2014; Vimalraj et al. 2015). We found that CB2 deficiency resulted in increased calcification of plaques characterized by decreased expression of Runx2 as well as decreased expression of OPN, a potent inhibitor of calcification. Regulation of these proteins was also achieved through pharmacological activation of CB2 at both early and late stages of atherogenesis. However, pharmacological blockade of CB2 resulted in a slight reduction in advanced plaque calcification. The inconsistency in this data could be attributed to the marked reduction of triglycerides also observed in our antagonist-treated mice. It has been well observed that a uniform association between lipids and calcium crystals exist, and that lipids promote calcium crystal deposition by stimulating osteogenic differentiation of VSMCs and also by serving as an independent site of origin for calcification (Hirsch et al. 1993; Parhami et al. 2002; Laird et al. 2006). Other factors that could affect the results in this study are the concentration and type of synthetic ligands used as well as the onset, frequency, and duration of treatment. We utilized an innovative osteogenic ex vivo organ culture method to address the effects of pharmacological manipulation of CB2 on aortic calcification. Use of this system provides an

environment more representative of the natural milieu than what is seen in a single cell culture model and allowed us to assess CB2-dependent effects on vascular calcification that were independent of extravascular parameters, such as hepatic triglyceride synthesis. We found that calcium deposition induced by osteogenic media was reduced in the presence of a CB2 agonist and exacerbated in the presence of a CB2 antagonist. Our data here provides the first evidence of CB2-mediated effects on osteogenic processes involved in atherosclerotic and vascular calcification. Further studies need to be employed to address potential off-target or extravascular effects of CB2 pharmacological manipulation in order to determine if a CB2-mediated therapy could be beneficial in reducing or slowing down calcification of plaques in an attempt to stabilize lesions.

Currently, the only approved therapy for atherosclerosis is use of drugs which aim to reduce serum lipid levels and blood pressure. Reduction of LDL cholesterol with statin therapy has been the standard treatment since the 1980s (Mozaffarian et al. 2016). However, these drugs are only shown to reduce the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes by 30% (MS et al. 2017). Further, some patients are intolerant to statins and almost half of patients with normal plasma lipid levels still develop atherosclerotic plaques (Genest et al. 1991; Rubins et al. 1995; Yusuf et al. 2016), highlighting the need for new therapies that can be used in the treatment of atherosclerosis.

Summarized in Figure 5.1, the results presented in this dissertation provide evidence supporting the potential of CB2 as a novel therapeutic target that could promote lesion stability by impacting several processes involved in the progression of atherosclerotic lesions to an unstable phenotype. Future directions include cell-specific CB2 knockdown in both SMCs and macrophages using adoptive transfer. This will provide further insight into how CB2 signaling

147

specifically affects the function of these cells in atherogenesis and lesion stability. Research efforts aimed at analyzing components of atherosclerotic plaque stability are hindered due to the inability of mouse models to exhibit true plaque rupture as it occurs in humans. Therefore, it is hard to make a full comparison of how CB2 signaling regulating these processes in mice will compare in the setting of human disease. Lesional overexpression of MMP-9 in ApoE-null mice results in increased intraplaque hemorrhaging and outward remodeling, both signs of plaque vulnerability (de Nooijer et al. 2006). However, true plaque fissure was not consistently observed in this model and these findings did not correlate with adverse events seen in humans. Development of a mouse model which better replicates plaque rupture is needed in order to gain further insight on the implications of CB2 signaling in these processes.



Figure 5.1 Summary of dissertation research findings.

Careful consideration must also be taken when employing cannabinoid-based therapies, as other pathological conditions have been found to be affected by both CB1 and CB2 signaling. For instance, we observed a decrease in serum triglycerides in response to SR144528 administration, and previously found that SR144528 blocked ACAT activity and lipid accumulation in macrophages (Thewke et al. 2009). Increases in intracellular lipid accumulation in hepatocytes has also been observed in response to CB2-selective agonists (De Gottardi et al. 2010). Therefore, although CB2 activation shows to be atheroprotective in terms of stabilizing lesions, it may be detrimental in modulating lipid metabolism. Further, cannabinoid receptor manipulation has also been shown to affect the pathophysiology of other diseases. CB2 activation has been shown to produce anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects in rheumatoid arthritis, liver cirrhosis, gastrointestinal disorders, and neurodegenerative diseases (Sumariwalla et al. 2004; Buckley 2008; George et al. 2008; Parker et al. 2008), offering varying levels of protection in each condition. Studies will need to be done to determine how CB2specific compounds used in the treatment of atherosclerosis may affect the pathology of other diseases that could result in beneficial and/or adverse effects. The use of tissue-specific drug intervention may be necessary to avoid any potential complications arising from systemic CB2 activation.

Several CB1/CB2 agonists are used clinically to treat maladies such as side effects produced by chemotherapy treatment or neuropathic pain. As of 2017, there are 29 states in the U.S. that have approved the use of cannabis for medical purposes, with each state governing its regulation independent of another (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine et al. 2017 Jan 12). The marijuana plant, *Cannabis sativa*, contains over 700 chemical compounds, 104 of which are considered to be unique cannabinoids (Mechoulam and Hanuš

149

2000; Izzo et al. 2009). The U.S. Food and Drug Administration has not approved marijuana as a "safe or effective drug for any indication," but states their awareness regarding research interests in testing marijuana in the treatment of several medical condition and supports the medical research community studying the effects of this drug. While marijuana appears to be beneficial in some disease states, increasing knowledge is being obtained about the adverse cardiovascular effects of the drug, such as myocardial infarction, cardiomyopathy, stroke, arrhythmias, and sudden cardiac arrest, all which are mediated through CB1 (Pacher et al. 2017). THC is a partial agonist at CB1 and likely would not produce harmful cardiovascular effects at lower concentrations, but over the past 10 years the potency of THC in marijuana has increased 10fold, which has paralleled a substantial rise in severe, and sometimes fatal, adverse cardiovascular effects. Further, THC is also a partial agonist at CB2 and has been shown to produce beneficial effects on atherosclerosis when administered at a dose known to be too low to produce effects at CB1 (Steffens, Veillard, Arnaud, Pelli, Burger, Staub, Zimmer, Frossard, and Mach 2005a). Therefore, it appears that the composition of the plant has a large effect on the likelihood of adverse events to occur. Further, poisoning outbreaks and deaths have been on the rise with the increased use of synthetic cannabinoids, consisting of several CB1 agonists that have an overall potency of up to 200-times greater than that of THC. These drugs, referred to as "designer drugs," have been manufactured to exhibit increased potency over the last 2 years, coinciding with an increase in fatalities (Banister et al. 2015; Kasper et al. 2015; Law et al. 2015; Adams et al. 2017).

The rise in adverse effects associated with recreational cannabinoid use has made it difficult to expand the clinical indication for marijuana or marijuana-based products in the U.S. The results in this dissertation provide a novel understanding regarding the potential therapeutic

150

nature of CB2 signaling in advance atherosclerosis. It further provides a framework for synthetic cannabinoid administration in advanced disease that serves to stabilize lesions and is devoid of adverse cardiovascular effects associated with CB1 signaling.

## REFERENCES

- Adams AJ, Banister SD, Irizarry L, Trecki J, Schwartz M, Gerona R. 2017. "Zombie" Outbreak Caused by the Synthetic Cannabinoid AMB-FUBINACA in New York. N. Engl. J. Med. 376:235–242.
- Aizpurua-Olaizola O, Soydaner U, Öztürk E, Schibano D, Simsir Y, Navarro P, Etxebarria N, Usobiaga A. 2016. Evolution of the Cannabinoid and Terpene Content during the Growth of Cannabis sativa Plants from Different Chemotypes. J. Nat. Prod. 79:324–331.

Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O. 2006. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell 124:783-801.

- Amento EP, Ehsani N, Palmer H, Libby P. 1991. Cytokines and growth factors positively and negatively regulate interstitial collagen gene expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells. Arterioscler. Thromb. 11:1223–1230.
- Andersson J, Libby P, Hansson GK. 2010. Adaptive immunity and atherosclerosis. Clin. Immunol. 134:33–46.
- Ashton CH. 2001. Pharmacology and effects of cannabis: a brief review. The British Journal of Psychiatry 178:101–106.
- Atmaram D Khanolkar, Vasiliki Abadji, Sonyuan Lin, W Adam G Hill, Gihan Taha, Khaled Abouzid, Zhaoxing Meng, Pusheng Fan A, Alexandros Makriyannis. 1996. Head Group Analogs of Arachidonylethanolamide, the Endogenous Cannabinoid Ligand. J. Med. Chem. 39:4515–4519.
- Bab I, Ofek O, Tam J, Rehnelt J, Zimmer A. 2008. Endocannabinoids and the regulation of bone metabolism. J. Neuroendocrinol. 20 Suppl 1:69–74.
- Baek J-H, Darlington CL, Smith PF, Ashton JC. 2013. Antibody testing for brain immunohistochemistry: Brain immunolabeling for the cannabinoid CB2 receptor. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 216:87–95.
- Ball RY, Stowers EC, Burton JH, Cary NR, Skepper JN, Mitchinson MJ. 1995. Evidence that the death of macrophage foam cells contributes to the lipid core of atheroma. Atherosclerosis 114:45–54.
- Banister SD, Moir M, Stuart J, Kevin RC, Wood KE, Longworth M, Wilkinson SM, Beinat C, Buchanan AS, Glass M, et al. 2015. Pharmacology of Indole and Indazole Synthetic Cannabinoid Designer Drugs AB-FUBINACA, ADB-FUBINACA, AB-PINACA, ADB-PINACA, 5F-AB-PINACA, 5F-ADB-PINACA, ADBICA, and 5F-ADBICA. ACS Chem Neurosci 6:1546–1559.
- Barks JL, McQuillan JJ, Iademarco MF. 1997. TNF-alpha and IL-4 synergistically increase vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. J. Immunol. 159:4532–4538.

Basavarajappa BS. 2007. Critical Enzymes Involved in Endocannabinoid Metabolism. PPL 14:237-

246.

- Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, Cushman M, Das SR, Deo R, de Ferranti SD, Floyd J, Fornage M, Gillespie C, et al. 2017. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2017 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation 135:e146–e603.
- Bisogno T, Melck D, Bobrov MY, Gretskaya NM, Bezuglov VV, Petrocellis LD, Marzo VD. 2000. Nacyl-dopamines: novel synthetic CB1 cannabinoid-receptor ligands and inhibitors of anandamide inactivation with cannabimimetic activity in vitro and in vivo. Biochemical Journal 351:817– 824.
- Bonetti PO, Lerman LO, Napoli C, Lerman A. 2003. Statin effects beyond lipid lowering--are they clinically relevant? European Heart Journal 24:225–248.
- Bonz A, Laser M, Küllmer S, Kniesch S, Babin-Ebell J, Popp V, Ertl G, Wagner JA. 2003. Cannabinoids Acting on CB1 Receptors Decrease Contractile Performance in Human Atrial Muscle. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 41:657.
- Borgelt LM, Franson KL, Nussbaum AM, Wang GS. 2013. The pharmacologic and clinical effects of medical cannabis. Pharmacotherapy 33:195–209.
- Boström K, Watson KE, Horn S, Wortham C, Herman IM, Demer LL. 1993. Bone morphogenetic protein expression in human atherosclerotic lesions. J. Clin. Invest. 91:1800–1809.
- Bouaboula M, Poinot-Chazel C, Bourrié B, Canat X, Calandra B, Rinaldi-Carmona M, Le Fur G, Casellas P. 1995. Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases by stimulation of the central cannabinoid receptor CB1. Biochemical Journal 312:637–641.
- Bouaboula M, Poinot-Chazel C, Marchand J, Canat X, Bourrié B, Rinaldi-Carmona M, Calandra B, Le Fur G, Casellas P. 1996. Signaling pathway associated with stimulation of CB2 peripheral cannabinoid receptor. Involvement of both mitogen-activated protein kinase and induction of Krox-24 expression. Eur. J. Biochem. 237:704–711.
- Bouaboula M, Rinaldi M, Carayon P, Carillon C, Delpech B, Shire D, Fur G, Casellas P. 1993. Cannabinoid-receptor expression in human leukocytes. The FEBS Journal 214:173–180.
- Bouchard J-F, Lépicier P, Lamontagne D. 2003. Contribution of endocannabinoids in the endothelial protection afforded by ischemic preconditioning in the isolated rat heart. Life Sciences 72:1859–1870.
- Bruderer M, Richards RG, Alini M, Stoddart MJ. 2014. Role and regulation of RUNX2 in osteogenesis. Eur Cell Mater.
- Brusco A, Tagliaferro P, Saez T, Onaivi ES. 2008. Postsynaptic localization of CB2 cannabinoid receptors in the rat hippocampus. Synapse 62:944–949.
- Buckley NE. 2008. The peripheral cannabinoid receptor knockout mice: an update. Br. J. Pharmacol. 153:309–318.

- Buckley NE, McCoy KL, Mezey E, Bonner T, Felder CC, Glass M, Zimmer A. 2000. Immunomodulation by cannabinoids is absent in mice deficient for the cannabinoid CB(2) receptor. European Journal of Pharmacology 396:141–149.
- Buhaescu I, Izzedine H. 2007. Mevalonate pathway: A review of clinical and therapeutical implications. Clinical Biochemistry 40:575–584.
- Burleigh MC, Briggs AD, Lendon CL, Davies MJ, Born GV, Richardson PD. 1992. Collagen types I and III, collagen content, GAGs and mechanical strength of human atherosclerotic plaque caps: span-wise variations. Atherosclerosis 96:71–81.
- Byon CH, Javed A, Dai Q, Kappes JC, Clemens TL, Darley-Usmar VM, McDonald JM, Chen Y. 2008. Oxidative stress induces vascular calcification through modulation of the osteogenic transcription factor Runx2 by AKT signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 283:15319–15327.
- Callén L, Moreno E, Barroso-Chinea P, Moreno-Delgado D, Cortés A, Mallol J, Casadó V, Lanciego JL, Franco R, Lluis C, et al. 2012. Cannabinoid receptors CB1 and CB2 form functional heteromers in brain. J. Biol. Chem. 287:20851–20865.
- Carlisle SJ, Marciano-Cabral F, Staab A, Ludwick C, Cabral GA. 2002. Differential expression of the CB2 cannabinoid receptor by rodent macrophages and macrophage-like cells in relation to cell activation. International Immunopharmacology 2:69–82.
- Compton T, Kurt-Jones EA, Boehme KW, Belko J, Latz E, Golenbock DT, Finberg RW. 2003. Human cytomegalovirus activates inflammatory cytokine responses via CD14 and Toll-like receptor 2. J. Virol. 77:4588–4596.
- Cravatt BF, Demarest K, Patricelli MP, Bracey MH, Giang DK, Martin BR, Lichtman AH. 2001. Supersensitivity to anandamide and enhanced endogenous cannabinoid signaling in mice lacking fatty acid amide hydrolase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98:9371–9376.
- Cravatt BF, Giang DK, Mayfield SP, Boger DL, Lerner RA, Gilula NB. 1996. Molecular characterization of an enzyme that degrades neuromodulatory fatty-acid amides. Nature 384:83–87.
- Curran NM, Griffin BD, O'Toole D, Brady KJ, Fitzgerald SN, Moynagh PN. 2005. The synthetic cannabinoid R(+)WIN 55,212-2 inhibits the interleukin-1 signaling pathway in human astrocytes in a cannabinoid receptor-independent manner. J. Biol. Chem. 280:35797–35806.
- Cybulsky MI, Gimbrone MA. 1991. Endothelial expression of a mononuclear leukocyte adhesion molecule during atherogenesis. Science 251:788–791.
- Davenport P, Tipping PG. 2003. The role of interleukin-4 and interleukin-12 in the progression of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Am. J. Pathol. 163:1117–1125.
- Davies MJ, Thomas A. 1984. Thrombosis and acute coronary-artery lesions in sudden cardiac ischemic death. New England Journal of Medicine 310:1137–1140.

- Davignon J, Ganz P. 2004. Role of endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. Circulation 109:III27– 32.
- de Boer OJ, van der Wal AC, Verhagen CE, Becker AE. 1999. Cytokine secretion profiles of cloned T cells from human aortic atherosclerotic plaques. J. Pathol. 188:174–179.
- De Gottardi A, Spahr L, Ravier-Dall'Antonia F, Hadengue A. 2010. Cannabinoid receptor 1 and 2 agonists increase lipid accumulation in hepatocytes. Liver Int. 30:1482–1489.
- de Nooijer R, Verkleij CJN, Thüsen von der JH, Jukema JW, van der Wall EE, van Berkel TJC, Baker AH, Biessen EAL. 2006. Lesional overexpression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 promotes intraplaque hemorrhage in advanced lesions but not at earlier stages of atherogenesis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 26:340–346.
- de Winther MP, van Dijk KW, Havekes LM, Hofker MH. 2000. Macrophage scavenger receptor class A: A multifunctional receptor in atherosclerosis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20:290–297.
- Defer N, Wan J, Souktani R, Escoubet B, Perier M, Caramelle P, Manin S, Deveaux V, Bourin MC, Zimmer A, et al. 2009. The cannabinoid receptor type 2 promotes cardiac myocyte and fibroblast survival and protects against ischemia/reperfusion-induced cardiomyopathy. The FASEB Journal 23:2120–2130.
- Delsing DJM, Leijten FP, Arts K, van Eenennaam H, Garritsen A, Gijbels MJJ, de Winther MPJ, van Elsas A. 2011. Cannabinoid Receptor 2 Deficiency in Haematopoietic cells Aggravates Early Atherosclerosis in LDL Receptor Deficient Mice. Open Cardiovasc Med J 5:15–21.

Demuth DG, Molleman A. 2006. Cannabinoid signalling. Life Sciences 78:549-563.

- Després J-P, Golay A, Sjöström L. 2005. Effects of Rimonabant on Metabolic Risk Factors in Overweight Patients with Dyslipidemia. New England Journal of Medicine 353:2121–2134.
- Desvarieux M, Demmer RT, Rundek T, Boden-Albala B, Jacobs DR, Sacco RL, Papapanou PN. 2005. Periodontal microbiota and carotid intima-media thickness: the Oral Infections and Vascular Disease Epidemiology Study (INVEST). Circulation 111:576–582.
- Detrano R, Guerci AD, Carr JJ, Bild DE, Burke G, Folsom AR, Liu K, Shea S, Szklo M, Bluemke DA, et al. 2008. Coronary calcium as a predictor of coronary events in four racial or ethnic groups. N. Engl. J. Med. 358:1336–1345.
- Deutsch DG, Chin SA. 1993. Enzymatic synthesis and degradation of anandamide, a cannabinoid receptor agonist. Biochemical Pharmacology 46:791–796.
- Devane WA, Hanus L, Breuer A, Pertwee RG, Stevenson LA, Griffin G, Gibson D, Mandelbaum A, Mechoulam R, Etinger A. 1992. Isolation and structure of a brain constituent that binds to the cannabinoid receptor. Science 258:1946–1950.
- Dhaliwal BS, Steinbrecher UP. 1999. Scavenger receptors and oxidized low density lipoproteins. Clin. Chim. Acta 286:191–205.

- Di Marzo V, De Petrocellis L. 2012. Why do cannabinoid receptors have more than one endogenous ligand? Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 367:3216–3228.
- Dinh TP, Carpenter D, Leslie FM, Freund TF, Katona I, Sensi SL, Kathuria S, Piomelli D. 2002. Brain monoglyceride lipase participating in endocannabinoid inactivation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99:10819–10824.
- Dollery CM, Libby P. 2006. Atherosclerosis and proteinase activation. Cardiovasc Res 69:625-635.
- Dustin ML, Rothlein R, Bhan AK, Dinarello CA, Springer TA. 1986. Induction by IL 1 and interferongamma: tissue distribution, biochemistry, and function of a natural adherence molecule (ICAM-1). J. Immunol. 137:245–254.
- Edfeldt K, Swedenborg J, Hansson GK, Yan Z-Q. 2002. Expression of toll-like receptors in human atherosclerotic lesions: a possible pathway for plaque activation. Circulation 105:1158–1161.
- Eisenstein TK, Meissler JJ, Wilson Q, Gaughan JP, Adler MW. 2007. Anandamide and Delta9tetrahydrocannabinol directly inhibit cells of the immune system via CB2 receptors. Journal of Neuroimmunology 189:17–22.
- Elhage R, Gourdy P, Brouchet L, Jawien J, Fouque M-J, Fiévet C, Huc X, Barreira Y, Couloumiers JC, Arnal J-F, et al. 2004. Deleting TCR alpha beta+ or CD4+ T lymphocytes leads to opposite effects on site-specific atherosclerosis in female apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Am. J. Pathol. 165:2013–2018.
- Elhage R, Jawien J, Rudling M, Ljunggren H-G, Takeda K, Akira S, Bayard F, Hansson GK. 2003. Reduced atherosclerosis in interleukin-18 deficient apolipoprotein E-knockout mice. Cardiovasc Res 59:234–240.
- Farb A, Burke AP, Tang AL, Liang TY, Mannan P, Smialek J, Virmani R. 1996. Coronary plaque erosion without rupture into a lipid core. A frequent cause of coronary thrombosis in sudden coronary death. Circulation 93:1354–1363.
- Felder CC, Nielsen A, Briley EM, Palkovits M, Priller J, Axelrod J, Nguyen DN, Richardson JM, Riggin RM, Koppel GA, et al. 1999. Isolation and measurement of the endogenous cannabinoid receptor agonist, anandamide, in brain and peripheral tissues of human and rat. FEBS Letters 393:231–235.
- Fingleton B. 2007. Matrix metalloproteinases as valid clinical targets. Curr. Pharm. Des. 13:333–346.
- Finn AV, Nakano M, Narula J, Kolodgie FD, Virmani R. 2010. Concept of Vulnerable/Unstable Plaque. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 30:1282–1292.
- Fong LG, Fong TA, Cooper AD. 1991. Inhibition of lipopolysaccharide-induced interleukin-1 beta mRNA expression in mouse macrophages by oxidized low density lipoprotein. J. Lipid Res. 32:1899–1910.

Franceschi RT. 1999. The developmental control of osteoblast-specific gene expression: role of

specific transcription factors and the extracellular matrix environment. Crit. Rev. Oral Biol. Med. 10:40–57.

- Franceschi RT, Xiao G, Jiang D, Gopalakrishnan R, Yang S, Reith E. 2003. Multiple signaling pathways converge on the Cbfa1/Runx2 transcription factor to regulate osteoblast differentiation. Connect. Tissue Res. 44 Suppl 1:109–116.
- Frostegård J, Ulfgren AK, Nyberg P, Hedin U, Swedenborg J, Andersson U, Hansson GK. 1999. Cytokine expression in advanced human atherosclerotic plaques: dominance of proinflammatory (Th1) and macrophage-stimulating cytokines. Atherosclerosis 145:33–43.
- Galiègue S, Mary S, Marchand J, Dussossoy D, Carrière D, Carayon P, Bouaboula M, SHIRE D, FUR G, Casellas P. 1995. Expression of Central and Peripheral Cannabinoid Receptors in Human Immune Tissues and Leukocyte Subpopulations. The FEBS Journal 232:54–61.
- Galiègue S, Mary S, Marchand J, Dussossoy D, Carrière D, Carayon P, Bouaboula M, Shire D, Le Fur G, Casellas P. 1995. Expression of central and peripheral cannabinoid receptors in human immune tissues and leukocyte subpopulations. Eur. J. Biochem. 232:54–61.
- Galis ZS, Kranzhöfer R, Fenton JW, Libby P. 1997. Thrombin promotes activation of matrix metalloproteinase-2 produced by cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 17:483–489.
- Galis ZS, Muszynski M, Sukhova GK, Simon-Morrissey E, Unemori EN, Lark MW, Amento E, Libby P. 1994. Cytokine-stimulated human vascular smooth muscle cells synthesize a complement of enzymes required for extracellular matrix digestion. Circ. Res. 75:181–189.
- Galis ZS, Sukhova GK, Lark MW, Libby P. 1994. Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degrading activity in vulnerable regions of human atherosclerotic plaques. J. Clin. Invest. 94:2493–2503.
- Gaoni Y, Mechoulam R. 1964. Isolation, structure, and partial synthesis of an active constituent of hashish. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
- Gaoni Y, Mechoulam R. 2002. Isolation and structure of .DELTA.+- tetrahydrocannabinol and other neutral cannabinoids from hashish. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 93:217–224.
- Genest JJ, McNamara JR, Salem DN, Schaefer EJ. 1991. Prevalence of risk factors in men with premature coronary artery disease. The American Journal of Cardiology 67:1185–1189.
- George KL, Saltman LH, Stein GS, Lian JB, Zurier RB. 2008. Ajulemic acid, a nonpsychoactive cannabinoid acid, suppresses osteoclastogenesis in mononuclear precursor cells and induces apoptosis in mature osteoclast-like cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 214:714–720.
- Gérard C, Mollereau C, Vassart G, Parmentier M. 1990. Nucleotide sequence of a human cannabinoid receptor cDNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 18:7142.
- Ghosh S, Preet A, Groopman J, Ganju R. 2006. Cannabinoid receptor CB2 modulates the

CXCL12/CXCR4-mediated chemotaxis of T lymphocytes. Molecular Immunology 43:2169–2179.

- Giachelli CM. 1999. Ectopic calcification: gathering hard facts about soft tissue mineralization. Am. J. Pathol. 154:671–675.
- Glass CK, Witztum JL. 2001. Atherosclerosis. the road ahead. Cell 104:503-516.
- Glass M, Northup JK. 1999. Agonist Selective Regulation of G Proteins by Cannabinoid CB1 and CB2 Receptors. Mol Pharmacol 56:1362–1369.
- Goldstein JL, Kita T, Brown MS. 1983. Defective lipoprotein receptors and atherosclerosis. Lessons from an animal counterpart of familial hypercholesterolemia. New England Journal of Medicine 309:288–296.
- Gong J-P, Onaivi ES, Ishiguro H, Liu Q-R, Tagliaferro PA, Brusco A, Uhl GR. 2006. Cannabinoid CB2 receptors: Immunohistochemical localization in rat brain. Brain Res. 1071:10–23.
- Gonsiorek W, Lunn C, Fan X, Narula S, Lundell D, Hipkin RW. 2000. Endocannabinoid 2-Arachidonyl Glycerol Is a Full Agonist through Human Type 2 Cannabinoid Receptor: Antagonism by Anandamide. Mol Pharmacol 57:1045–1050.
- Goparaju SK, Ueda N, Taniguchi K, Yamamoto S. 1999. Enzymes of porcine brain hydrolyzing 2arachidonoylglycerol, an endogenous ligand of cannabinoid receptors. Biochemical Pharmacology 57:417–423.
- Gough PJ, Gomez IG, Wille PT, Raines EW. 2006. Macrophage expression of active MMP-9 induces acute plaque disruption in apoE-deficient mice. J. Clin. Invest. 116:59–69.
- Grotenhermen F, Müller-Vahl K. 2012. The therapeutic potential of cannabis and cannabinoids. Dtsch Arztebl Int 109:495–501.
- Guan X-R, Li X, Xin X-M, Jiang L-X, Cui L-Y, Wang L-F, Li H-Y. 2008. Influenza virus infection and risk of acute myocardial infarction. Inflammation 31:266–272.
- Hamilton TA, Ma GP, Chisolm GM. 1990. Oxidized low density lipoprotein suppresses the expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha mRNA in stimulated murine peritoneal macrophages. J. Immunol. 144:2343–2350.
- Hansson GK, Hermansson A. 2011. The immune system in atherosclerosis. Nature Immunology 12:204–212.
- Hansson GK, Holm J, Jonasson L. 1989. Detection of activated T lymphocytes in the human atherosclerotic plaque. Am. J. Pathol. 135:169–175.
- Hansson GK, Libby P. 2006. The immune response in atherosclerosis: a double-edged sword. Nature Reviews Immunology 6:508–519.

- Hanus L, Abu-Lafi S, Fride E, Breuer A, Vogel Z, Shalev DE, Kustanovich I, Mechoulam R. 2001. 2arachidonyl glyceryl ether, an endogenous agonist of the cannabinoid CB1 receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98:3662–3665.
- Harskamp RE, van Ginkel MW. 2008. Acute respiratory tract infections: a potential trigger for the acute coronary syndrome. Ann. Med. 40:121–128.
- Hauer AD, Uyttenhove C, de Vos P, Stroobant V, Renauld JC, van Berkel TJC, van Snick J, Kuiper J. 2005. Blockade of interleukin-12 function by protein vaccination attenuates atherosclerosis. Circulation 112:1054–1062.
- Hirsch D, Azoury R, Sarig S, Kruth HS. 1993. Colocalization of cholesterol and hydroxyapatite in human atherosclerotic lesions. Calcif. Tissue Int. 52:94–98.
- Howlett AC. 2005. Cannabinoid receptor signaling. Handb Exp Pharmacol:53-79.
- Howlett AC, Barth F, Bonner TI, Cabral G, Casellas P, Devane WA, Felder CC, Herkenham M, Mackie K, Martin BR, et al. 2002. International Union of Pharmacology. XXVII. Classification of Cannabinoid Receptors. Pharmacol Rev 54:161–202.
- Hoyer FF, Khoury M, Slomka H, Kebschull M, Lerner R, Lutz B, Schott H, Lütjohann D, Wojtalla A, Becker A, et al. 2014. Inhibition of endocannabinoid-degrading enzyme fatty acid amide hydrolase increases atherosclerotic plaque vulnerability in mice. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 66:126–132.
- Hoyer FF, Steinmetz M, Zimmer S, Becker A, Lütjohann D, Buchalla R, Zimmer A, Nickenig G. 2011. Atheroprotection via cannabinoid receptor-2 is mediated by circulating and vascular cells in vivo. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 51:1007–1014.
- Inokubo Y, Hanada H, Ishizaka H, Fukushi T, Kamada T, Okumura K. 2001. Plasma levels of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 are increased in the coronary circulation in patients with acute coronary syndrome. American Heart Journal 141:211–217.
- Izzo AA, Borrelli F, Capasso R, Di Marzo V, Mechoulam R. 2009. Non-psychotropic plant cannabinoids: new therapeutic opportunities from an ancient herb. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 30:515–527.
- Jaakkola O, Ylä-Herttuala S, Särkioja T, Nikkari T. 1989. Macrophage foam cells from human aortic fatty streaks take up beta-VLDL and acetylated LDL in primary culture. Atherosclerosis 79:173–182.
- Jehle J, Hoyer FF, Schöne B, Pfeifer P, Schild K, Jenniches I, Bindila L, Lutz B, Lütjohann D, Zimmer A, et al. 2016. Myeloid-Specific Deletion of Diacylglycerol Lipase α Inhibits Atherogenesis in ApoE-Deficient Mice. Cheng X, editor. PLoS ONE 11:e0146267.
- Johnson JL. 2007. Matrix metalloproteinases: influence on smooth muscle cells and atherosclerotic plaque stability. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 5:265–282.

Johnson JL. 2017 Sep 9. Metalloproteinases in atherosclerosis. European Journal of Pharmacology.

- Johnson JL, Jackson CL. 2001. Atherosclerotic plaque rupture in the apolipoprotein E knockout mouse. Atherosclerosis 154:399–406.
- Johnson JL, Jackson CL, Angelini GD, George SJ. 1998. Activation of matrix-degrading metalloproteinases by mast cell proteases in atherosclerotic plaques. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 18:1707–1715.
- Jonasson L, Holm J, Skalli O, Bondjers G, Hansson GK. 1986. Regional accumulations of T cells, macrophages, and smooth muscle cells in the human atherosclerotic plaque. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 6:131–138.
- Jones P, Kafonek S, Laurora I, Hunninghake D. 1998. Comparative dose efficacy study of atorvastatin versus simvastatin, pravastatin, lovastatin, and fluvastatin in patients with hypercholesterolemia (the CURVES study). The American Journal of Cardiology 81:582–587.
- Kai H, Ikeda H, Yasukawa H, Kai M, Seki Y, Kuwahara F, Ueno T, Sugi K, Imaizumi T. 1998. Peripheral blood levels of matrix metalloproteases-2 and -9 are elevated in patients with acute coronary syndromes. J Am Coll Cardiol 32:368–372.
- Kant AK. 2004. Dietary patterns and health outcomes. J Am Diet Assoc 104:615-635.
- Kasper AM, Ridpath AD, Arnold JK, Chatham-Stephens K, Morrison M, Olayinka O, Parker C, Galli R, Cox R, Preacely N, et al. 2015. Severe Illness Associated with Reported Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids — Mississippi, April 2015. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 64:1121–1122.
- Katz SS, Shipley GG, Small DM. 1976. Physical chemistry of the lipids of human atherosclerotic lesions. Demonstration of a lesion intermediate between fatty streaks and advanced plaques. Journal of Clinical Investigation 58:200–211.
- Kim J, Li Y. 2015. Chronic activation of CB2 cannabinoid receptors in the hippocampus increases excitatory synaptic transmission. The Journal of Physiology 593:871–886.
- Kolodgie FD. 2004. Pathologic assessment of the vulnerable human coronary plaque. Heart 90:1385–1391.
- Komori T. 2009. Regulation of Osteoblast Differentiation by Runx2. In: Osteoimmunology. Vol. 658. Boston, MA: Springer US. (Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology). pp. 43–49; 7 p.
- Lahoute C, Herbin O, Mallat Z, Tedgui A. 2011. Adaptive immunity in atherosclerosis: mechanisms and future therapeutic targets. Nat Rev Cardiol 8:348–358.
- Laird DF, Mucalo MR, Yokogawa Y. 2006. Growth of calcium hydroxyapatite (Ca-HAp) on cholesterol and cholestanol crystals from a simulated body fluid: A possible insight into the pathological calcifications associated with atherosclerosis. J Colloid Interface Sci 295:348–363.

- Laurat E, Poirier B, Tupin E, Caligiuri G, Hansson GK, Bariéty J, Nicoletti A. 2001. In vivo downregulation of T helper cell 1 immune responses reduces atherogenesis in apolipoprotein Eknockout mice. Circulation 104:197–202.
- Law R, Schier J, Martin C, Chang A, Wolkin A, Centers for Disease Control (CDC). 2015. Notes from the Field: Increase in Reported Adverse Health Effects Related to Synthetic Cannabinoid Use -United States, January-May 2015. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 64:618– 619.
- Lee RT, Libby P. 1997. The unstable atheroma. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 17:1859–1867.
- Lee YW, Kühn H, Hennig B, Neish AS, Toborek M. 2001. IL-4-induced oxidative stress upregulates VCAM-1 gene expression in human endothelial cells. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 33:83–94.
- Lees M, Taylor DJ, Woolley DE. 1994. Mast cell proteinases activate precursor forms of collagenase and stromelysin, but not of gelatinases A and B. Eur. J. Biochem. 223:171–177.
- Legedz L, Randon J, Sessa C, Baguet J-P, Feugier P, Cerutti C, McGregor J, Bricca G. 2004. Cathepsin G is associated with atheroma formation in human carotid artery. J. Hypertens. 22:157–166.
- Lehr HA, Sagban TA, Ihling C, Zähringer U, Hungerer KD, Blumrich M, Reifenberg K, Bhakdi S. 2001. Immunopathogenesis of atherosclerosis: endotoxin accelerates atherosclerosis in rabbits on hypercholesterolemic diet. Circulation 104:914–920.
- Lenglet S, Thomas A, Soehnlein O, Montecucco F, Burger F, Pelli G, Galan K, Cravatt B, Staub C, Steffens S. 2013. Fatty acid amide hydrolase deficiency enhances intraplaque neutrophil recruitment in atherosclerotic mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 33:215–223.
- Levy RJ, Gundberg C, Scheinman R. 1983. The identification of the vitamin K-dependent bone protein osteocalcin as one of the gamma-carboxyglutamic acid containing proteins present in calcified atherosclerotic plaque and mineralized heart valves. Atherosclerosis 46:49–56.
- Lijnen HR. 2001. Plasmin and Matrix Metalloproteinases in Vascular Remodeling. Thromb Haemost 86:324–33.
- Lin M-E, Chen T, Leaf EM, Speer MY, Giachelli CM. 2015. Runx2 Expression in Smooth Muscle Cells Is Required for Arterial Medial Calcification in Mice. Am. J. Pathol. 185:1958–1969.
- Lund SA, Giachelli CM, Scatena M. 2009. The role of osteopontin in inflammatory processes. J. Cell Commun. Signal. 3:311–322.
- Lundberg AM, Hansson GK. 2010. Innate immune signals in atherosclerosis. Clinical Immunology 134:5–24.
- Maccarrone M, van der Stelt M, Rossi A, Veldink GA, Vliegenthart JF, Agrò AF. 1998. Anandamide hydrolysis by human cells in culture and brain. J. Biol. Chem. 273:32332–32339.

- Mackie K, Devane WA, Hille B. 1993. Anandamide, an endogenous cannabinoid, inhibits calcium currents as a partial agonist in N18 neuroblastoma cells. Mol Pharmacol 44:498–503.
- Maganto Garcia E, Tarrio M, Lichtman AH. 2012. Mouse Models of Atherosclerosis. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Mallat Z. 2017. Macrophages. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 37:e92-e98.
- Mallat Z, Corbaz A, Scoazec A, Graber P, Alouani S, Esposito B, Humbert Y, Chvatchko Y, Tedgui A. 2001. Interleukin-18/interleukin-18 binding protein signaling modulates atherosclerotic lesion development and stability. Circ. Res. 89:E41–5.
- Mallat Z, Taleb S, Ait-Oufella H, Tedgui A. 2009. The role of adaptive T cell immunity in atherosclerosis. J. Lipid Res. 50 Suppl:S364–9.
- Marchant CE, Law NS, van der Veen C, Hardwick SJ, Carpenter KL, Mitchinson MJ. 1995. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein is cytotoxic to human monocyte-macrophages: protection with lipophilic antioxidants. FEBS Letters 358:175–178.
- Maresz K, Carrier EJ, Ponomarev ED, Hillard CJ, Dittel BN. 2005. Modulation of the cannabinoid CB2 receptor in microglial cells in response to inflammatory stimuli. J. Neurochem. 95:437–445.
- Matsuda LA, Lolait SJ, Brownstein MJ, Young AC, Bonner TI. 1990. Structure of a cannabinoid receptor and functional expression of the cloned cDNA. Nature 346:561–564.
- McGee-Lawrence ME, Carpio LR, Bradley EW, Dudakovic A, Lian JB, van Wijnen AJ, Kakar S, Hsu W, Westendorf JJ. 2014. Runx2 is required for early stages of endochondral bone formation but delays final stages of bone repair in Axin2-deficient mice. Bone 66:277–286.
- Mechoulam R, Ben-Shabat S, Hanus L, Ligumsky M, Kaminski NE, Schatz AR, Gopher A, Almog S, Martin BR, Compton DR, et al. 1995. Identification of an endogenous 2-monoglyceride, present in canine gut, that binds to cannabinoid receptors. Biochemical Pharmacology 50:83–90.
- Mechoulam R, Fride E, Di Marzo V. 1998. Endocannabinoids. European Journal of Pharmacology 359:1–18.
- Mechoulam R, Hanuš L. 2000. A historical overview of chemical research on cannabinoids. Chem. Phys. Lipids 108:1–13.
- Merat S, Casanada F, Sutphin M, Palinski W, Reaven PD. 1999. Western-Type Diets Induce Insulin Resistance and Hyperinsulinemia in LDL Receptor-Deficient Mice But Do Not Increase Aortic Atherosclerosis Compared With Normoinsulinemic Mice in Which Similar Plasma Cholesterol Levels Are Achieved by a Fructose-Rich Diet. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 19:1223–1230.
- Michelsen KS, Doherty TM, Shah PK, Arditi M. 2004. TLR signaling: an emerging bridge from innate immunity to atherogenesis. J. Immunol. 173:5901–5907.

Montecucco F, Di Marzo V, da Silva RF, Vuilleumier N, Capettini L, Lenglet S, Pagano S, Piscitelli F,

Quintao S, Bertolotto M, et al. 2012. The activation of the cannabinoid receptor type 2 reduces neutrophilic protease-mediated vulnerability in atherosclerotic plaques. European Heart Journal 33:846–856.

- Moore KJ, Sheedy FJ, Fisher EA. 2013. Macrophages in atherosclerosis: a dynamic balance. Nature Publishing Group 13:709–721.
- Moore KJ, Tabas I. 2011. Macrophages in the Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis. Cell 145:341–355.
- Morgan AR, Rerkasem K, Gallagher PJ, Zhang B, Morris GE, Calder PC, Grimble RF, Eriksson P, McPheat WL, Shearman CP, et al. 2004. Differences in matrix metalloproteinase-1 and matrix metalloproteinase-12 transcript levels among carotid atherosclerotic plaques with different histopathological characteristics. Stroke 35:1310–1315.
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, Das SR, de Ferranti S, Després J-P, Fullerton HJ, et al. 2016. Executive Summary: Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics--2016 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. - PubMed - NCBI. Circulation 133:447–454.
- MS DSKMM, MPH JMPM, MAS KB-DPM. 2017. Statins for Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. Medical Clinics of NA 101:689–699.
- Mullick AE, Tobias PS, Curtiss LK. 2005. Modulation of atherosclerosis in mice by Toll-like receptor 2. J. Clin. Invest. 115:3149–3156.
- Munro S, Thomas KL, Abu-Shaar M. 1993. Molecular characterization of a peripheral receptor for cannabinoids. ProQuest. Nature.
- Muslin AJ. 2008. MAPK signalling in cardiovascular health and disease: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic targets. Clin. Sci. 115:203–218.
- Mølhøj S, Hansen HS, Schweiger M, Zimmermann R, Johansen T, Malmlöf K. 2010. Effect of the cannabinoid receptor-1 antagonist rimonabant on lipolysis in rats. European Journal of Pharmacology 646:38–45.
- Nagase H, Visse R, Murphy G. 2006. Structure and function of matrix metalloproteinases and TIMPs. Cardiovasc Res 69:562–573.
- Nakashima K, de Crombrugghe B. 2003. Transcriptional mechanisms in osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. Trends in Genetics 19:458–466.
- Nakashima K, Zhou X, Kunkel G, Zhang Z, Deng JM, Behringer RR, de Crombrugghe B. 2002. The novel zinc finger-containing transcription factor osterix is required for osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. Cell 108:17–29.
- Nakashima T, Kobayashi Y, Yamasaki S, Kawakami A, Eguchi K, Sasaki H, Sakai H. 2000. Protein expression and functional difference of membrane-bound and soluble receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand: modulation of the expression by osteotropic factors and cytokines. Biochem.

Biophys. Res. Commun. 275:768–775.

- Nakashima T, Takayanagi H. 2009. Osteoimmunology: crosstalk between the immune and bone systems. J. Clin. Immunol. 29:555–567.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, Health and Medicine Division, Board on Population Health and Public Health Practice, Committee on the Health Effects of Marijuana: An Evidence Review and Research Agenda. 2017 Jan 12. The Health Effects of Cannabis and Cannabinoids: The Current State of Evidence and Recommendations for Research.
- Netherland CD, Pickle TG, Bales A, Thewke DP. 2010. Cannabinoid receptor type 2 (CB2) deficiency alters atherosclerotic lesion formation in hyperlipidemic Ldlr-null mice. Atherosclerosis 213:102–108.
- Netherland-Van Dyke C, Rodgers W, Fulmer M, Lahr Z, Thewke D. 2015. Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) Dependent and Independent Effects of WIN55,212-2 on Atherosclerosis in Ldlrnull Mice. J. Cardiol. Therap 3:53–63.
- Newby AC. 2005. Dual Role of Matrix Metalloproteinases (Matrixins) in Intimal Thickening and Atherosclerotic Plaque Rupture. Physiological Reviews 85:1–31.
- Nicholson AC, Hajjar DP. 2004. CD36, oxidized LDL and PPAR gamma: pathological interactions in macrophages and atherosclerosis. Vascul. Pharmacol. 41:139–146.
- O'Sullivan SE, Kendall DA. 2010. Cannabinoid activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: potential for modulation of inflammatory disease. Immunobiology 215:611–616.
- Odermatt A. 2011. The Western-style diet: a major risk factor for impaired kidney function and chronic kidney disease. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 301:F919–31.
- Ofek O, Karsak M, Leclerc N, Fogel M, Frenkel B, Wright K, Tam J, Attar-Namdar M, Kram V, Shohami E, et al. 2006. Peripheral cannabinoid receptor, CB2, regulates bone mass. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103:696–701.
- Olofsson PS, Söderström LA, Wågsäter D, Sheikine Y, Ocaya P, Lang F, Rabu C, Chen L, Rudling M, Aukrust P, et al. 2008. CD137 is expressed in human atherosclerosis and promotes development of plaque inflammation in hypercholesterolemic mice. Circulation 117:1292–1301.
- Ostos MA, Recalde D, Zakin MM, Scott-Algara D. 2002. Implication of natural killer T cells in atherosclerosis development during a LPS-induced chronic inflammation. FEBS Letters 519:23–29.
- Otsui K, Inoue N, Kobayashi S, Shiraki R, Honjo T, Takahashi M, Hirata K-I, Kawashima S, Yokoyama M. 2007. Enhanced expression of TLR4 in smooth muscle cells in human atherosclerotic coronary arteries. Heart Vessels 22:416–422.
- Pacher P, Bátkai S, Kunos G. 2006. The endocannabinoid system as an emerging target of pharmacotherapy. Pharmacol Rev 58:389–462.

- Pacher P, Kunos G. 2013. Modulating the endocannabinoid system in human health and disease–successes and failures. The FEBS Journal.
- Pacher P, Steffens S, Haskó G, Schindler TH, Kunos G. 2017. Cardiovascular effects of marijuana and synthetic cannabinoids: the good, the bad, and the ugly. Nat Rev Cardiol 64:618.
- Parhami F, Basseri B, Hwang J, Tintut Y, Demer LL. 2002. High-density lipoprotein regulates calcification of vascular cells. Circ. Res. 91:570–576.
- Parker J, Atez F, Rossetti RG, Skulas A, Patel R, Zurier RB. 2008. Suppression of human macrophage interleukin-6 by a nonpsychoactive cannabinoid acid. Rheumatol. Int. 28:631–635.
- Pasterkamp G, Schoneveld AH, Hijnen DJ, de Kleijn DPV, Teepen H, van der Wal AC, Borst C. 2000. Atherosclerotic arterial remodeling and the localization of macrophages and matrix metalloproteases 1, 2 and 9 in the human coronary artery. Atherosclerosis 150:245–253.
- Pi-Sunyer FX, Aronne LJ, Heshmati HM, Devin J, Rosenstock J, RIO-North America Study Group FT. 2006. Effect of Rimonabant, a Cannabinoid-1 Receptor Blocker, on Weight and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Overweight or Obese Patients. JAMA 295:761–775.
- Pitt B, Waters D, Brown WV, van Boven AJ, Schwartz L, Title LM, Eisenberg D, Shurzinske L, McCormick LS. 1999. Aggressive lipid-lowering therapy compared with angioplasty in stable coronary artery disease. Atorvastatin versus Revascularization Treatment Investigators. New England Journal of Medicine 341:70–76.
- Poirier B, Bidouard J-P, Cadrouvele C, Marniquet X, Staels B, O'Connor SE, Janiak P, Herbert J-M. 2005. The anti-obesity effect of rimonabant is associated with an improved serum lipid profile. Diabetes Obes Metab 7:65–72.
- Polonsky TS, McClelland RL, Jorgensen NW, Bild DE, Burke GL, Guerci AD, Greenland P. 2010. Coronary artery calcium score and risk classification for coronary heart disease prediction. JAMA 303:1610–1616.
- Porter AC, Sauer J-M, Knierman MD, Becker GW, Berna MJ, Bao J, Nomikos GG, Carter P, Bymaster FP, Leese AB, et al. 2002. Characterization of a novel endocannabinoid, virodhamine, with antagonist activity at the CB1 receptor. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 301:1020–1024.
- Prince M, Banerjee C, Javed A, Green J, Lian JB, Stein GS, Bodine PV, Komm BS. 2001. Expression and regulation of Runx2/Cbfa1 and osteoblast phenotypic markers during the growth and differentiation of human osteoblasts. J. Cell. Biochem. 80:424–440.
- Quarta C, Bellocchio L, Mancini G, Mazza R, Cervino C, Braulke LJ, Fekete C, Latorre R, Nanni C, Bucci M, et al. 2010. CB1 Signaling in Forebrain and Sympathetic Neurons Is a Key Determinant of Endocannabinoid Actions on Energy Balance. Cell Metabolism 11:273–285.
- Raffetto JD, Khalil RA. 2008. Matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in vascular remodeling and vascular disease. Biochemical Pharmacology 75:346–359.

- Rajesh M, Mukhopadhyay P, Bátkai S, Haskó G, Liaudet L, Huffman JW, Csiszar A, Ungvari Z, Mackie K, Chatterjee S, et al. 2007. CB2-receptor stimulation attenuates TNF-α-induced human endothelial cell activation, transendothelial migration of monocytes, and monocyte-endothelial adhesion. AJP: Heart and Circulatory Physiology 293:H2210–H2218.
- Rajesh M, Mukhopadhyay P, Hasko G, Huffman JW, Mackie K, Pacher P. 2008. CB2 cannabinoid receptor agonists attenuate TNF-α-induced human vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation and migration. Br. J. Pharmacol. 153:347–357.
- Randolph GJ. 2008. Emigration of monocyte-derived cells to lymph nodes during resolution of inflammation and its failure in atherosclerosis. Current Opinion in Lipidology 19:462–468.
- Ravinet Trillou C, Arnone M, Delgorge C, Gonalons N, Keane P, Maffrand J-P, Soubrié P. 2003. Antiobesity effect of SR141716, a CB1 receptor antagonist, in diet-induced obese mice. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 284:R345–R353.
- Ray KK, Cannon CP. 2005. The potential relevance of the multiple lipid-independent (pleiotropic) effects of statins in the management of acute coronary syndromes. J Am Coll Cardiol 46:1425–1433.
- Ronco AM, Llanos M, Tamayo D, Hirsch S. 2007. Anandamide Inhibits Endothelin-1 Production by Human Cultured Endothelial Cells: A New Vascular Action of This Endocannabinoid. PHA 79:12–16.
- Roy S, Khanna S, Krishnaraju AV, Subbaraju GV, Yasmin T, Bagchi D, Sen CK. 2006. Regulation of vascular responses to inflammation: inducible matrix metalloproteinase-3 expression in human microvascular endothelial cells is sensitive to antiinflammatory Boswellia. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 8:653–660.
- Rubins HB, Robins SJ, Collins D, Iranmanesh A, Wilt TJ, Mann D, Mayo-Smith M, Faas FH, Elam MB, Rutan GH, et al. 1995. Distribution of lipids in 8,500 men with coronary artery disease. The American Journal of Cardiology 75:1196–1201.
- Rudijanto A. 2007. The role of vascular smooth muscle cells on the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Acta Med Indones 39:86–93.
- Saario SM, Savinainen JR, Laitinen JT, Järvinen T, Niemi R. 2004. Monoglyceride lipase-like enzymatic activity is responsible for hydrolysis of 2-arachidonoylglycerol in rat cerebellar membranes. Biochemical Pharmacology 67:1381–1387.
- Sarén P, Welgus HG, Kovanen PT. 1996. TNF-alpha and IL-1beta selectively induce expression of 92kDa gelatinase by human macrophages. J. Immunol. 157:4159–4165.
- Scheen AJ, Van Gaal LF. 2007. Rimonabant as an adjunct therapy in overweight/obese patients with type 2 diabetes. European Heart Journal 28:1401–1402.
- Schlosburg JE, Kinsey SG, Lichtman AH. 2009. Targeting Fatty Acid Amide Hydrolase (FAAH) to Treat Pain and Inflammation. AAPS J 11:39–44.

- Schönbeck U, Sukhova GK, Shimizu K, Mach F, Libby P. 2000. Inhibition of CD40 signaling limits evolution of established atherosclerosis in mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97:7458–7463.
- Schwandner R, Dziarski R, Wesche H, Rothe M, Kirschning CJ. 1999. Peptidoglycan- and lipoteichoic acid-induced cell activation is mediated by toll-like receptor 2. J. Biol. Chem. 274:17406–17409.
- Schwartz SM, Galis ZS, Rosenfeld ME, Falk E. 2007. Plaque rupture in humans and mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27:705–713.
- Shankman LS, Gomez D, Cherepanova OA, Salmon M, Alencar GF, Haskins RM, Swiatlowska P, Newman AAC, Greene ES, Straub AC, et al. 2015. KLF4-dependent phenotypic modulation of smooth muscle cells has a key role in atherosclerotic plaque pathogenesis. Nature Medicine 21:628–637.
- Sisay S, Pryce G, Jackson SJ, Tanner C, Ross RA, Michael GJ, Selwood DL, Giovannoni G, Baker D. 2013. Genetic background can result in a marked or minimal effect of gene knockout (GPR55 and CB2 receptor) in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis models of multiple sclerosis. Furlan R, editor. PLoS ONE 8:e76907.
- Smith EB. 1965. The influence of age and atherosclerosis on the chemistry of aortic intima. J Atheroscler Res 5:241–248.
- Snoek-van Beurden PAM, den Hoff Von JW. 2005. Zymographic techniques for the analysis of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors. BioTechniques 38:73–83.
- Stary HC. 1987. Macrophages, macrophage foam cells, and eccentric intimal thickening in the coronary arteries of young children. Atherosclerosis 64:91–108.
- Stary HC. 1989. Evolution and progression of atherosclerotic lesions in coronary arteries of children and young adults. Arteriosclerosis 9:I19–32.
- Stary HC. 1992. Composition and classification of human atherosclerotic lesions. Vichows Archiv A Pathol Anat 421:277–290.
- Stary HC, Chandler AB, Dinsmore RE, Fuster V, Glagov S, Insull W, Rosenfeld ME, Schwartz CJ, Wagner WD, Wissler RW. 1995. A Definition of Advanced Types of Atherosclerotic Lesions and a Histological Classification of Atherosclerosis. Circulation 92:1355–1374.
- Stary HC, Chandler AB, Glagov S, Guyton JR, Insull W, Rosenfeld ME, Schaffer SA, Schwartz CJ, Wagner WD, Wissler RW. 1994. A definition of initial, fatty streak, and intermediate lesions of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Circulation 89:2462–2478.
- Steffens S, Veillard NR, Arnaud C, Pelli G, Burger F, Staub C, Zimmer A, Frossard J-L, Mach F. 2005a. Low dose oral cannabinoid therapy reduces progression of atherosclerosis in mice. Nature 434:782–786.

Steffens S, Veillard NR, Arnaud C, Pelli G, Burger F, Staub C, Zimmer A, Frossard J-L, Mach F.

2005b. Low dose oral cannabinoid therapy reduces progression of atherosclerosis in mice. Nature 434:782–786.

- Steitz SA, Speer MY, Curinga G, Yang HY, Haynes P, Aebersold R, Schinke T, Karsenty G, Giachelli CM. 2001. Smooth muscle cell phenotypic transition associated with calcification: upregulation of Cbfa1 and downregulation of smooth muscle lineage markers. Circ. Res. 89:1147–1154.
- Stemme S, Faber B, Holm J, Wiklund O, Witztum JL, Hansson GK. 1995. T lymphocytes from human atherosclerotic plaques recognize oxidized low density lipoprotein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92:3893–3897.
- Sugamura K, Sugiyama S, Nozaki T, Matsuzawa Y, Izumiya Y, Miyata K, Nakayama M, Kaikita K, Obata T, Takeya M, et al. 2009. Activated endocannabinoid system in coronary artery disease and antiinflammatory effects of cannabinoid 1 receptor blockade on macrophages. Circulation 119:28–36.
- Sugiura T, Kobayashi Y, Oka S, Waku K. 2002. Biosynthesis and degradation of anandamide and 2arachidonoylglycerol and their possible physiological significance. Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids 66:173–192.
- Sugiura T, Kondo S, Sukagawa A, Nakane S, Shinoda A, Itoh K, Yamashita A, Waku K. 1995. 2-Arachidonoylgylcerol: A Possible Endogenous Cannabinoid Receptor Ligand in Brain. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 215:89–97.
- Sugiura T, Kondo S, Sukagawa A, Tonegawa T, Nakane S, Yamashita A, Ishima Y, Waku K. 1996. Transacylase-Mediated and Phosphodiesterase-Mediated Synthesis of N-Arachidonoylethanolamine, an Endogenous Cannabinoid-Receptor Ligand, in Rat Brain Microsomes. The FEBS Journal 240:53–62.
- Sukhova GK, Shi GP, Simon DI, Chapman HA, Libby P. 1998. Expression of the elastolytic cathepsins S and K in human atheroma and regulation of their production in smooth muscle cells. J. Clin. Invest. 102:576–583.
- Sumariwalla PF, Gallily R, Tchilibon S, Fride E, Mechoulam R, Feldmann M. 2004. A novel synthetic, nonpsychoactive cannabinoid acid (HU-320) with antiinflammatory properties in murine collagen-induced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 50:985–998.
- Sun Y, Byon CH, Yuan K, Chen J, Mao X, Heath JM, Javed A, Zhang K, Anderson PG, Chen Y. 2012. Smooth muscle cell-specific runx2 deficiency inhibits vascular calcification. Circ. Res. 111:543–552.
- Tabas I. 2007. Apoptosis and efferocytosis in mouse models of atherosclerosis. Curr Drug Targets 8:1288–1296.
- Tabas I, Bornfeldt KE. 2016. Macrophage Phenotype and Function in Different Stages of Atherosclerosis. Circ. Res. 118:653–667.

Takahashi M, Ikeda U, Masuyama J, Kitagawa S, Kasahara T, Shimpo M, Kano S, Shimada K. 1996.

Monocyte-endothelial cell interaction induces expression of adhesion molecules on human umbilical cord endothelial cells. Cardiovasc Res 32:422–429.

- Takayanagi H. 2007. Osteoimmunology: shared mechanisms and crosstalk between the immune and bone systems. Nature Reviews Immunology 7:292–304.
- Takeuchi O, Sato S, Horiuchi T, Hoshino K, Takeda K, Dong Z, Modlin RL, Akira S. 2002. Cutting edge: role of Toll-like receptor 1 in mediating immune response to microbial lipoproteins. J. Immunol. 169:10–14.
- Taschler U, Radner FPW, Heier C, Schreiber R, Schweiger M, Schoiswohl G, Preiss-Landl K, Jaeger D, Reiter B, Koefeler HC, et al. 2011. Monoglyceride lipase deficiency in mice impairs lipolysis and attenuates diet-induced insulin resistance. J. Biol. Chem. 286:17467–17477.
- Tauber S, Scheider-Stock R, Ullrich O. 2009. Investigating immunmodulatory mechanisms of cannabinoids: the role of MMP-9. Cell Communication and Signaling 2009 7:1 7:A89.
- Thewke D, Freeman-Anderson N, Pickle T, Netherland C, Chilton C. 2009. AM-251 and SR144528 are acyl CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase inhibitors. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 381:181–186.
- Tolleshaug H, Hobgood KK, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. 1983. The LDL receptor locus in familial hypercholesterolemia: multiple mutations disrupt transport and processing of a membrane receptor. Cell 32:941–951.
- Traber MG, Kayden HJ. 1980. Low density lipoprotein receptor activity in human monocyte-derived macrophages and its relation to atheromatous lesions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77:5466–5470.
- Trion A, van der Laarse A. 2004. Vascular smooth muscle cells and calcification in atherosclerosis. American Heart Journal 147:808–814.
- Vabulas RM, Ahmad-Nejad P, da Costa C, Miethke T, Kirschning CJ, Häcker H, Wagner H. 2001. Endocytosed HSP60s use toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) and TLR4 to activate the toll/interleukin-1 receptor signaling pathway in innate immune cells. J. Biol. Chem. 276:31332–31339.
- Van Berkel TJ, Van Velzen A, Kruijt JK, Suzuki H, Kodama T. 1998. Uptake and catabolism of modified LDL in scavenger-receptor class A type I/II knock-out mice. Biochemical Journal 331 ( Pt 1):29–35.
- Van Gaal LF, Rissanen AM, Scheen AJ, Ziegler O, Rossner S. 2005. Effects of the Cannabinoid-1 Receptor Blocker Rimonabant on Weight Reduction and Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Overweight Patients: 1-Year Experience From the RIO-Europe Study. ACC Current Journal Review 14:10.
- Van Sickle MD, Duncan M, Kingsley PJ, Mouihate A, Urbani P, Mackie K, Stella N, Makriyannis A, Piomelli D, Davison JS, et al. 2005. Identification and Functional Characterization of Brainstem Cannabinoid CB<sub>2</sub> Receptors. Science 310:329–332.

- Vaughan CJ, Gotto AM, Basson CT. 2000. The evolving role of statins in the management of atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 35:1–10.
- Vimalraj S, Arumugam B, Miranda PJ, Selvamurugan N. 2015. Runx2: Structure, function, and phosphorylation in osteoblast differentiation. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 78:202–208.
- Virmani R, Burke AP, Kolodgie FD, Farb A. 2002. Vulnerable plaque: the pathology of unstable coronary lesions. J Interv Cardiol 15:439–446.
- Vujic N, Schlager S, Eichmann TO, Madreiter-Sokolowski CT, Goeritzer M, Rainer S, Schauer S, Rosenberger A, Woelfler A, Doddapattar P, et al. 2016. Monoglyceride lipase deficiency modulates endocannabinoid signaling and improves plaque stability in ApoE-knockout mice. Atherosclerosis 244:9–21.
- Wågsäter D, Zhu C, Björkegren J, Skogsberg J, Eriksson P. 2011. MMP-2 and MMP-9 are prominent matrix metalloproteinases during atherosclerosis development in the Ldlr(-/-)Apob(100/100) mouse. Int. J. Mol. Med. 28:247–253.
- Whitman SC, Ravisankar P, Elam H, Daugherty A. 2000. Exogenous interferon-gamma enhances atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-/- mice. Am. J. Pathol. 157:1819–1824.
- Willecke F, Zeschky K, Rodriguez AO, Colberg C, Auwärter V, Kneisel S, Hutter M, Lozhkin A, Hoppe N, Wolf D, et al. 2011. Cannabinoid Receptor 2 Signaling Does Not Modulate Atherogenesis in Mice. Zernecke A, editor. PLoS ONE 6:e19405.
- Yusuf S, Lonn E, Pais P, Bosch J, López-Jaramillo P, Zhu J, Xavier D, Avezum A, Leiter LA, Piegas LS, et al. 2016. Blood-Pressure and Cholesterol Lowering in Persons without Cardiovascular Disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 374:2032–2043.
- Zarraga IGE, Schwarz ER. 2006. Impact of dietary patterns and interventions on cardiovascular health. Circulation 114:961–973.
- Zhang C. 2012. Molecular mechanisms of osteoblast-specific transcription factor Osterix effect on bone formation. Beijing Da Xue Xue Bao 44:659–665.
- Zhao Y, Liu Y, Zhang W, Xue J, Wu YZ, Xu W, Liang X, Chen T, Kishimoto C, Yuan Z. 2010. WIN55212-2 ameliorates atherosclerosis associated with suppression of pro-inflammatory responses in ApoE-knockout mice. European Journal of Pharmacology 649:285–292.
- Zhao Y, Yuan Z, Liu Y, Xue J, Tian Y, Liu W, Zhang W, Shen Y, Xu W, Liang X, Chen T. 2010a. Activation of Cannabinoid CB2 Receptor Ameliorates Atherosclerosis Associated With Suppression of Adhesion Molecules. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 55:292–298.
- Zhao Y, Yuan Z, Liu Y, Xue J, Tian Y, Liu W, Zhang W, Shen Y, Xu W, Liang X, Chen T. 2010b. Activation of cannabinoid CB2 receptor ameliorates atherosclerosis associated with suppression of adhesion molecules. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 55:292–298.

- Zhou X, Hansson GK. 1999. Detection of B Cells and Proinflammatory Cytokines in Atherosclerotic Plaques of Hypercholesterolaemic Apolipoprotein E Knockout Mice. Scandinavian Journal of Immunology 50:25–30.
- Zimmer A. 2015. Genetic Manipulation of the Endocannabinoid System. In: Endocannabinoids. Vol. 231. Cham: Springer International Publishing. (Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology). pp. 129–183; 55 p.
- Ziring D, Wei B, Velazquez P, Schrage M, Buckley NE, Braun J. 2006. Formation of B and T cell subsets require the cannabinoid receptor CB2. Immunogenetics 58:714–725.

## VITA

## MAKENZIE LEIGH FULMER

Personal Data:	Date of Birth: June 17, 1991 Place of Birth: Kissimmee, FL
Education:	East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN; B.S. Health Sciences (2009-2012)
	East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN; Ph.D. Biomedical Science (2013-2017)
Drofossional	
Experiences:	Guest Lecturer, Quillen College of Medicine, Johnson City, TN, 2017
	Adjunct Faculty, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN, 2014
Publications:	<b>Fulmer ML</b> and Thewke DP. The type-2 cannabinoid receptor affects plaque cellularity and calcification in advanced atherosclerosis. In progress.
	<b>Fulmer ML</b> and Thewke DP. The endocannabinoid system and heart disease: the role of cannabinoid receptor type 2. Under revision: Cardiovascular & Hematological Disorders-Drug Targets
	Thewke P, Kou J, <b>Fulmer ML</b> , Xie Q (2017) The HGF/MET signaling and therapeutics in cancer. Shinomiya: Regulation of Signal Transduction in Human Cell Research, Springer publishing.
	Garst C, <b>Fulmer M</b> , Thewke D and Brown S. Optimized Extraction of 2- Arachidonyl Glycerol and Anandamide from Aortic Tissue and Plasma for Quantification by LC-MS/MS. <u>Euro J of Lipid Sci and Tech</u> 2016; 118(5): 814-820. Epub 2015 Aug 28.
	Netherland-Van Dyke C, Rodgers W, <b>Fulmer M</b> , Lahr Z and Thewke D. Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2 (CB2) Dependent and Independent Effects of WIN55,212-2 on Atherosclerosis in Ldlr-null Mice. <u>J Cardiol Therap</u> 2015; 3(2): 53-63.

	<b>Fulmer ML</b> , Krishnaswamy G, Nauli AM. Galactose-alpha-1,3-galactose: Possible Role in Red Meat Allergy. <i>J Biosafety Health Educ</i> 2013, 1:e110.
Presentations:	2017 Tennessee Physiological Society, Johnson City, Tennessee, USA (poster)
	2017 International Cannabinoid Research Society, Montreal, Canada (poster)
	2017 Appalachian Student Research Forum, Johnson City, Tennessee, USA (poster)
	2016 American Heart Association ATVB, Nashville, Tennessee, USA (poster)
	2016 Quillen College of Medicine Internal Seminar Series, Johnson City, Tennessee, USA (oral)
	2016 Appalachian Student Research Forum, Johnson City, Tennessee, USA (oral)
	2015 IACM Cannabinoid Conference, Sestri Levante, Italy (poster)
	2015 Appalachian Student Research Forum, Johnson City, Tennessee, USA (poster)
Awards:	2017 Tennessee Physiological Society poster award
	2016 Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis & Vascular Biology Travel Award for Young Investigators
	2015 Appalachian Student Research Forum 1st place poster